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Lim Ee Seng Chairman

Mgl EFE

During the financial year ended 30 September 2010, the Group
realised a profit attributable to shareholders of HK$194.0 million
(with a total revenue of HK$1,339.8 million) against HK$3.2
million (with a total revenue of HK$124.8 million) reported for
the year ended 30 September 2009.

The Group recognised revenue of about HK$1,177.3 million
from the first phase of its Shanghai Songjiang development
project this financial year. Meanwhile, our investment properties,
Sohu.com Internet Plaza (SIP) in Beijing and Vision Shenzhen
Business Park (VSBP) phases 1 and 2 in Shenzhen, achieved
full occupancy. We also signed a framework agreement with
the Shenzhen authorities in relation to the development of
VSBP phase 3, thus resolving a long outstanding issue. Riding
on the success of VSBP phases 1 and 2, this move will further
enhance the Group’s competitive advantage and market
leadership position in Shenzhen while laying the foundation
for stable growth going forward.

With economic growth surging to 11.9% in the first quarter
of 2010 and record property price increases in March 2010,
China initiated several rounds of measures targeted at cooling
the property market. Whilst these measures may have a short
term impact on the sector, the strong underlying demand for
housing in China will help sustain the property market over
the longer term.

Chairman’s Statement
F JE s
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Chairman’s Statement
F JE s

In this environment, the Group will continue to be prudent
and to take steps to mitigate downside risks where possible,
whilst remaining nimble and ready to respond to market changes
and opportunities. The Group will channel resources towards
the optimal and cost-effective management of its existing portfolio
of assets to maximise yields and shareholder value while
maintaining long-term sustainable growth.

BUILDING A SUSTAINABLE FUTURE

The Group has focused on allocating its financial resources
optimally while remaining vigilant to risk and uncertainty. With
discipline and prudence, the Group will focus only on projects
that meet its strict investment criteria. In the management of
its existing development assets, the Group will consider options
to improve marketability and focus on delivery capabilities
and cost control.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group continues to work closely with its joint venture
partner, FCL China, in the planning, development and marketing
of the Shanghai Shanshui Four Seasons project. With over
95% of phase 1 sold, preparation works for phase 2, which
will comprise over 250,000 sm of gross floor area, are underway.
Planning approval has been obtained and construction is
expected to commence in early 2011,

The Shenyang authorities have still not been able to deliver
vacant possession of the Qingniandajie site despite an extension
to August 2010. In view of the uncertainty over taking vacant
possession, the Group is assessing various options in light
of the changing trends and shifts in the Shenyang property
market.

We believe that Shenzhen has the potential to grow into a
key metropolis for Southern China in the years ahead. With
well-maintained facilities, a conducive physical environment
and reliable high-quality property management services, VSBP
enjoyed full occupancy and received numerous accolades from
tenants and visitors alike. The proposed VSBP phase 3,
comprising a total of 240,000 sm, will build upon the success
of phases 1 and 2 and further enhance the business park’s
investment value when completed.
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MOVING FORWARD

Given China’s sound economic fundamentals, the Group is
confident that there will be sustainable demand across the
property sector in both major and emerging cities. In particular,
the residential sector will benefit as the pace of urbanisation
and demand from new family units continues to grow. As such,
appropriate effort will be put into exploring growth opportunities
for the Group. Immediate priorities for the Group are the
commencement of phase 2 of the Shanghai Shanshui Four
Seasons project and VSBP phase 3.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Mr. Ang Ah Lay’s retirement and resignation from the Board
with effect from 1 October 2010 was announced on 3 September
2010. Mr. Ang joined the Board and was appointed as Executive
Director in December 2002. During his 8-year term, he led
the Group through the difficult years of SARS, the massive
repositioning and restructuring exercise executed in 2004 and
2005, the 2008 global financial crisis and the rapidly evolving
and maturing China property market. The Board would like
to express its sincere thanks to Mr. Ang for his invaluable
service and contribution over the past 8 years and we wish
him the very best in his future endeavours and a happy retirement.

Besides, Mr. Alan Smith will also retire at the conclusion of
the forthcoming annual general meeting and has indicated to
the Company his intention not to stand for re-election in order
to allocate more time to his personal affairs. Mr. Smith has
been an Independent Non-executive Director since March 2001
and has served on Audit Committee since May 2001. He
has also been the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
since October 2002. Mr. Smith was also the Deputy Chairman
of the Company during the period from March 2001 to May
2006. The Board would like to express its sincere appreciation
to Mr. Smith for his invaluable contribution to the Company
during his tenure.

Chairman’s Statement
F JE s
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Chairman’s Statement
F JE s

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to welcome Mr. Leung
Ka Hing Harry as Executive Director and CEO of the Company
with effect from 1 October 2010. Mr. Leung has also been
appointed as a member of the Executive Committee and an
Authorised Representative of the Company. Prior to joining
the Company, Mr. Leung was General Manager of Orient
Overseas Developments Limited and he held senior management
positions in several property development and construction
companies such as the Hong Kong Stock Exchange-listed
K. Wah International Group and Paul Y-ITC Construction Group.
| trust that under Mr. Leung’s stewardship, the Group will
rise to greater heights in the future.

Over the past 3 years as Chairman of the Board, | am constantly
mindful of the support and wise counsel my fellow directors
have so graciously accorded me. They have shared my
responsibilities willingly and eased the burden of office. Individually
and collectively, the directors have brought their considerable
expertise and experience to bear on our decision-making
deliberations and | am confident that they will continue to
make invaluable contributions in their stewardship of the Group
in the years ahead. Accordingly, | wish to extend my heartfelt
appreciation and thanks to all the directors for their service.

Once again, our employees have discharged their duties and
responsibilities with dedication and skill to enable the Group
to have better met the challenges it faced. | look forward to
their continued commitment. | must add my appreciation to
the shareholders, customers, bankers and business partners
for their trust and unstinting support.

Lim Ee Seng
Chairman
Hong Kong, 5 November 2010
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Financial Highlights

B 75 18 2

For the For the

year year

ended ended

30 September 30 September

2010 2009

BZE BHZE

—E-EF —ZETNF

AB=+8H NA=+H

(In HK$°000) (BT TREMN) ILFE IEFE
Revenue WA 1,339,765 124,796
Profit attributable to BRRERA 194,044 3,169

owners of the parent P& & A

Earnings per share (HK cents) BRRAEF (B 2.84 0.05
As at As at

30 September 30 September

2010 2009

R-ZB—ZFF RIZTNF

(In HK$°000) (BT TREN hA=+H NA=+H
Total assets MEE 4,168,452 5,113,862
Total liabilities maE 1,811,764 2,996,536
Total equity (including R (BE 2,356,688 2,117,326

non-controlling interests) FEIE R IR SR )

Total borrowings B4 1,210,354 1,505,125
Net borrowings BEEEE 442,338 647,235
Net asset value per share (HK cents) &EACEEEE (GBIL) 29.2 26.4
Current ratio (times) mENEL = (1) 2.0 1.9
Gearing ratio BEREE 51% 71%
Net borrowings over total equity BERCRER AR 19% 31%
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Financial Review

87 75 [B] A

RESULTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2010

The Group recorded a profit attributable to owners of the parent
of HK$194.0 million for the year ended 30 September 2010
versus HK$3.2 million for the year ended 30 September 2009.
On a per-share basis, the Group recorded earnings of HK2.84
cents.

The substantial improvement in profit for the year ended 30
September 2010 resulted from the recognition of revenue from
the sale of units of phase 1 in the Shanghai Shanshui Four
Seasons project, the write-back of a land premium rebate of
HK$69.6 million which was received and increases in fair values
of investment properties amounting to HK$99.2 million but
partially offset by higher finance costs and tax.

The accounting policies and methods of computation used
in the preparation of the financial statements for the year ended
30 September 2010 were consistent with those used in the
previous year ended 30 September 2009.

REVIEW OF OVERALL PERFORMANCE

The revenue for the year ended 30 September 2010 increased
sharply to HK$1,339.8 million from HK$124.8 million for the
year ended 30 September 2009 boosted mainly by the recognition
of revenue from the sale of residential units of phase 1 in
Shanghai Shanshui Four Seasons project. The sale of remaining
commercial spaces of the Ninth ZhongShan project and rental
income from the higher occupancy rate enjoyed by Vision
Shenzhen Business Park (“VSBP”) also contributed to the
increased revenue. As a result, the gross profit (revenue less
cost of sales) improved to HK$355.1 million for the year ended
30 September 2010 from HK$122.8 million for the year ended
30 September 2009.

In compliance with the relevant accounting standards, revenue
from the sale of units of the Shanghai Shanshui Four Seasons
project was recognised upon the receipt of the building occupation
permits in December 2009. All payments received from pre-
sold units prior to this stage had been recorded as per-sales
receipts as at 30 September 2009 and were recognised as
revenue for the year under review.

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2%fitE (P B ) BR AR
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The profit attributable to owners of the parent for the year
ended 30 September 2010 amounted to HK$194.0 million,
against HK$3.2 million for the year ended 30 September 2009.
This improved performance arose from the recognition of revenue
for the sale of the residential units of phase 1 in the Shanghai
Shanshui Four Seasons project, the write-back of a land premium
rebate of HK$69.6 million which was received and increases
in fair values of investment properties of HK$99.2 million. The
corresponding profit of the prior financial year included net
decreases in fair values of investment properties of HK$14.8
million.

The higher tax was provided substantially due to the contribution
of Shanghai Shanshui Four Seasons project for the current
year. It included the corporate income tax, land appreciation
tax (“LAT”) and deferred tax of HK$33.2 million, HK$38.2 million
and HK$9.2 million respectively.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to propose any final dividend for
the year ended 30 September 2010 (year ended 30 September
2009: Nil).

BUSINESS SEGMENT

Property development

For the year ended 30 September 2010, the property
development segment contributed a higher revenue of
HK$1,202.2 million or 90% of the total revenue, compared
to HK$7.4 million or 6% of the total revenue of the year ended
30 September 2009. Of the HK$1,202.2 million revenue,
HK$1,177.3 million was contributed by Shanghai Shanshui
Four Seasons project; HK$19.2 million by The Ninth ZhongShan,
Dalian, while another HK$4.4 million by Scenic Place, Beijing.

Business park

During the year under review, revenue generated by the business
park segment grew by 17%, from HK$117.4 million for the
year ended 30 September 2009 up to HK$137.6 million,
representing 10% of the total revenue for the year ended 30
September 2010. This improved revenue was due to the higher
occupancy and rental rates achieved by VSBP.

Financial Review
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Financial Review

87 75 [B] A

ASSETS

The value of the Group’s total assets decreased by 18% to
HK$4,168.5 million as at 30 September 2010, from HK$5,113.9
million as at 30 September 2009.

Assets held under the property development segment decreased
to HK$2,581.6 million (62% of total assets) as at 30 September
2010 compared with HK$3,651.7 million (71% of total assets)
as at 30 September 2009; reflecting the sales of units of the
Shanghai Shanshui Four Seasons project and The Ninth
ZhongShan project.

Assets held under the business park segment amounted to
HK$1,223.5 million as at 30 September 2010 compared with
HK$1,105.7 million as at 30 September 2009, as a result of
increases in fair values of investment properties.

SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS

The results of the year under review caused the Group’s total
shareholders’ funds to increase from HK$1,803.3 million as
at 30 September 2009 to HK$2,001.7 million as at 30 September
2010. On a per-share basis, the consolidated net asset value
of the Group as at 30 September 2010 increased to HK29.2
cents, against of HK26.4 cents as at 30 September 2009.
The total shareholders’ funds constituted 48% of the total
assets of HK$4,168.5 million as at 30 September 2010.

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2%fitE (P B ) BR AR
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FINANCIAL RESOURCES, LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

Liquidity and capital resources

The Group’s total borrowings decreased by 20% to HK$1,210.4
million as at 30 September 2010 from HK$1,505.1 million as
at 30 September 2009 while the net debt (measured by total
bank borrowings minus cash and bank deposits) fell to HK$442.3
million as at 30 September 2010 from HK$647.2 million as at
30 September 2009. For the year under review, the reduction
in net debt was mainly due to the net repayment of HK$294.8
million bank borrowings out of the sale proceeds of the Shanghai
Shanshui Four Seasons project and the rental income of VSBP.
The Group’s gearing ratio (defined as the total borrowings
over total equity, including non-controlling interests) fell to
51% as at 30 September 2010 down from 71% as at 30
September 2009. The Group’s cash and bank balances
decreased to HK$768.0 million as at 30 September 2010 from
HK$857.9 million as at 30 September 2009.

Short-term and long-term borrowings

The maturity profiles of the Group’s bank borrowings outstanding
as at 30 September 2010 and 30 September 2009 are

Financial Review
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MBER RBEESREASNEE

RBEETRELFER

REBZEEREH_TSTNFNA=1TH
2 75 %1,505,100,0000 2 20% & =& —
TFNLA=+H2%%1,210,400,0007T °
mER FE (ARITERBERIR S RIRT
GFHAE) AR —_EZNFNAA=ZFTBZH
#647,200,000t TEEZEZZE—FF A=
+ B 2 #%442,300,0007T ° P70 BEF 2
N EBEFERLCEERAR LELKEOE
WMIBE 2 HEMBRRBERENBER 2HS
WKARREERTEEFERAEK
294,800,000 - "B BELE (EE A
REFRAERERE  BREIFERRFRE
HBAZEENFNAZFTHZ7I% I BRE
—E-EFNA=THZ51% - XEEZH
EMBITEKRB_TETNFNA=FTHEZE
¥ 857,900,000t TRREZZE—TFNLA=
+ B 2 % 768,000,0007T °

BEHRRPER

AEER-_ZT—ZFTFNLA=ZTHEHEZZEZN
FNA=ZTHZAREERTERZERRF

summarised below: SR
As at
i
30 September 30 September
2010 2009
—E2-ZF —TETNF
AB=+8H hA=+H
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BETT
Within the first year (Note) E—F R () 867,577 478,532
In the second year E-FENR 342,777 833,442
In the third to fifth year, inclusive FoEZFLF (BREEEMRTF) — 193,151
Wholly repayable within five years ANAFANREEER 1,210,354 1,505,125

Note:

A new HK$1,000 million 3-year term loan facility was arranged to refinance
the HK$500 million term loan matured in October 2010 and to finance
general working capital requirements of the Group in respect of real
estate projects.

BsE

B — B R L8 EB%1,000,000,000t 2 =
FHEFRMEARBRE BN _Z—ZF+ A3
8y~ B #500,000,000c 2 EHHEF A M@ E A E
ERmEBEEZ —MREEEARATK -
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Financial Review

87 75 [B] A

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

Foreign currency risk

Borrowings denominated in Hong Kong dollar and United States
dollar remained at similar level while borrowings in Renminbi
decreased during the year under review. Most of the borrowings
were matched by assets denominated in Renminbi. The foreign
currency risk exposure was considered minimal and no hedging
was considered necessary.

The currency denominations of the Group’s bank borrowings
outstanding as at 30 September 2010 and 30 September
2009 are summarised below:

MBER
S R By

RABEFER BB RETRERZER
DR - MUARBLRZERUERR
WA REMEREUARKERLEEER
& o SMNERRIZEBEMN - NBAEERBEH -

AEBR-_ZT—ZFNLA=ZFTHR=ZZN
FNAZTHHMKREEZRTERIZCEE
kSRR T

As at
S

30 September 30 September
2010 2009
—E-EF —EENF
hB=+H NA=+8
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BB T T
Hong Kong dollar (“HK$”) T 500,000 499,102
Renminbi (“RMB”) AR 430,557 724,507
United States dollar (“US$”) ETT 279,797 281,516
Total k] 1,210,354 1,505,125

Interest rate risk

With borrowings applied to finance the development projects,
the Group was exposed to changes in interest rate fluctuations
to the extent that they affected the cost of floating rate borrowings.
As at 30 September 2010, all borrowings of the Group were
on a floating rate basis. The interest rate risk exposure was
considered acceptable and no hedging was considered
necessary. The Group would continue to regularly monitor
the suitability and cost efficiency of hedging and the need for
a mix of fixed and floating rate borrowings.

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2%fitE (P B ) BR AR

BT

AEBZEFRBRBEREIER  IAXZ
[\ 2 22 R M RO R O S B T B M R E SR
KARZHE R_T—TFAA=1TH &
SBEMEEFTIFTBN KRS - FIXER
WEBAER  WHEERLE T - AEEE
SETHERE R 2 EEERRARER - A
FEENFBNEECERZIHER



PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At 30 September 2010, no bank borrowing was secured by
assets of the Group. At 30 September 2009, the Group’s
bank borrowings were secured by certain investment properties
with a carrying value of HK$143.7 million.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At 30 September 2010, the Company issued guarantees to
the extent of HK$183.2 million (30 September 2009: HK$183.2
million) of which HK$85.9 million (30 September 2009: HK$171.8
million) was utilised in respect of bank borrowings granted to
its subsidiaries.

Financial Review

81 75 2] &

EERHA

R_ZE—ZTFNLA=Z1+H BMERTEEMN
REBZEEERER RZZTEZNFNA
=+H  XEBEZRITEEDAREERE
#143,700,000c 2 & TR EWMEERE
o

HREE

RZE—ZEFNA=+H  AQAFFAEHZ
ERA £ AB%183,200,000C (ZZETNF
HNA=+H : #%183,200,0007T) @ HH#&E
FTHBRARAZETEREHAAEK
85,900,000 C (ZEFNFNLA=1TH : &
#171,800,0007T) °
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Five-year Financial Summary

hFEBRE
Yearended  Yearended  Yearended  Yearended  Year ended
30 September 30 September 30 September 30 September 30 September
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
“E-%% —ZTNE —ETN\E ZETHE —EERE
hBZ+HE  RA=tA AA=TE AA=TH  AA=TH
LEE L5 L5 L5 L5
(Restated) (Restated)
(In HK$'000) (AT TAEN) (Z31) (E31)
Results %5
Revenue WA 1,339,765 124,796 123,560 128,601 214,513
Profit/(loss) before tax BRAEH/ (B8 390,052 (14, 713) 4,450 248,834 116,232
Tax (charge)/credit BB (T /Es (142,755) 11,743 19,446 (89,170) (12,730)
Profit/(loss) for the year EREH/ (B8) 247,297 (2,970) 23,896 159,664 103,502
Attributable to: AT AL -
Owners of the parent SRAREA 194,044 3,169 8,301 147,164 91,922
Non-controlling interests FRIRRER 53,253 (6,139) 15,595 12,500 11,580
247,297 (2,970) 23,896 159,664 103,502
As at As at As at As at As at
30 September 30 September 30 September 30 September 30 September
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
R-B-BF RIZTNE RITENE RITSHE RITENE
(In HK$'000) (WABTTAZEN) hB=tR  nA=tB  AR=TA  AA=TH AA=1H
Assets and liabilities EEHRER
Total assets BEE 4,168,452 5,113,862 4,457,170 3,699,060 3,340,404
Total liabilities Bag (1,811,764)  (2,996,536)  (2,378,085)  (1,766,071)  (1,580,460)
Total equity (including EREE (B 2,356,688 2,117,326 2,079,085 1,932,989 1,759,944

non-controlling interests)

SERB R D)

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2%fitE (P B ) BR AR



Review of Operations and Prospects

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

Real estate development
Shanshui Four Seasons, Songjiang, Shanghai

This 71-hectare development site, in which the Group holds
a controlling 54.85%-interest, was acquired in September 2005.
This huge site has a permissible gross floor area of about
830,000 sm to be developed in phases. As at 30 September
2010, over 95% of the 418 residential units in phase 1, comprising
a total gross floor area of about 100,000 sm of terrace and
semi-detached houses, a clubhouse and some retail space,
has been sold and the design and pre-construction works
for phase 2 are being completed. Phase 2, with a gross floor
area of over 250,000 sm, comprises predominantly residential
units with some retail and supporting amenities. With its tranquil
suburban location, easy accessibility and quality design concept,
the Group is confident that the project will continue to be
well received. Given its size and market position, this development
will raise the profile of the Group and reinforce its commitment
to quality and customer satisfaction.

Qingniandajie project, Shenyang

The Group secured this commercial development site (referred
to as Jin Lang site no. 9-4) located at Shenyang’s busiest
thoroughfare, Qingniandajie, at a public auction on 2 July 2008.
The site is situated within the Shenhe district and is within
walking distance to a proposed subway station. The 15,630
sm site has a potential permissible gross floor area of 187,568
sm. Based on initial preliminary concept and design plans,
the construction of this mixed use, high-rise commercial
development was scheduled to start in 2011. The Shenyang
authorities had not been able to deliver vacant possession of
the site as at 30 September 2010. In view of the uncertainty
of site possession date, the Group is now assessing its various
options in light of the changing trends and shifts in the Shenyang
property market.

F%E ol MRS
XK EE
EihE %R
T 1L 7k g ZE b

AEBR-_ZETRAFNLABBZTIAERE
Aty WiEHEHP54.85% 2 1F 1M -
2R K TE A& A b R] 3R 4R 42 T E /5 49830,000
EHK WKHBERE BHE_ZT—TF
HNE=+H  F—H418@EFEEEMNF - 8
95% (MRIEMEMIEL) 100,000 5K 2 HEE
F¥BUFRE - —EgRF - UEETEEHE
B)EEEL  ME R RATEIIER
B o B B EE EE®250,000F 5
K FEREEEMN  WREBIHITERE
LRERIE - ARYENEUFLE - KB
FEEEBEBRRES  AEEBELZ
THEBEERSECD - ERNZEREBEE R
WREMISEAM - BEZEEARARNEE 2
xR TNaASEHERREREFPRE
EVEH AR -

EGEFAHEHAA

AEER-_ZZNFLA-_HELRHES
FRBZUNEGRERZAH -FTFRE
ZEFEERAM A Eo-4t k) o M
KRR - FITR2EERZH 2 Eus - 5%
HETEA156,630F 5K - Al B EEZE
187,568 F 77K » RIE A 8 M & at&T
g REZRERBREERABEAN_-F
——FmIL - BBEERR_T-—TFNAA=
THINARERNZEERM - ERNRISZEE
Rt 2 BRI REEREE - AENEBYES
BHBE Rl AEEIEEFGESER
E

Annual Report 09/10 ¥

17



18

Review of Operations and Prospects
EFEEMERE

Business park sector

Vision Shenzhen Business Park (VSBP)

VSBP offers some 125,000 sm of office space and about
1,000 carpark lots for lease. This property comprises seven
medium-rise blocks built around a 16,000 sm lush landscaped
park complete with sporting and recreational facilities. It is
now a substantial asset in terms of capital value, size and
management attention. With its sufficiently large critical mass,
VSBP is being managed to realise operating efficiency from
economies of scale and to offer an unrivalled service standard.

During the financial year ended 30 September 2010, the Group
successfully concluded negotiations with the Shenzhen authorities
in relation to the development of the phase 3 site. According
to the framework agreement signed on 9 June 2010, the Group
will retain a 51,000 sm site which can yield 240,000 sm gross
floor area. The Group plans to undertake a landmark development
on the site, which is to be built in phases to meet market
demand.

Sohu.com Internet Plaza (SIP)

SIP, the Group’s joint venture project with a subsidiary of the
prestigious Tsinghua University, is a 13-storey high quality
and state-of-the-art business park facility located within the
Tsinghua Science Park in Zhongguancun, Haidian district, Beijing.

The building offers an international standard of property
management, with a comprehensive range of value-added
services and amenities to all its occupants. Since its completion
in 2004, it has stood as a landmark building with a sought-
after address within Zhongguancun. Following the sale of certain
floors to Sohu.com in January 2007, the building was renamed
SIP and the joint venture now holds the remaining gross floor
area comprising 10,145 sm of office and 4,786 sm of retail
space. For the year under review, the occupancy rate was
over 95%.

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2%fitE (P B ) BR AR
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Review of Operations and Prospects

PROSPECTS

The Group is confident that there is sustainable demand to
be satisfied in both major and emerging cities, particularly in
the residential sector as the pace of urbanisation and demand
from new family units continue to grow. With major on-going
projects in both Shanghai and Shenzhen, the Group will seek
to explore suitable opportunities with a view to build a stronghold
in select regions. At the same time, the Group will continue
to push for commencement of construction for phase 2 of
the Shanghai Shanshui Four Seasons project and completion
of the design and planning for VSBP phase 3 at the earliest
possible dates. The Group firmly believes that conscientious
execution of its projects will add value to its investments and
shareholders alike.

EBRELRE

RE

REBEMEE - BEEHMCERRIRESMN
EXRFEWE  REZRFEFTLERZE
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Profiles of Directors and Senior Management

EZheRERABEN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Leung Ka Hing, Harry (“Mr. Leung”), aged 55, has been
the Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer of the Company
as well as a member of the Executive Committee of the Company
since October 2010. Prior to joining the Company, he was a
General Manager of Orient Overseas Developments Limited
(*O0DL”), which is now owned by Singapore-listed property
group CapitalLand Limited. At OODL, Mr. Leung was responsible
for reviewing, establishing and implementing new strategic
objectives for managing OODL’s Shanghai real estate portfolio,
with a total developable gross floor area in excess of 500,000
sm in residential, commercial and hotel properties. Before
OODL, he held senior positions in several property development
and construction companies such as the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange-listed K. Wah International Group and Paul Y.-ITC
Construction Group. Mr. Leung was also a member of the
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference in Guangzhou
city’s Yue Xiu District (2004 — 2006) and Guangzhou’s Huadu
District (2005 — 2008). Mr. Leung graduated from McMaster
University, Canada in 1978 with a Bachelor of Engineering
(Civil Engineering) and was registered as Chartered Engineer
(U.K.) since 1985. He subsequently obtained a Post-Graduate
Diploma (Geotechnical Engineering) from University of Sydney,
Australia in 1990.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lim Ee Seng (“Mr. Lim”), PBM, aged 59, has been a
Non-executive Director of the Company since May 2006 and
has also been serving as Chairman of the Board and the Executive
Committee of the Company since July 2008. Mr. Lim was
appointed as Acting Chairman of the Board in October 2007.
He is currently Chief Executive Officer of Frasers Centrepoint
Limited (“FCL”), a subsidiary of Fraser and Neave, Limited
(“F&N”) which is the ultimate controlling shareholder of the
Company. Mr. Lim is a Director of Frasers Centrepoint Asset
Management Ltd, the manager of Frasers Centrepoint Trust;
Frasers Centrepoint Asset Management (Commercial) Ltd, the
manager of Frasers Commercial Trust. Both Frasers Centrepoint
Trust and Frasers Commercial Trust are REITs listed on Singapore
Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX”). Mr. Lim is the
2nd Vice President of the Real Estate Developers Association
of Singapore. Prior to this, Mr. Lim was Managing Director of
MCL Land Limited, a company listed on the SGX. Mr. Lim
holds a Bachelor of Civil Engineering degree from the University
of Singapore and a Master of Science in Project Management
from the National University of Singapore.
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Profiles of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Chia Khong Shoong (“Mr. Chia”), aged 39, has been a
Non-executive Director of the Company since August 2009.
Mr. Chia joined FCL as Chief Financial Officer in March 2009.
He is responsible for all aspects of finance and the management
accounting function of the FCL Group. Prior to FCL, Mr. Chia
was an investment banker. He worked extensively on corporate
finance advisory, M&A and capital market initiatives. Mr. Chia
holds a Bachelor of Commerce in Accounting and Finance
with First Class Honours from the University of Western Australia
and also a MPhil in Management Studies from Cambridge
University.

Ms. Chong Siak Ching (“Ms. Chong”), aged 51, has been a
Non-executive Director of the Company since February 2001.
Ms. Chong is the President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
of Ascendas Pte. Ltd. (“Ascendas”). Ascendas Group holds
17.16% interest in the Company. Ascendas and its subsidiaries
are developers, managers and marketers of science, business
and industrial parks in various countries in Asia including
Singapore, China, India and Korea. Ms. Chong holds several
external appointments which include Deputy Chairman of
Singapore Standards, Productivity and Innovation Board
(SPRING), a Board member of Jurong Health Services Pte.
Ltd. and an independent director of Singapore Stock Exchange-
listed Singapore Press Holdings Limited. Prior to this, Ms.
Chong was a Deputy Chief Executive Officer of JTC Corporation
from 2000 to 2001. From 2004 to 2009, Ms. Chong has been
a member of APEC Business Advisory Council (“ABAC”). In
addition to her normal ABAC duties, she was appointed as
Chair of the APEC CEO Summit 2009 which was held in
Singapore. Ms. Chong has also served as a Board member
on the Board of Singapore Tourism Board from 2005 to 2009.
Ms. Chong, a licensed valuer, graduated from The National
University of Singapore (“NUS”) with an Honours Degree in
Estate Management and has a Masters in Business Administration
from NUS as well as completed the Advance Management
Program at Harvard Business School.

Mr. Hui Choon Kit (“Mr. Hui”), aged 46, has been a Non-
executive Director of the Company since August 2009. Mr.
Hui joined F&N as Senior Manager, Business Development in
February 2000. He is currently Group Financial Controller for
F&N Group. Prior to joining F&N, Mr. Hui worked as a corporate
finance banker based in Singapore and Thailand, covering
the Asia-Pacific region. He commenced his career as an
accountant and financial consultant with Ernst & Young. Mr.
Hui holds a Bachelor of Business degree from Curtin University,
Australia and a Master of Business Administration degree from
Nanyang Technology University, and is a member of the Institute
of Certified Public Accountants of Singapore.
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Profiles of Directors and Senior Management

EZheRERABEN

Mr. Hwang Soo Chin (“Mr. Hwang”), aged 62, has been a
Non-executive Director of the Company since May 2008. Mr.
Hwang is currently Director and Deputy Chairman of FCL (China)
Pte. Ltd. (“FCL China”), an indirect wholly owned subsidiary
of F&N which is the ultimate controlling shareholder of the
Company, overseeing FCL China’s property development
business in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”). He is
Director and Chairman of Nominating Committee of Longcheer
Holdings Limited, a company listed on SGX. He was Director
and Chairman of the Audit Committee of ASL Marine Holdings
Limited, a company listed on SGX, and Director and Chairman
of Nominating Committee of New Lakeside Holdings Limited,
a company listed on SESDAQ of SGX. From 2000 to 2005,
Mr. Hwang was President of SCA Packaging Asia where he
was responsible for the company’s manufacturing operations
in PRC and South East Asia. Prior to this, Mr. Hwang was
Group Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer of Tuan
Sing Holdings Limited; Director and Chairman of SPP Limited
and Gul Technologies Limited; and Director and Vice Chairman
of the Grand Hotel Group Limited which is listed on the Australian
Stock Exchange Limited. Mr. Hwang holds a Bachelor of
Engineering (Chemical) degree and a Diploma in Computer
Science from the University of Queensland and is currently a
Fellow Member of the Singapore Institute of Directors.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chong Kok Kong (“Mr. Chong”), aged 57, has been an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company since
May 2006. Mr. Chong is the principal of the law firm, David
Chong & Co., Singapore and is the Chairman of the Portcullis
TrustNet Group. He is qualified as a Barrister of England and
Wales, an Advocate & Solicitor of Singapore and Malaysia,
an Advocate of Brunei, a Solicitor of New South Wales and
Queensland, Australia; a Barrister & Solicitor of Australian Capital
Territory and Victoria, Australia and the British Virgin Islands.
Mr. Chong holds a Master Degree in Law from The National
University of Singapore and a Master Degree in Administrative
Science from The City University, London.

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2%fitE (P B ) BR AR

ERBAE ([ERE))  HFe2 BT
ENFRABETARRFFNTEE - L
HERBARRNE 2 &RIERREFAN 2 FE 2
EMI B A RFCL (China) Pte. Ltd. ([FCL
Chinal) 2 £ 3%a| X/ - 2B FCL China
RAEAREME ([FE]) 2WEEREHE
% o RAEEERBR AT (—RERIFTZAT
Iz RR) 2 EESRRERZESEF K
AR R EERABER AR (—RARI R
FrEmZzRa) PEERBERZESER
WA HEERERAR (—HRFIRMZ
BEREMB LT AR 2ESHIREE
BEgXF H_ZTETFE_ZTTHF =&
%4 ABSCA Packaging AsiaZ #% - B &%
ARARFBE R REENREER - Tt 2
Al BAAERBEEEREECSBESEK
BERITHBLE - SPP Limited XGul
Technologies LimitedZ EE3# E/F + UK
RBMNEBEHZSMER AR LM 2Grand
Hotel Group LimitedZ EEREIEE - =
TERFBREITHAZ2 2T (L) BL 2]
LEMBEXR BRANIKEEEEE

SR B

IRKEHE °

BYFHITES

REIXEE ([REE]) - RF57 BZZ
TRFRABREERRRIBILIFNITES o
R4 AR E % FTDavid Chong & Co.,
Singapore 2 =& * Jn/A&Portcullis TrustNet
GroupZ EJF © 1R AREE &R 2 KE
B~ TN K BRPEIE 2 RE i A R
B~ R 2 I REREE A~ BRI ET R B AN
MR BNz R - RN E BB R KRN 4
ZH G RRBETEE 2 NEARER - R
EEREMIMEET REERBE L0 KR
HCity University/ T B2 B8 L 8( -



Profiles of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Hui Chiu Chung (“Mr. Hui”), J.P., aged 63, has been an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company since
December 2004. Mr. Hui is currently Chief Executive Officer
of OSK Holdings Hong Kong Limited. He has 39 years of
experience in the securities and investment industry. Mr. Hui
had for years been serving as Council Member and Vice Chairman
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong, member of the Advisory
Committee of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures Commission,
and was also a Director of the Hong Kong Securities Clearing
Company Limited. Mr. Hui was appointed by the Government
of the HKSAR a Justice of the Peace in 2004 and was also
appointed a member of the Zhuhai Municipal Committee of
the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference in 20086.
He is at present an Independent Non-executive Director of
Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and a member
of the Committee on Real Estate Investment Trusts of the
Securities and Futures Commission. Mr. Hui was a member
of the Standing Committee on Company Law Reform and is
at present an appointed member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants Investigation Panel A. Mr. Hui
also serves as Independent Non-executive Director of Luk
Fook Holdings (International) Limited, Jiuzhou Development
Company Limited, Lifestyle International Holdings Limited and
Chun Wo Development Holdings Limited whose shares are
listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong.

Mr. Kwong Che Keung, Gordon (“Mr. Kwong”), aged 61,
has been an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company
since May 2001. Mr. Kwong has also been serving as Chairman
of the Audit Committee of the Company since August 2001.
He is also an Independent Non-executive Director of a number
of companies listed on the Stock Exchange. From 1984 to
1998, Mr. Kwong was a partner of Pricewaterhouse and was
a Council Member of the Stock Exchange from 1992 to 1997.
He has a Bachelor of Social Science degree from the University
of Hong Kong and is a Fellow Member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales and the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants.
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Mr. Alan Howard Smith (“Mr. Smith”), J.P., aged 66, has
been an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company
since March 2001 and has also been serving as Chairman of
the Remuneration Committee of the Company since October
2002. Mr. Smith retired as the Vice Chairman, Pacific Region,
of Credit Suisse First Boston (“CSFB”), a leading global investment
bank, in December 2001. Prior to joining CSFB, he was Chief
Executive of the Jardine Fleming Group from 1983 to 1994
and was Chairman of the Jardine Fleming Group from 1994
to 1996. Mr. Smith has over 26 years’ investment banking
experience in Asia. He was elected a Council Member of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
on two occasions. He was a member of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region Government’s Economic Advisory
Committee from 1994 to the end of 2001, and was a member
of the Hong Kong Government’s Standing Committee on
Company Law Reform for 10 years. He graduated with a LLB
(Hons) degree from Bristol University in 1964, and was admitted
as a solicitor in England in 1967, and in Hong Kong in 1970.

ALTERNATE DIRECTOR

Mr. Chia Nam Toon (“Mr. Chia”), aged 50, has been an Alternate
Director to Ms. Chong Siak Ching since August 2008. Mr.
Chia is currently the Chief Financial Officer of Ascendas group
of companies and concurrently holding the position of Executive
Vice President, Enterprise Risk Management. Before joining
Ascendas, Mr. Chia was Finance Director and Acting Chief
Operating Officer of PEC Tech Group, an engineering and
forestry services business division of a large regional
conglomerate. Mr. Chia has extensive Asia Pacific experience
having spent 12 years with ICI Plc, a major specialty chemical
company in various senior roles in finance, corporate planning,
and general management based in Kuala Lumpur, London
and Singapore. He had also spent 4 years with F&N Coca-
Cola in Malaysia. Mr. Chia is a Fellow Member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants UK (FCCA), a Fellow Member
of the Institute of Certified Public Accountants of Singapore,
and holds a Diploma in Commerce from Tunku Abdul Rahman
College, Malaysia.
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Profiles of Directors and Senior Management

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Yiu Chun Kit (“Mr. Yiu”), aged 51, Chief Financial Officer
and Company Secretary, joined the Company in October 2005.
Mr. Yiu graduated with a professional diploma in accountancy
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic. He is an Associate Member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a
Fellow Member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and a member of the Certified Management
Accountants Society of British Columbia. Mr. Yiu has 26 years
of working experience and had worked for international audit
firms, MNCs and listed companies before.

Mr. Foong Kok Meng (“Mr. Foong”), aged 66, Chief Operating
Officer, joined the Company in October 2003. Upon Mr. Foong
retirement on 1 June 2009, he was re-designated as Chief
Operating Officer of Vision (Shenzhen) Business Park Co. Ltd.
Mr. Foong is currently Executive Director of Vision (Shenzhen)
Business Park Co. Ltd. and Vision Huaging (Beijing) Development
Co., Ltd. Mr. Foong was the Chief Representative of JURONG
International Consultants (Suzhou) Co., Ltd.’s Beijing
Representative Office, a wholly owned subsidiary of Jurong
Consultants Pte. Ltd., Singapore’s largest industrial developer.
Prior to this, Mr. Foong was Senior Vice President of Hyflux
Pte. Ltd., a Singapore-listed water treatment company. He
held senior management positions with LKN Construction Pte.
Ltd., Beijing China World Trade Centre and Keppel Corporation
Ltd. Mr. Foong holds diplomas in Building Construction from
Singapore Polytechnic, Builders’ Quantity from London City
& Guilds Institute, Marketing Management from Singapore
Ngee Ann Polytechnic, and attended a senior manager
development course in University of NSW, Australia.

Mr. Tay Kok Min (“Mr. Tay”), aged 51, Senior General Manager
(PRC-based), joined the Company in January 2004. Mr. Tay
is currently Director and Senior General Manager of Beijing
Gang Lu Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. and Shenyang
Frasers Real Estate Development Co. Ltd. Mr. Tay is also
Managing Director and General Manager of Beijing Vision Century
Property Management Company Ltd. Prior to joining our
Company, he was Manager of engineering department of Beijing
China World Trade Center, Deputy Project Manager of Beijing
Kerry Center, Director of engineering for Qingdao Equatorial
Hotel, General Manager of LKN Home Services Pte. Ltd. and
Project Director of Santarli International Construction. Mr. Tay
holds an advance diploma in Building Services Engineering
from Ngee Ann Polytechnic, Singapore and has over 21 years
of experience in property development in the PRC.

EZhEMRERABEN

eEREERE

PeiREE S E ([BhxeE]) - RFL1E - EBE
BEIARAAMNE  RZZETRFTHAMEA
ARm - hEEFHBEEERISZR  EXE
SRR RREBBGHAMAEEE - FaT
RREBMMAGERGE - KCertified
Management Accountants Society of
British Columbiaz & 8 - Skse A %A — +
NETELR  SREEGREE - 5B
B Kk EHARMER

BEIBREE (BEE]) - BF665%  EER
H MR =F+ANMEBEERRA - HiE
R-ZZThFENA—HEKE  BERATAE
FUBFBGREREAER AR EEBE -
BAEERBRINBFEHRIEEBR AR R
BETEE LR EXEREBR AR ZHITE
£ o B ETETHREBER AR AR G
WAz THERY) c2EMNBARKE
BB EM) AR AR RARRMNEE 2
BEREK o L2 AT - B A SR ¢
EAKBREZ EMARSEERETSAE
WE o WM HRLKN Construction Pte.
Ltd. * R RBEERESRORTERERE
TEREERMN - BEEFENINFEETIS
BT EE 2 B FEE R  London City &
Guilds Institutes8 2 2 Builders’ Quantity
OB FINEELTIBETEREE ISR
OB WEEERMNTERBAT KSR
BARCIRERREE -

EESE L ([BEE]) - MFL1EL - mRE
ZIR (B E) RZZTZWMF—AMBEAR
A BEERAILRBREHERZEERA
AREGEMEHEREBRARICESR
AR o B AN AL BT E
ERBRARICESRICIERBILIE - £
BANRR - HEEEPEILRBEBEE 54
DTIEE&E - EREBFROFER KR -
SEEEMRIE 2 TEEEE - LKN Home
Services Pte. Ltd. 2 #B 418 [ = = F| B BR 12
BNRZEBRE - BWAEAERBEFMNERL
BTERAE EFSELRESACER B
RABEYEEREEBE T —F&% -

Annual Report 09/10 ¥

25



26

Profiles of Directors and Senior Management

EZheRERABEN

Mr. Sin Kong Chiu, Franky (“Mr. Sin”), aged 42, General
Manager - Finance joined the Company in November 2005.
Mr. Sin holds a Bachelor of Commerce from The Australian
National University and a MBA from The Chinese University
of Hong Kong. He is an associate member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Sin has over 18
years of working experience and had worked for international
accounting firm, listed companies and MNC before.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

The Company is committed to maintain a high standard of
corporate governance practices as set out in the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices (the “CG Code”) in Appendix
14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).
The corporate governance principles of the Company emphasise
a quality board of directors, sound internal control, principles
and practices, and transparency and accountability to all
shareholders of the Company. The Company complied with
the CG Code throughout the year ended 30 September 2010
except for the deviations from Code Provisions A.4.1 and B.1.1
which, in the Company’s opinion, are unsuitable or inappropriate
for adoption. Explanations for such non-compliance are provided
and discussed below.

COMPLIANCE WITH MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) as its own code
for dealing in securities of the Company by the directors of
the Company. Having made specific enquiry, all directors of
the Company have confirmed their compliance with the required
standards set out in the Model Code throughout the year.
The Model Code also applies to other specified senior
management of the Company.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition

The Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) currently
comprises an executive director and nine non-executive directors,
four of whom are independent non-executive directors. All
ten directors are subject to retirement by rotation once every
three years in accordance with the bye-laws of the Company
and the CG Code. The composition of the Board is reviewed
regularly to ensure that it has a good balance of expertise,
skills and experience which can meet the requirements of
the business of the Company. The directors’ biographical
information is set out on pages 20 to 26 of the 09/10 Annual
Report.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The positions of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer
are held by separate individuals with a view to maintain an
effective segregation of duties between the management of
the Board and the day-to-day management of the Group’s
business and operations.

One of the important roles of the Chairman is to provide leadership
to the Board to ensure that the Board always acts in the best
interests of the Group. The Chairman shall ensure that the
Board works effectively and fully discharges its responsibilities,
and that all key issues are discussed by the Board in a timely
manner. All directors have been consulted about any matters
proposed for inclusion in the agenda. The Chairman has delegated
the responsibility of drawing up the agenda for each board
meeting to the Chief Executive Officer and the Company
Secretary. With the support of the Chief Executive Officer and
the Company Secretary, the Chairman seeks to ensure that
all directors are properly briefed on issues arising at any board
meeting and have received adequate and reliable information
in a timely manner.

Non-executive Directors

The non-executive directors provide a wide range of expertise
and experience as well as checks and balances to safeguard
the interests of the Group and its shareholders. Their participation
in the board and committee meetings brings independent
judgement on issues relating to the Group’s strategy,
performance, conflicts of interest and management process
to ensure that the interests of all shareholders of the Company
have been duly considered.

The non-executive directors of the Company are not appointed
for a specific term as they are subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company
in accordance with the bye-laws of the Company. As such,
the Company considers that such provisions are sufficient to
meet the underlying objectives of Code A.4.1 of the CG Code.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

More than one-third of the members of the Board consists of
independent non-executive directors and more than one of
whom have appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise. The Board confirms
that the Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive directors the annual confirmation of independence
for the year ended 30 September 2010 pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and considers all of the independent non-
executive directors to be independent during the year.

Mr. Alan Howard Smith and Mr. Kwong Che Keung, Gordon
joined the Board as Independent Non-executive Directors in
March 2001 and May 2001, respectively, and have been serving
the Group for more than nine years. The Board considers the
independence of any director as a matter of judgment. A director
is considered independent if he is free from any business or
other relationships that can interfere with the exercise of his
independent judgment. Mr. Smith and Mr. Kwong have clearly
demonstrated their ability and willingness to exercise independent
judgment and to provide objective challenges to management.
There is no evidence that length of tenure will impact on their
independence. Having duly considered the matter, the Board
is satisfied that Mr. Smith and Mr. Kwong have the required
character, integrity, independence and capacity to completely
fulfill the role of Independent Non-executive Director and is
not aware of any circumstance that may influence Mr. Smith
and Mr. Kwong in exercising independent judgment.

RESPONSIBILITY OF DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for ensuring continuity of leadership,
development of sound business strategies, availability of adequate
capital and managerial resources to implement the business
strategies adopted, adequacy of systems of financial and internal
controls and conduct of business in conformity with applicable
laws and regulations. All directors have made full and active
contribution to the affairs of the Board and the Board has
always acted in the best interests of the Group.

The Executive Director and senior management are delegated
with respective levels of authorities with regard to key corporate
strategy and policy and contractual commitments. Management
is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the Group with
divisional heads responsible for different aspects of the business.
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The Board considers that in preparing the financial statements,
the Group has applied the appropriate accounting policies
that are consistently adopted and made judgements/estimates
that are reasonable and prudent in accordance with the applicable
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, as issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The
publication of the financial statements of the Group is also in
a timely manner.

The Board, having made appropriate enquiries, are of the view
that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future and that, for this reason,
it is appropriate for the Group to adopt the going concern
basis in the preparation of the financial statements.

Board Meetings

During the year, the Board met regularly and held five meetings.
The attendance record, on a named basis, at these meetings
is set out in the table on page 43 of this report.

Regular board meetings are scheduled in advance to facilitate
all directors’ attendance. If potential conflict of interest involving
a substantial shareholder or a director arises which the Board
has determined to be material, the matter is discussed in a
physical meeting, as opposed to being dealt with by written
resolutions, and the interested parties are required to abstain
from voting. The directors attend meetings in persons or through
other means of electronic communication in accordance with
the bye-laws of the Company.

Board papers are circulated approximately seven days before
the board meetings to enable the directors to make informed
decisions on matters to be raised. The Company Secretary
shall attend all regular board meetings to advise on corporate
governance and statutory compliance, when necessary. Directors
shall have full access to information on the Group and are
able to obtain independent professional advice whenever deemed
necessary by the directors. The Company Secretary shall prepare
minutes and keep records of matters discussed and decisions
resolved at all board meetings.
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Each newly-appointed director will be provided with a package
of orientation materials setting out the duties and responsibilities
of directors under the Listing Rules, related ordinances and
relevant regulatory requirements of Hong Kong. Updates are
provided to directors when necessary to ensure that directors
are aware of the latest changes in the commercial and regulatory
environment in which the Group conducts its business.

Responsibilities of Company Secretary

The Company Secretary is responsible to the Board for ensuring
that board procedures are followed and that the Board is
fully briefed on all legislative, regulatory and corporate governance
developments and that it has regard to them when making
decisions. The Company Secretary is also directly responsible
for the Group’s compliance with the continuing obligations
of the Listing Rules, Codes on Takeovers and Mergers and
Share Repurchases, Companies Ordinance, Securities and
Futures Ordinance and other applicable laws, rules and
regulations.

Directors and Officers Policy

Appropriate insurance covers on directors’ and officers’ liabilities
have been in force to protect the directors and officers of the
Group from their risk exposure arising from the business of
the Group.

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

The Executive Committee of the Board was formed in April
2001. It currently comprises three non-executive directors
and one executive director. It was chaired by the non-executive
Chairman. The terms of reference of the Executive Committee
adopted by the Board are posted on the Company’s website.
The Executive Committee establishes the strategic directions
of the Company and monitors the performance of management.
The Executive Committee is also provided with other resources
enabling it to discharge its duties fully.

During the year, the Executive Committee held two meetings.
The attendance record, on a named basis, at these meetings
is set out in the table on page 43 of this report.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE AND REMUNERATION
OF DIRECTORS

The Remuneration Committee of the Board was formed in
October 2002. The two-member Remuneration Committee
has one independent non-executive director as its chairman
and one non-executive director. The majority of the members
of the Remuneration Committee are not independent non-
executive directors. The Board will continue with this composition
and not comply with Code B.1.1 of the CG Code because
the Board considers that it is appropriate for the non-executive
director(s) representing the controlling shareholder to play an
active role in appointing the key executives and setting their
remuneration.

A set of written terms of reference, which described the authority
and duties of the Remuneration Committee, was adopted by
the Board and the contents of which are in compliance with
the Code Provisions of the CG Code. The said terms of reference
of the Remuneration Committee are posted on the Company’s
website.

The objectives of the Remuneration Committee are to establish
and maintain an appropriate and competitive level of remuneration
to attract, retain and motivate directors and key executives
to run the Company successfully. The Remuneration Committee
also ensures that the remuneration policies and systems of
the Group support the Group’s objectives and strategies. The
Committee is provided with other resources enabling it to
discharge its duties fully.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee held three
meetings. The attendance record, on a named basis, at these
meetings is set out in the table on page 43 of this report.

The Remuneration Committee had considered the proposal
of retirement and appointment of Chief Executive Officer of
the Company and made recommendation to the Board during
the year.

The Remuneration Committee shall consult the Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer about their proposals relating to the
remuneration of other directors and have access to professional
advice, if necessary.
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ACCOUNTARBILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

Being accountable for the stewardship of the Group’s affairs,
the Board is responsible for ensuring that proper accounting
records are kept and relevant financial statements are prepared
to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group.
The Group publishes its financial results on a quarterly basis,
thereby enhancing the transparency in reporting its results
and financial position.

Specifically, the following responsibility of the Board in relation
to the financial statements should be read in conjunction with,
but distinguished from the Independent Auditors’ Report on
pages 67 to 68 of the 09/10 Annual Report which acknowledges
the reporting responsibility of the Group’s Auditors:

e Accounting Policies — The Board considers that in preparing
the financial statements, the Group has applied the
appropriate accounting policies that are consistently adopted
and made judgements/estimates that are reasonable and
prudent in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants.

e (Going Concern Basis — The Board, having made appropriate
enquiries, is of the view that the Group has adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is appropriate
for the Group to adopt the going concern basis in the
preparation of the financial statements.

The management of the individual businesses within the Group
provides the Board with such information and explanations
necessary to enable the Board to make an informed assessment
of the financial and other information put before the Board
for approval.

A statement by the auditors about their reporting responsibilities
is included in the Independent Auditors’ Report which is set
out on pages 67 to 68 of the 09/10 Annual Report.

Corporate Governance Report
RN
TEELRWME

BEREFZ

BB ®E

EXeAARRAKESEHEIEE  IB
BEEEREARARESE  HEMBERR
ZHRBREEE M AT RN R E = 2
A - REBEBFHRPBHESE  BUHES
EUBERENMBERRRE 2 ERE -

LER UTHEBEWERRZESTSETE
HERENRENF,/ —EFFHRECTECSH
BB RE —H8E - EERERAE
EZEMmREEARGEEER

.« BHBE-EFERA RERUBE
KB ARERRESEHHARER
2 R B 7 SR R
EHEGE - LIFH AT REEZ HIBR
S -

s FHERKEEE-EZeLKFHLEELSH
BRE > AEBRAIBRRKAEE T
HERERRERS - Fit - NEER
W EREEERUMBEBREBE

2 e

AEEABETENEZEH - EEEREFS
RUTABZERRBEE  EFEFS N
HERT 75 M B A E BT E R A 2 7FAE -

REM 2 RRETERENEN, —TFF
HECTEFECBA 2B XBHIRENA °

Annual Report 09/10 ¥

33



34

Corporate Governance Report
PREARE

Internal Controls

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the integrity of
the Group’s financial information and the effectiveness of the
Group’s system of internal controls and risk management
processes. In this context, the Board has established a clear
organisational structure with appropriate delegation of
responsibility to satisfy changing business needs while managing
risks that are critical to the achievement of business objectives.

In line with the requirements of the Appendix 14 of the Listing
Rules, the Board has conducted an annual review and is satisfied
with the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience
of staff working in the accounting and financial reporting functions.
The Board is also satisfied that such staff are undergoing
adequate continuous training to keep abreast of the latest
accounting and financial developments. Similarly, the oversight
role of the Audit Committee of the Group has been assessed
to be satisfactory and effectively discharged in the financial
year under review.

While the Audit Committee conducts continuous review on
the adequacy and effectiveness of the existing internal controls
on behalf of the Board, the day-to-day responsibility for the
conduct of these control procedures, the on-going monitoring
of risks and the effectiveness of the corresponding internal
controls rest with the management.

The Board hereby confirms that there is a process for identifying,
evaluating and managing the significant risks that are critical
to the achievement of the Group’s strategic objectives. The
process which was in place throughout the financial year up
to the date of the financial statements has not identified any
significant control breakdown or inadequacy.

e  System and Procedures — A system of sound and effective
internal controls contributes to safeguarding the Group’s
assets. Since profits are, in part, the reward for successful
risk taking in business, the purpose of the internal controls
is to help manage and to control appropriately, rather
than to eliminate the risk to the achievement of business
objectives. They can only provide reasonable, though not
absolute assurance against misstatement or loss.
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As a part of the on-going process towards inculcating
risk/control awareness in maintaining a sound system of
internal controls, a strategic Enterprise-wide Risk
Management (“ERM”) has been put in place while active
subsidiary companies continue to be identified for
implementation at operational level. This standardised risk
management methodology helps to formalise the
identification and assessment of key risks its businesses
face, thereby improving the management of risk throughout
the Group.

The Internal Auditors have reviewed the risk management
process, as an on-going part of their routine audit works
to ensure that the effectiveness of existing controls are
monitored and tracked vis-a-vis the key risk factors.

The Board is satisfied that management is committed to
the ERM as an on-going process and that management
will continue to administer and monitor ERM at the strategic
level, while working towards cascading the ERM further
to the divisional, operational, departmental and process
level progressively, as appropriate.

Annual Assessment — Evaluation of the Group’s internal
controls is independently conducted by the Internal Audit
Department of Fraser and Neave, Limited (“F&N”), the
controlling shareholder of the Company, on an on-going
basis. Such evaluation covers all material controls, including
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions. The Internal Audit Department
of F&N reports directly to the Audit Committee on findings
on internal controls issues.

Whistle-blowing Policy — The Group has established a
“whistleblowing” policy under which employees can report
any concerns, including misconduct, impropriety or fraud
in financial matters and accounting practices to either
the Chairman or the Audit Committee in confidence and
without fear of recrimination at a designated email address
or telephone. Any shareholders or stakeholders can also
report similar concerns in writing or verbally in confidence
to the Audit Committee.
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e  Code of Business Conduct — In addition to the compliance
to the CG Code, the Group has adopted a Code of Business
Conduct to regulate the standards and ethical conduct
of the Group, and that its directors, officers and employees
are required to observe and maintain high standards of
integrity, as are in compliance with the relevant laws and
the regulations and company policies and practices. The
Code sets standards of integrity and professionalism in
the conduct of the Company’s operations.

e Business Continuity Plan — The development and continuous
testing of contingency plan/action guidelines for disruptive
events like infectious diseases and pandemics is a part
of the Group’s preparation to reduce the potential impact
on its on-going business operations.

e Inline with Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules, the Group
issues a timely reminder once every quarter to its directors
and officers to request that they refrain from dealing in
the shares of the Group, within the designated period
subsequent to the quarterly/half yearly and year end date
for up to 30 days and 60 days preceding the publication
date of the quarterly/half yearly and annual results
respectively. This restriction is also applicable at any time
they are in possession of unpublished price-sensitive
information.

Internal Audit

The Internal Audit function is independent of the activities it
audits. The approved Internal Audit Charter accords the Head
of Internal Audit of the F&N Group and her staff unrestricted
access to all functions, records, property and personnel within
the Group for their audit works. A full and free access to the
Audit Committee is also provided for.

The audits are designed to provide the Board with reasonable
assurance that a functioning system of internal controls is in
place and operating effectively to manage the risks associated
with the achievement of business objectives of the Group.
The Internal Audit Department of the F&N Group conducts
audits of the Company and its subsidiaries, typically over a
three-year cycle. The adequacy of the frequency and the audit
scope of each subsidiary is independently assessed and tabled
by the Internal Audit Department of the F&N Group in the
form of a risk-based Annual Audit Plan to the Audit Committee
for approval. Due considerations are also given to the audit
findings raised by both the internal and/or external audit visits.
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In respect of the audit reviews conducted, copies of the Internal
Audit Reports for each audit are sent to the Chairman, the
members of the Audit Committee, management and the external
auditors. The results of each review are tabled and discussed
in the Audit Committee meeting. Any significant internal audit
findings or identified risks are closely examined so that appropriate
action can be taken. From time to time, management is called
upon to monitor and update the Audit Committee and the
Board on the status of implementation of their action plans in
response to the audit recommendations raised. The close
follow up and tracking is to ensure that all control inadequacies
identified are promptly addressed and resolved.

In addition to its routine audit schedule, the Internal Audit
Department of the F&N Group may be assigned to conduct
projects and investigative work, as may be required from time
to time.

External Auditors

For the year ended 30 September 2010, the fees paid to the
Company’s external auditors in respect of audit and non-audit
services provided to the Company and its subsidiaries is set
out below:
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Services rendered R IR 2010 2009
—E-EF —EThF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT T
Audit services BZRTE 1,667 1,516
Non-audit services EEZIRTE (BEDTH 389 370
(included tax matters, review and £H  BFHEK
other reporting services) HAth R ERARTS)
2,056 1,886
AUDIT COMMITTEE EREES
The Audit Committee of the Board was formed in August 2001. HZZEEN_ZZ—F/\AKZ ' BAIHA
It currently comprises four independent non-executive directors  PUZ B FFRTEE N —RIFHITESA
and one non-executive director. It is chaired by an independent X - BZEZ B €M — BB L IFNITE BT

non-executive director. A set of written terms of reference,
which described the authority and duties of the Audit Committee,
was adopted by the Board and the contents of which are in
compliance with the Code Provisions and Recommended Best
Practices of the CG Code. The said terms of reference of the
Audit Committee are posted on the Company’s website.
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The Audit Committee is accountable to the Board and the
principal duties of the Audit Committee include the review
and supervision of the Group’s financial reporting process
and internal controls. The Committee is also provided with
other resources to enable it to discharge its duties fully.

During the year, the Audit Committee held four meetings and
the external auditors were in attendance. The attendance record,
on a named basis, at these meetings is set out in the table
on page 43 of this report.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management of
the Company and Ernst & Young, the auditors of the Company,
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group
and has discussed auditing, internal controls and financial
reporting matters, including the review of the annual report
of the Company for the year ended 30 September 2010.

The following is a summary of the work performed by the
Audit Committee during the year:

e Reviewed the 08/09 Annual Report, and audited accounts
and annual results announcement for the year ended 30
September 2009

e Reviewed the 09/10 Interim Report and the interim results
announcement for the six months ended 31 March 2010

e Reviewed the management accounts and the quarterly
results announcement for the three months ended 31
December 2009 and for the nine months ended 30 June
2010

e Recommended to the Board that the shareholders be
asked to re-appoint Ernst & Young as the Company’s
external auditors for the financial year of 30 September
2010

e Reviewed and recommended to the Board the approval
of the audit fee proposal for the Group for the financial
year of 30 September 2010

e Reviewed the connected transactions for the year ended
30 September 2009 and for the quarterly periods ended
31 December 2009, 31 March 2010 and 30 June 2010
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e Reviewed the areas of risk management and internal controls,
and internal audit functions

e Reviewed and approved the internal audit plan for the
year ended 30 September 2010, the cost budget for audit
and the internal audit reports

e Met with the external auditors to discuss the general scope
of their audit work

All issues raised by the Committee have been addressed by
Management. The work and findings of the Committee have
been reported to the Board. During the year, no issue brought
to the attention of Management and the Board was of sufficient
importance to require disclosure in the 09/10 Annual Report.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S INTERESTS

As at 30 September 2010, the senior management had the
following interests in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company:

Corporate Governance Report
DEERBRE

e EHRAMEENLAIBEZT 2B - UK
B A% T BE

e ERUHAAREHE—_ZT—ZTFNA

_+E¢¢VZW*B%T2u+%U P ST

BRI LABEZRE

o HINEEZHBANEHENNmEEFSZBIIE
Z—REE

EEECREZBEMEHZMERE - &

BeIEBERNMERCMESEEHRE - F
N WEDRIXEEEBUREEETEZSE
HMESEUHRUNBREN, —ZSFFRA
Wz o

SREERE 2 #ER
R-_ZE—ZFFNLA=+H" BEEERAK

A?ﬁf&mﬁkm$mﬁuT%‘

Number of
ordinary shares
issuable under

Number of share options

ordinary shares granted
beneficially held Rz R RE
BERfiE2 TA%TZ
Name of employee EEH®E EERYE EERYE
Mr. Yiu Chun Kit 78Sl — 3,400,000
Mr. Foong Kok Meng REIRA ST & 1,894,000 4,901,328
Mr. Tay Kok Min BEISE T E 1,200,000 2,397,888
Mr. Sin Kong Chiu, Franky ETHaE 10,000 1,250,000
INVESTOR RELATIONS REEBRE
General Meetings e N
One general meeting was held during the year. The 2010 annual FREEIT—XRREFARE - _T—TF
general meeting was held on Monday, 18 January 2010 at MEBFAE IR _ZT—Z=F—H+/\H
2:30 p.m. The following ordinary resolutions were passed at (EH—) TF B =+2%81T7 -2 L FBH

the meeting by poll:-

1. To receive and consider the audited consolidated financial
statements and the reports of the directors and auditors
for the year ended 30 September 2009.

EHNBBA N ERRER
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i) To re-elect Mr. Chia Khong Shoong as director.

i) To re-elect Mr. Hui Chiu Chung as director.

i) To re-elect Mr. Hui Choon Kit as director.

iv) To re-elect Mr. Kwong Che Keung, Gordon as
director.

(v) To re-elect Mr. Lim Ee Seng as director.

(b) To fix the remuneration of directors.

3. To re-appoint the auditors and to authorise the board of
directors to fix their remuneration.

4. To grant a general mandate to the directors to repurchase
shares.

5. To grant a general mandate to the directors to allot and
issue new shares.

6. To extend the general mandate granted to the directors
to issue new shares by adding the number of shares
repurchased.

The 2011 annual general meeting of the Company (“AGM”)
will be held on Thursday, 13 January 2011. Details of the
2011 AGM Notice are set out in the circular to the shareholders
which is despatched together with the 09/10 Annual Report.

According to the bye-laws of the Company, a special general
meeting can be convened by a written request signed by
shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-up
share capital of the Company, stating the purposes of the
meeting, and deposited at the registered office of the Company.

Communication Channels

In order to develop and maintain continuing relationships with
the shareholders of the Company, the Company has established
various channels to facilitate and enhance communication:

e the annual general meeting provides a forum for shareholders
of the Company to raise comments and exchange views
with the Board
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e updated key information of the Group is available onthe ¢ AREBEZHHEEERARKRA R 2 H

Company’s website at www.fraserschina.com to enable Itwww.fraserschina.com #|%& + EAR
the shareholders of the Company and the investor community NARRERIREEBEREIAEEZ
to have timely access to information about the Group &R

e the Company’s website offers a communication channel ¢ ZARQ R ZHBuhAARQ HERRREE
between the Company and its shareholders and investors ERMEEBERE

The Chairman and the directors are available at annual general E£ENEEHEFREAFASEZ AR A
meetings to answer questions raised by shareholders of the J&%ZT%F'EJ o BIERIRR 2R - AT
Company. To facilitate enforcement of shareholders’ rights, ZZEFAEGIRAZRABRREAE FRIE -
substantially different issues at general meetings are dealt

with under separate resolutions.

Shareholding Analysis IR HE 2 #
Analysis of share ownership among top 30 shareholders RiEALD E’\\ T-ZEFNLA=THZER
according to the register of members of the Company as at & fft © KA R AIS0ZAE 2 #H A E D A0
30 September 2010: N
Approximate
percentage
on total
Number of issued shares
ordinary shares held L2 81T
FEEZ iR 4B &
Category il EZBERHE ZHABE D
%
Corporate AT
Overseas NSEYN 4,928,612,830 71.98
Local PN} 1,854,506,301 27.09
Sub-total PNEE 6,783,119,131 99.07
Individual fEIA
Overseas NSBIN 10,604,536 0.15
Local Al 18,042,730 0.27
Sub-total INEF 28,647,266 0.42
Total et 6,811,766,397 99.49
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Market Capitalisation
As at the financial year end of 30 September 2010:

Number of issued shares
Closing price per share
Market capitalisation

6,847,015,580 shares

HK$0.194

Approximately
HK$1,328.32 million

Shareholder Services

Any matter in relation to the transfer of shares, change of
name or address, or loss of share certificates should be addressed
to the Company’s branch share registrar as follows:

Tricor Standard Limited
26/F Tesbury Centre
28 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

Enquiry Hotline : (852) 2980 1768
Email : is.enquiries@tricor.com.hk
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ATTENDANCE RECORD AT THE MEETINGSOF THE EZe L Ex=ZEeeeRd ERH
BOARD AND BOARD COMMITTEES

The number of meetings and attendance by Board members T~XREHINEESKEFRBREHAHE L LE

are set out in the table below: IRE
Executive Audit  Remuneration
Board Committee Committee Committee
Exg HTEE® EREZER FMz8e
Meetings held during Hz-®-%%
financial year ended NAZTHLEBBEE
30 September 2010 FiTees 5 2 4 3
Executive Director HITEZE
Mr. Ang Ah Lay LS 5/5 2/2 — —
Non-executive Directors FHTEE
Mr. Lim Ee Seng WaBLE *5/5 /2 — 3/3
Mr. Chia Khong Shoong LS 5/5 2/2 — —
Ms. Chong Siak Ching REFRL 1/5 1/2 — —
Mr. Chia Nam Toon HEkrE
(Alternate to Ms (REFLXLZ
Chong Siak Ching) BIEE) 4/5 1/2 — —
Mr. Hui Choon Kit FEERE 5/5 — 4/4 —
Mr. Hwang Soo Chin ERBELE 5/5 — — —
Independent BYFHITEE
Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chong Kok Kong REF S 5/5 — 4/4 —
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung, J.P. SRAREE (ATET) 5/5 — 4/4 —
Mr. Kwong Che Keung, Gordon BERTE 5/5 — *4/4 —
Mr. Alan Howard Smith, J.P. Alan Howard Smith %4
(XF#1) 4/5 — 4/4 *3/3

*  Chairman */%
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The directors present their report and the audited financial
statements of the Group and the Company for the year ended
30 September 2010.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company continues to be investment
holding while the principal activities of its subsidiaries are property
investment, development and management of residential,
commercial and business park projects. There have been no
changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during
the year.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

The Group’s revenue and contribution to operating profit for
the year by business segment is as follows:

EEgEREAKBRARABE_T—F
FNAZTHLFEZETERE MEERZ
BI# R

ARFEBAREER B ETEERR - MEMW
BRAZEBRBAISMERE - BREE
BEEE RFELREXEZEA - iﬁﬂ'
AEEZETRXBHEE L BT

T EHEFR

FR - AEEREH DB ZWARELE
LN

Property Business
development park Corporate Group
(In HK$’000) (NAETTREN) MERR BEE tEER X&EE
Revenue from external customers REMREPKA 1,202,199 137,566 — 1,339,765
Segment profit / (loss) AEbEw/ (B8) 243,220 206,062 (28,946) 420,336
SUBSIDIARIES Bt 1B 2 7]

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 30 September
2010 are set out in note 18 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 30 September
2010 and the state of affairs of the Company and the Group
at that date are set out in the financial statements on pages
69 to 172.

No interim dividend was paid during the year. The directors
have resolved not to propose any final dividend for the year
ended 30 September 2010 (2009: Nil).
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group
for the past five financial years is set out on page 16 of the
annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in note 13 to the financial
statements.

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

Details of movements in properties under development of the
Group during the year are set out in note 17 to the financial
statements.

MAJOR INTERESTS IN PROPERTIES

Particulars of major interests in properties held by the Group
as at 30 September 2010 are set out on pages 175 to 180 of
the annual report.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in investment properties of the Group
during the year are set out in note 14 to the financial statements.

BANK BORROWINGS AND INTEREST CAPITALISED

The Group’s and the Company’s bank borrowings as at 30
September 2010 and the amount of interest capitalised by
the Group during the year are set out in notes 27 and 7 to
the financial statements respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company during
the year are set out in note 23(a) to the financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves during the year are set out
in note 24 to the financial statements.
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Yk MERRE

AEBYE BMEREZERFAZE
HR TS HRERMIEE13 -

S5

BLRPUE

REEE R Y LN EN S B
BHEM 7 -

EEEE9N

TEYERES

AEBR -_Z—ZFNA=+HEEZTE
MEREDFBINFERFEI175E5 1808 »

REWME

AEEREDNERNFALZLEDFBERYH
WRME 14

RTERRBEER L ZFE

REBREARFAR-_Z-FFNAA=THEHZ
RITEFRRRFALEEGH EBEENL
22BN BN RERM E27 K7

RN

KARBRARFERN 2 EBFIBH NI ERE
MzE23(a) ©

(K]

REENFRAZESFBHIARMBRERME
24 »
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 30 September 2010, the Company’s reserves available
for distribution and/or distribution in specie amounted to
HK$521,303,000. In addition, the Company’s share premium
account, in the amount of HK$41,944,000 may be distributed
in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

WARRANTS, OPTIONS OR SIMILAR RIGHTS

Other than the share option scheme of the Company as explained
in note 23(b) to the financial statements, the Company had
no outstanding warrants, options or similar rights as at 30
September 2010.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) during the year.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive Director

Mr. Leung Ka Hing, Harry (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 1 October 2010)

Mr. Ang Ah Lay (Chief Executive Officer)
(resigned on 1 October 2010)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lim Ee Seng

Mr. Chia Khong Shoong

Ms. Chong Siak Ching (whose alternate is Mr. Chia Nam Toon)
Mr. Hui Choon Kit

Mr. Hwang Soo Chin

Frasers Property (China) Limited 28kt E (F &) AR AR

o] 1 7 K fet 8
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chong Kok Kong

Mr. Hui Chiu Chung, J.P.

Mr. Kwong Che Keung, Gordon
Mr. Alan Howard Smith, J.P.

According to bye-laws 100 of the bye-laws of the Company,
Mr. Leung Ka Hing, Harry will retire and, being eligible, will
offer himself for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

According to bye-law 109(A) and 189(vii) of the bye-laws of
the Company, three directors, namely, Mr. Chong Kok Kong,
Ms. Chong Siak Ching and Mr. Alan Howard Smith will retire
by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company while Mr. Chong and Ms. Chong, being eligible,
will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company. Mr. Smith has indicated to
the Company his intention to retire at the conclusion of the
forthcoming annual general meeting and will not offer for re-
election.

The non-executive directors of the Company are not appointed
for a specific term and are subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company
in accordance with the bye-laws of the Company.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme was adopted by the Company on 20
May 2003 (the “Share Option Scheme”) to comply with the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(the “Listing Rules”) in respect of share option schemes of a
listed company.

1. Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract
and retain the best quality personnel for the development
of the Company’s businesses, to provide additional incentives
to employees, consultants, agents, representatives, advisers,
suppliers of goods or services, customers, contractors,
business allies and joint venture partners, and to promote
the long term financial success of the Company by aligning
the interests of option holders to shareholders.
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Participants of the Share Option Scheme

Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme include
(i) any employee or any proposed employee (including
an officer or director (whether executive or non-executive)
or alternate director of the Company or any affiliate) or
any legal or financial consultant, agent, representative
or legal or financial adviser of the Company or any affiliate;
or (ii) any person who provides goods or services to the
Company or any affiliate; or (i) any customer or contractor
of the Company or any affiliate; or (iv) any business ally
or joint venture partner of the Company or any affiliate.

Total number of shares available for issue under the
Share Option Scheme and percentage of issued share
capital as at the date of this report

Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, the maximum number
of shares in respect of which share options may be granted
is such number of shares, when aggregated with shares
subject to any other share option scheme(s) of the Company,
must not exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of adoption of the Share Option
Scheme (i.e. 283,618,894 shares).

As at 30 September 2010, there were 98,180,182 share
options outstanding under the Share Option Scheme. Based
on these outstanding share options, the total number of
shares available for issue is 98,180,182, which represents
approximately 1.43% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of this report.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The maximum number of shares issuable upon exercise of
the share options granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option scheme(s) of the Company (whether
exercised or outstanding share options) to each eligible
participant in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of
the shares of the Company in issue as at the date of grant.
Any further grant of share options to any eligible participant
who in aggregate has over 1% of the shares of the Company
in issue shall be subject to the issue of a circular by the
Company and the shareholders’ approval of the Company
at a general meeting with the relevant eligible participant
and his/her associates abstaining from voting.
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Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
respective associates, are subject to the approval in advance
by the independent non-executive directors of the Company,
excluding the independent non-executive director(s) of
the Company who is/are the grantee(s) of the share options.
In addition, any share option granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of
the Company, or to any of their respective associates, in
excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue as
at the date of grant or with an aggregate value (based on
the closing price of the Company’s shares as at the date
of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month
period, are subject to the issue of a circular by the Company
and the approval of the shareholders of the Company in
advance at a general meeting.

Period which the shares must be taken up under an
option

The exercise period of the share options granted is
determinable by the Board, and commences on a specified
date and ends on a date which is not later than 10 years
from the date of grant of the share options.

Period and payment on acceptance of options

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within 28 days from the date of the offer, upon payment
of a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee.

Basis of determining the exercise price

The exercise price of the share options is determinable
by the Board, but shall not be less than the highest of (i)
the closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in
the daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on the
date of grant, which must be a trading dayj; (i) the average
closing prices of the Company’s shares as stated in the
daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange for the five
trading days immediately preceding the date of grant;
and (iii) the nominal value of a Company’s share.
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8. The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme 8.

The Share Option Scheme became effective on 20 May
2003 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will
remain in force for 10 years from that date.

Details of the movements of the share options under the Share

50

Option Scheme during the year were as follows:

™~

Number of share options

AREHE
Outstanding Outstanding
Year of as at Granted Exercised Lapsed as at
grant 1/10/2009 during during during 30/9/2010
Name or category REER R-ZZELEF the year the year the year R-E-Zf
of participant (Note 1) t+HA-AH RER RER RER RA=1H
SRE 2 HERE (Pt 1) fef RATE Rit Cay:d K¥ e RATHE
Executive Director
HITES
Mr. Ang Ah Lay 2003 2,698,598 — — — 2,698,598
et iiop v 2004 2,698,598 — — — 2,698,598
2005 2,698,598 — — — 2,698,598
2006 2,800,000 — — — 2,800,000
2007 2,800,000 — — — 2,800,000
2008 2,800,000 — — — 2,800,000
2009 — 2,800,000 — — 2,800,000
Non-executive Director
FHITES
Ms. Chong Siak Ching 2003 1,079,439 — — — 1,079,439
wREFLZ T 2004 1,079,439 — — — 1,079,439
2005 1,727,103 — — — 1,727,103
2006 1,800,000 — — — 1,800,000
2007 2,000,000 — — — 2,000,000
2008 2,000,000 — — — 2,000,000
2009 — 2,000,000 — — 2,000,000
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Number of share options
AREHE
Outstanding Outstanding
Year of as at Granted Exercised Lapsed as at
grant 1/10/2009 during during during 30/9/2010
Name or category REEH R-BERE the year the year the year R-Z-Zf
of participant (Note 1) +HA-A RER RER RER NE=+H
SREHERES GEA te R AT Rit (:d K% tef R AT
Independent Non-executive
Directors
Mr. Chong Kok Kong 2006 900,000 — — — 900,000
SREN YA 2007 2,000,000 — — — 2,000,000
2008 2,000,000 — — — 2,000,000
2009 — 2,000,000 — — 2,000,000
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung, J.P. 2005 1,727,103 — — — 1,727,103
FFRRASEE (K FHL) 2006 1,800,000 — — — 1,800,000
2007 2,000,000 — — — 2,000,000
2008 2,000,000 — — — 2,000,000
2009 — 2,000,000 — — 2,000,000
Mr. Kwong Che Keung, 2003 1,079,439 — — — 1,079,439
Gordon 2004 1,079,439 — — — 1,079,439
BER T 2005 1,727,103 — — — 1,727,103
2006 1,800,000 — — — 1,800,000
2007 2,000,000 — — — 2,000,000
2008 2,000,000 — — — 2,000,000
2009 — 2,000,000 — — 2,000,000
Mr. Alan Howard 2003 1,079,439 — — — 1,079,439
Smith, J.P. 2004 1,079,439 — — — 1,079,439
Alan Howard Smith 4t 4 2005 1,727,103 — — — 1,727,103
(X Fat) 2006 1,800,000 — — — 1,800,000
2007 2,000,000 — — — 2,000,000
2008 2,000,000 — — — 2,000,000
2009 — 2,000,000 — — 2,000,000
57,980,840 12,800,000 — — 70,780,840
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Number of share options

AREHE
Outstanding Outstanding
Year of as at Granted Exercised Lapsed as at
grant 1/10/2009 during during during 30/9/2010
Name or category REER R-ZZELF the year the year the year R-B-%F
of participant (Note 1) t+HA-AH RER RER RER RA=1H
SRE 2 HERE (Bt 1) e R AT Rit Cay:d K¥ e RATHE
Other employees
HiufE8
In aggregate 2003 162,379 — — (1,972) 160,407
= 2004 680,048 —  (646,336) — 33,712
2005 712,431 —  (647,664) — 64,767
2006 2,600,737 — (1,050,000) — 1,550,737
2007 3,750,000 — — — 3,750,000
2008 4,250,000 — (1,300,000) — 2,950,000
2009 — 5,000,000 — — 5,000,000
12,155,595 5,000,000 (3,644,000) (1,972) 13,509,623
Former directors
BIEES
In aggregate (Note 2) 2003 3,778,037 — — — 3,778,037
&t (ME2) 2004 4,857,476 — — — 4,857,476
2005 3,454,206 — — — 3,454,206
2006 1,800,000 — — — 1,800,000
13,889,719 — — — 13,889,719
84,026,154 17,800,000 (3,644,000) (1,972) 98,180,182
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Exercise period
(subject to vesting
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FELHE

Closing price of the
Company'’s share
quoted on the Stock
Exchange
immediately before
the date of grant

schedule below) KATRAD
Date of 1TfEHA Exercise REBERE
Year of grant grant (ZRR price B B AT TE B 3R A
R F 4 BE A THSREERR) TEE sz mE
HK$ HK$
BT BT
2003 31/12/2003 31/12/2004 — 30/12/2013 0.1580 0.1547*
2004 31/12/2004 31/12/2005 - 30/12/2014 0.1547 0.1547*
2005 30/12/2005 30/12/2006 — 29/12/2015 0.1343 0.1343*
2006 13/11/2006 13/11/2007 — 12/11/2016 0.1670 0.1660
2007 09/11/2007 09/11/2008 — 08/11/2017 0.3370 0.3450
2008 14/11/2008 14/11/2009 - 13/11/2018 0.1000 0.0680
2009 13/11/2009 13/11/2010 = 12/11/2019 0.1550 0.1500

* Adjusted to reflect the impact of the rights issue on 12 September

2006

Vesting schedule for

Kz ZE

* BHEURMR-EEAEAAF-AZ

Percentage of shares over which
a share option is exercisable

share options granted R-ZEE=F+=-A=+—H Frid B2 REMEATAT
on 31 December 2003 RECABECEBRER AREzEDL
%
Before the first anniversary of B EHBZ —BEA Nil
the date of grant i
On or after the first but before the second R ARz —BFR 2%
anniversary of the date of grant BRI F A 25
On or after the second but before the third R BHzmMBFH 2%
anniversary of the date of grant B=HEFH] 25
On or after the third but before the fourth RHABZz =BFS 2%
anniversary of the date of grant (EREFEEES:] 25
On or after the fourth anniversary of KAz AT 2%
the date of grant 25

Vesting schedule for

Percentage of shares over which
a share option is exercisable

share options granted R-IEZE=F+-A=+—-H#% g R 2 RAME AT 1T
after 31 December 2003 RECABECEERER AREzEDL
%
Before the first anniversary of B HBZ —BEA Nil
the date of grant i
On or after the first but before the second R ARz —BFR 2% 40
anniversary of the date of grant BRI F A
On or after the second but before the third R BHzMBFH 2% 30
anniversary of the date of grant B=HEFH]
On or after the third anniversary of REBHZz=BF5 % 30

the date of grant
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In relation to the share options, if the eligible participant, during
any of the periods specified above, exercises that share options
for such number of shares which, in aggregate, represents less
than the number of shares for which the eligible participant may
exercise in respect of such period, the balance of the shares comprised
in that share option for which the eligible participant could have
exercised (but did not exercise) in that period shall be carried forward
and added to the number of shares which the eligible participant
may exercise in the next succeeding period or periods.

2.  The lapsed periods of the share options entitled to four former
directors, Mr. Lew Syn Pau, Ms. Wang Poey Foon, Angela, Dr.
Han Cheng Foong, Mr. Goh Yong Chian, Patrick, were extended
pursuant to the terms in the Share Option Scheme.

Apart from the foresaid and the disclosure under the heading
of “Directors’ Interests” below, at no time during the year was
the Company or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries
or fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable
the directors and chief executive of the Company to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

As at 30 September 2010, the following directors and the
chief executive of the Company and/or any of their respective
associates had the following interests and short positions in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571
of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFQ”)) as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under section
352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers under the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”):

(a) Interests and short positions in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company

(i) Long position in the shares

Number of ordinary

RRREMS » A BRSEER LR E[E
EHRETR BB R EROBE A KD
RAEBRSEEEZIMFE A TERIRAER S R
ZBMEE - AMEERSEERZBRAITE
MARITEZZRBIAES R 2 R BB =57 -
FEENAASERSEENT —ERKRAMA
TTERBRERT R 2BNEBREF -

2. BETHRAERIERELE  THRILL &
e R REKHEE 2 R KRR
BT &) 2 R

Bk EX Rt R AT [E R 2 et | 1R T
WESN  RARHEEMERAF - HEBL
CIEARES I)=PNGI SRR El S LR 2
EAZH  BERARFEEREITRAR
FAFEBARR R SRR EAMEABE 2
MHREFIE s -

EEzES

WZZE—ZTFNA=+H ARARITIES
REZTBRABR  SHESE 2 EMBHE
ARAR AR SHE M EE (E& BEBED
BEE7T1EEFHFRAEGRAN ((BFRBERK
Bil1) EXVER) 2 &t - AR (D REEE R
REREZS LB KR EIS2ELHENA
NEBFEZERM iz AR  IRE
BAERBEBEMEXVESE FTRANEN 2
I ARERHITESFR ZHIZETR ([
EH ) BRITME AR KRB R AT 2R
MRBEWT -

(a) RAQDBRG - HERODREER &
wmRAR

(i) RROZHFE

Approximate
percentage of total

shares beneficially held Nature of shareholding

Name of director EnkEz interest EREAR

Esns LERYE BmME ZBREDH

%

Ms. Chong Siak Ching @ 5,210,536 Personal 0.08
REFLLO f&A
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(i) Long positions in the underlying shares of equity (i) RERAPTETAZIHER DB
derivatives — share options — R

Number Approximate

Year of Number of of total percentage
grant share options underlying of total
R F @5 outstanding shares shareholding
Name of director (Note) M ARITEZ 1HE LR
EEnE (PftsE) RIREH B RDEE ZBHNEDL
%
Mr. Ang Ah Lay 2003 2,698,598 19,295,794 0.28
HTEEEE 2004 2,698,598
2005 2,698,598
2006 2,800,000
2007 2,800,000
2008 2,800,000
2009 2,800,000
Mr. Chong Kok Kong @ 2006 900,000 6,900,000 0.10
sREIYE A @ 2007 2,000,000
2008 2,000,000
2009 2,000,000
Ms. Chong Siak Ching ® 2003 1,079,439 11,685,981 0.17
REFLZLT @ 2004 1,079,439
2005 1,727,103
2006 1,800,000
2007 2,000,000
2008 2,000,000
2009 2,000,000
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung, J.P. @ 2005 1,727,108 9,527,103 0.14
FRRRASEE (KF#L) @ 2006 1,800,000
2007 2,000,000
2008 2,000,000
2009 2,000,000
Mr. Kwong Che Keung, 2003 1,079,439 11,685,981 0.17
Gordon @ 2004 1,079,439
BE®REE @ 2005 1,727,103
2006 1,800,000
2007 2,000,000
2008 2,000,000
2009 2,000,000
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(b) Interests and short positions in the shares, underlying

Number Approximate
Year of Number of of total percentage
grant share options underlying of total
REF G outstanding shares shareholding
Name of director (Note) MRITEZ izl LR REREE
B (PftsE) AREEE ROBHE 2ZBMUBDL
%
Mr. Alan Howard Smith, 2003 1,079,439 11,685,981 0.17
J.P. @ 2004 1,079,439
Alan Howard Smith Jt 4 2005 1,727,103
(XF#+) @ 2006 1,800,000
2007 2,000,000
2008 2,000,000
2009 2,000,000
Note: Mz -

Year of grant

Date of grant

Exercise period

Exercise price

RHFH R A8 1T THREE
HK$

BET

2003 31/12/2003 31/12/2004 - 30/12/2013 0.1580
2004 31/12/2004 31/12/2005 - 30/12/2014 0.1547
2005 30/12/2005 30/12/2006 - 29/12/2015 0.1343
2006 13/11/2006 13/11/2007 - 12/11/2016 0.1670
2007 09/11/2007 09/11/2008 - 08/11/2017 0.3370
2008 14/11/2008 14/11/2009 - 13/11/2018 0.1000
2009 13/11/2009 13/11/2010 - 12/11/2019 0.1550

shares and debentures of an associated corporation
- Fraser and Neave, Limited (“F&N”)

(1)

Frasers Property (China) Limited 20tz (FFE ) BRAF]

Long position in the shares

(b)

MRAEEEBFraser

and Neave,

Limited ([F&N) Z R 10 - HEAR G R

ERERECEERAR

(i) RRZZHFE

Approximate

percentage

Number of ordinary of total

shares beneficially held Nature of shareholding

Name of director BiRlAEZ interest ERELR

EsnE EBERYE BEME ZBHAEDL

%

Mr. Hui Choon Kit @ 24,230 Personal 0.002
g1 S 0 fEA




(i) Long position in the conditional awards of shares
under F&N Restricted Share Plan (“F&N RSP”) and

F&N Performance Share Plan (“F&N PSP”)

Directors’ Report

=

EQ RS

(i) RF&NFBR #1751 2 ([F&N B R
HIRHE) R FANZAE B IR (7
FE([FAN¥EEEBR 1 E])E

B &I BRI 24 B

Number of
restricted &
performance Approximate
share awards percentage
held* of total
Date of FEERH R Nature of shareholding
Name of director grant ) interest hRERE
EEpng RHBH ROBE - BEME BB
%
Mr. Lim Ee Seng @ 14/12/2009 204,396 Personal 0.015
ekt E @ fEA
Mr. Chia Khong Shoong @ 14/12/2009 45,000 Personal 0.003
FNERE @ A
Mr. Hui Choon Kit @ 14/12/2009 74,250 Personal 0.005
TEGRE® fEA

* The actual number of shares to be awarded, free of
payment, is subject to the performance conditions realised
at the end of each performance period.

(iii) Long positions in the underlying shares of equity

* BERODEREE EAEYK) TR
EFEHKITER Z ZRE IR

R o

(i) RIRELTETREZHBRG 2B

derivatives — share options —RRE
Approximate
Number of Number percentage
share options of total of total
Year outstanding underlying shareholding
Name of director of grant i RITHEZ shares MR EARE
EEnA REHFGH ABREHE MHE R B8 ZBABR DL
(Note) %
(B =)
Mr. Lim Ee Seng © 2005 619,200 2,709,000 0.19
BB L @ 2006 619,200
2007 696,600
2008 774,000
Mr. Hui Choon Kit ©® 2003 108,360 948,150 0.07
FFEEEE O 2004 123,840
2005 154,800
2006 185,760
2007 185,760
2008 189,630
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EEEME
Note: MiE -
Year of grant Date of grant Exercise period Exercise price
RHFH R BH 1TEH 1TEE
S$
g T
2003 08/10/2003 08/07/2006 — 07/09/2013 2.12
2004 08/10/2004 08/07/2007 — 07/09/2014 2.82
2005 10/10/2005 10/07/2008 - 09/09/2015 3.46
2006 10/10/2006 10/07/2009 - 09/09/2016 4.22
2007 10/10/2007 10/07/2010 - 09/09/2017 5.80
2008 25/11/2008 25/08/2011 — 24/10/2018 2.86

(c) Interests and short positions in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of an associated corporation

(c) M B :MEFrasers Centrepoint
Trust 217 - HERGOREEE 2 &

- Frasers Centrepoint Trust mRRE
Long positions in the units RE 7,2 if B
Approximate
Number of units percentage
beneficially held Nature of total units
Name of director BExBEaz of interest hEE {4 %E
= BUHE EmEtE ZBAB DL
%
Mr. Lim Ee Seng @ 200,000 Personal 0.03
BB L @ EA
Mr. Hui Choon Kit @ 140,000 Personal 0.02
B © N

@  Non-executive Director
@ Independent Non-executive Director

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 September 2010, none of
the directors and the chief executive of the Company and/or
any of their respective associates had any interest or short
position in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 352 of the
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or the Model Code.

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2%fitE (P B ) BR AR

© EMITE=R
@ BIUFRTES

B EXFTHBEIN  RZZE-—FFAA=T
A ARREZRESTBRABR HKE
B ZEABEABER AR B HE A
BOEE (E&RESFRBE GG EXVELD 2
Befn - AR RERET - BEREES
NG GG EIL2IRLHE N AR RIEFEL
Btz EARREIAR  IRIFES L
EHRPIEXVHBABRETRIERTHEARR
AR B P 2 SRR ©



SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS

As at 30 September 2010, the following persons had the following
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares
of the Company as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO:

Directors’ Report
EERRE

FTERRzER

KoE—TEAAZHA  UTALTRER
AR5 S ARBARR (D P A T OB BB 4 T
BB IBOHRB R AL T EFE 2 B
2 A RAR -

Long position in the shares of the Company RAEQXBRDZHFE

Approximate

Number of percentage

ordinary of total

Nature of shares held shareholding

Name of shareholder interest BEZ MR ERARE

REREE EREME HERHE o3 S=lged

%

Fraser and Neave, Limited (“F&N”) Corporate 3,847,509,895 56.19
NC]

Frasers Centrepoint Limited (“FCL”) Corporate 3,847,509,895 56.19
NG]

FCL (China) Pte. Ltd. (“FCL China”) Corporate 3,847,509,895 56.19
NE]

Ascendas Pte. Ltd. (“Ascendas”) Corporate 1,175,168,505 17.16
BERILABRAR ([HR]) NG

Ascendas Land International Pte. Ltd. 4 Corporate 1,175,168,505 17.16
(“Ascendas Land”) NE]

Riverbook Group Limited (“Riverbook”) Corporate 1,175,168,505 17.16
NE]

Notes:

1. The interest disclosed comprised 3,847,509,895 shares beneficially
owned by FCL through FCL China. FCL is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of F&N.

2. The interest disclosed comprised 3,847,509,895 shares held by
FCL China, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of FCL.

3. Theinterest disclosed comprised 1,175,168,505 shares beneficially
owned by Ascendas Land through Riverbook. Ascendas Land is a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Ascendas.

4. The interest disclosed comprised 1,175,168,505 shares held by
Riverbook, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Ascendas Land.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 September 2010, no other
person had any interest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of
the SFO.

B eE

1. FIWBEZEZEIEMFCLEBFCL ChinaE
#H 23,847,509,895 MEA%n  FCLTYF&NZ
2EWMBERE -

2. FIEETEZHEZEIEBAFCL ChinaZa 2
3,847,509,895 & {n o FCL ChinaJ5FCLZ
2EMBRT -

3. FIWEZH#EZFBHEHAAscendas Landi® i
Riverbook Bz # A 2 1,175,168,505 &%
7 ° Ascendas Land 3 ER 2 2 BB AR -

4, FiIEE HEZBEBARIverbook#FHE 2
1,175,168,505 MR ° Riverbook /3
Ascendas Land Z 2 &M B AR -

BREXF#EN RZTE-—FFALA=+
B BEEM A TRAR R R SRR
A R E 7 R BB 1R D 5 336 1R RS 8
RRABIAFEZECMZERIOKR -
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed hereunder, there was no connected transaction
or contract of significance to which the Company, or any of
its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was
a party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisting at 30 September
2010 or at any time during the year ended 30 September
2010.

1. On 28 November 2008, (i) Shanghai Zhongxin Hua Yun
Property Development Co. Ltd. (“Zhongxin”), (i) Shanghai
Shang Ke Industrial Co. Ltd. (“Shang Ke”), (iii) Supreme
Asia Investments Limited (“SAI”) and (iv) Shanghai Sianjin
Property Development Co. Ltd. (“Sianjin”) entered into a
Shareholding Adjustment Agreement whereby the registered
capital of Shanghai Zhong Jun Real Estate Development
Co Ltd (“Zhong Jun”) would be increased by RMB100
million (approximately HK$113 million) from RMB200 million
(approximately HK$ 226 million) to RMB300 million
(approximately HK$339 million) (“Capital Increase”). RMBI0
million (approximately HK$101.7 million) and RMB10 million
(approximately HK$11.3 million) would be contributed by
SAl and Sianjin (a direct wholly owned subsidiary of FCL
(China) Pte. Ltd. (“FCL China”)) by way of cash, respectively.
Zhongxin and Shang Ke, the then other shareholders of
Zhong Jun, agreed not to make any contribution under
the Capital Increase.

On 28 November 2008, (i) the Company, (ii) Power Source
Holdings Limited (“Power Source”) , (i) FCL China and
(iv) SAl entered into a Subscription Agreement whereby
(iy Power Source agreed to subscribe for 2,883 new shares
of SAl at an aggregate subscription price of US$8,115,556
(approximately HK$62.9 million), which represented the
approximate amount required to finance the Capital Increase
by the Company; and (ii) FCL China agreed to subscribe
for 1,853 new shares of SAl at an aggregate subscription
price of US$5,217,778 (approximately HK$40.1 million),
which represented the approximate amount required to
partially finance the Capital Increase by FCL China
(“Subscription”).

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2%fitE (P B ) BR AR

EECENERRBEERS

BT XAEESN  R-E—TFENAA=+A
SHRBE=F-BEAA=AILFEZIE
MR ARTREEARRAT - HEA
8 ) 2B 2 A4 2 B AT S E A )
T EFEE MBS B AN EARE
ZHRAR -

1. RZFEZENF+—AZF+N\H " ()LE
TEEBEXERBRAFT ((HE]) -
(N EBEREBEZBRAR(TLER]) -
(iii) Supreme Asia Investments
Limited ([SALl) K (iv) LB %EIREXE
BRAR([£8]) AT IR GZ @ 1%
HE FEREEERZEER AT
(B Z2AMELAERARE
200,000,0007T (%7 # 226,000,000
JC) #0 AR 100,000,000 (49758 ¥
113,000,0007T) & A K #300,000,000
7T (4976 %:339,000,0007T) ([H&E]) -
SAl K 4%%8 (FCL (China) Pte. Ltd.
([FCL Chinal) v B 2&WB A7)
BEoRENEEFRABEARE
90,000,0007T (497 #101,700,0007T)
M AR®10,000,0007C (48
11,300,0007T) © R EAM LR (P EEE K
Z2HMBRR)ERENEEE TELT
Al HE o

R-ZEZNF+—A=-+NH  ()&AQ
al ~ (ii) Power Source Holdings
Limited ([Power Source]) - (iii) FCL
ChinaXz(iv) SAIFT X REHZE - Bk -
(i) Power Source[@EHEREE
8,115,5563 Jt (#)/% %62,900,0007T)
RIESAIZ 2,883 ¥ - ZE&BWHEER
MARBAEL ZIBEMB 2 BOLE
£ %8+ N(ii) FCL China[A B4R EE
5,217,7783% 7t (4% %#40,100,0007T)
REESAIZ 1,853k - Z2BHEER
ABFCL ChinafT{fEH 2 I8 EREHH
BeofimztEem ((RBEHE]) -



SAl was beneficially owned as to 76.02% by FCL China
and Sianjin is directly wholly owned by FCL China, a
substantial shareholder of the Company. Accordingly, SAI,
Sianjin and FCL China are connected persons of the
Company under the Listing Rules. The entering into the
Shareholding Adjustment Agreement in relation to the Capital
Increase and the Subscription Agreement in relation to
the Subscription constitute connected transactions for
the Company, which were subject to the reporting,
announcement and the independent shareholders’ approval
requirements as stipulated in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

As the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the
Company'’s indirect acquisition of the equity interests, (i)
in Zhong Jun as a result of the Capital Increase by SAI;
and (ii) in SAl as a result of the Subscription by Power
Source, exceeded 5% but were less than 25%, the Capital
Increase by the Company, the Capital Increase by SAl
and the Subscription by Power Source constituted
discloseable acquisitions for the Company as stipulated
in Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules.

The Shareholding Adjustment Agreement, the Subscription
Agreement and the transactions contemplated therein were
approved by the independent shareholders of the Company
(i.e. FCL China and its respective associates abstained
from voting) at the special general meeting held on 19
January 2009 by way of a poll. Zhong Jun obtained the
business licence issued by the PRC authority on 10 May
2010 for reflecting the increase in registered capital of
Zhong Jun and therefore, the Capital Increase was
completed.

On 3 November 2009, Zhong Jun and Shanghai Frasers
Management Consultancy Co. Ltd. (“SFMC”) entered into
a Corporate Management Services Agreement to, inter
alia, extend the period for the corporate management
services provided by SFMC to Zhong Jun under the
Corporate Management Services Agreement dated 2
October 2008 for 12 months from 1 October 2009 to 30
September 2010 for a total management services fee of
RMB5,580,000 (equivalent to HK$6,696,000).

Directors’ Report
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SAIHFCL ChinaB#z=#/E76.02% * M
SRR A AR EEZREFCL ChinaE
E2EME Bt BEBELmRE -
SAl ~ %388 RFCL ChinaBA R R 2 &
AL FTEIM B AILE 2 IRE TR 1%
REBRESHEZRBEHRRIERAR
RICBERS - BB EMHRAE14A
BEHEF - A RBLBRELEZR

E °

FARR D BIG)ESAIFTER 2 B E M
B2 BB R B8 2 AR+ (i) H Power
SourcefTEH 2 REEEMMAZEKER
SAlZEHEFTE 2 BAB DL EBiBE5%
BER25% + ALt - BRI EMRAIE 14
E - BARQAIELZEE - BSAIFT
fEH 2 18 E I i Power SourcefT{EiH
CREEEBRKAARATHBERE Y
ES =

RZZEZNF—A+NBRTZERE
AlRE EEARALNGBIRE (BIFCL
Chinak HZEB BB A LTHERR)Z
BERAFNBERERAE S - RE
W RETEREEIRS BN
T-ZFRA+HEREHTEE BB
ZEEHFAE  URMAEEREARR
TERGIEE o

RZZEZNF+—A=H " HEELES
EMEEZRERAR([LEERW) AT
UhHEERRSHE  EPBERLSE
EMBEERAE-_ZTTNE+A-HZ
TrEEBRBHBZERMPEERCLES
BREBEHT—_EA (BT NF+
A—Bz-_Z2—ZFNLA=+RH) &
BRI EHERE A ARKS5,580,0007T (18
LA %6,696,0007T) °
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Zhong Jun is a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.
SFMC is 100% beneficially owned by Fraser and Neave,
Limited (“F&N”) which is a substantial shareholder of the
Company. Accordingly, SFMC is a connected person of
the Company under the Listing Rules. The entering into
the Corporate Management Services Agreement constituted
a continuing connected transaction of the Company.

Accordingly, the Company set the annual cap for the
consideration pursuant to the Corporate Management
Services Agreement at about HK$6,696,000 for the
Company’s financial year ended 30 September 2010.

The relevant percentage ratios represented by the annual
cap of the total corporate management services fee was
on an annual basis more than 2.5% but less than 25%
and such annual cap was less than HK$10,000,000. In
accordance with Rule 14A.34(2) of the Listing Rules, the
Corporate Management Services Agreement was only
subject to reporting and announcement requirements,
but was exempt from independent shareholders’ approval.

During the year, a fee for corporate management services
of RMB5,580,000 (equivalent to HK$6,696,000) was charged
to the Company.

The independent non-executive directors of the Company
had reviewed the continuing connected transaction made
during the year and confirmed that the transaction had
been entered into:

() in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Company;

(i) on normal commercial terms; and

(iii) in accordance with the relevant agreement governing
the transaction on terms that are fair and reasonable
and in the interests of the shareholders of the Company
as a whole.

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2%fitE (P B ) BR AR

MEAARARZIEZENBAR - 8
EMBARREERRFraser and
Neave, Limited([F&N]) 2 & Em
At BEEMHRA - EBEMA
RARZHEALT - ATV ¥EERY
EBRARR 2 —BFERERS -

At RARREBRE-ZT—TFNA
= THUETBRFEERELEEERSH
BXNERZFELROREE
6,696,0007T °

REEEENE AEEERGERR
Mo FELRABEDLLEBR25%
B 25% + MABRFEE LRINDRE
#10,000,0007T - BIE LM AR A E
14A.34(2)1 - CEEBERBIHEESR
BRBAREAMER - EERRBILR
BHEZRTE °

FRN ARRIMNZOEEERREES
ARE®5,580,0007 (ME KRB
6,696,0007T) °

RAREIIFRTESEENNFEH
FETZRERERS - UTHRZIS
J5

(i) RARRBER—MEBBIERE
A

(i) RIEBHEMRITGEK S &

(i) BEBEEEZRSH 2HBHE  EA

FERRNAARABRREERHN S
ZIRRETAL -



The auditors of the Company had also confirmed to the
Board of Directors of the Company that the continuing
connected transaction:

() had received the approval of the Company’s Board
of Directors;

(i) had been entered into in accordance with the relevant
agreement governing the transaction; and

(i) had not exceeded the annual cap disclosed in the
previous announcement.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

The following directors of the Company are considered to
have interests in businesses which compete or are likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the
Group pursuant to the Listing Rules:

Mr. Lim Ee Seng is a Director and the Chief Executive Officer
of FCL and a Director of FCL China. Mr. Hui Choon Kit is the
Group Financial Controller for F&N Group. Mr. Chia Khong
Shoong is a Director and the Chief Financial Officer of FCL
and a Director of FCL China. Mr. Hwang Soo Chin is a Director
and the Deputy Chairman of FCL China. FCL is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of F&N, the ultimate controlling shareholder of the
Company, and FCL China is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
FCL which is a property investment and development company
in Singapore and engages in the development and marketing
of housing units, management of offices, shopping malls and
serviced apartments both locally and abroad.

Ms. Chong Siak Ching is the President, the Chief Executive
Officer and a Director of Ascendas Pte Ltd. (“Ascendas”).
She is also a director of various subsidiaries including Ascendas
Funds Management (S) Limited (in its capacity as Manager of
Ascendas Real Estate Investment Trust, which is listed on
The Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited). Ascendas
and its subsidiaries are developers, managers and marketers
of science, business and industrial parks in Singapore, China,
India and Korea.

The Board of the Company is an independent entity and is
independent of the abovementioned companies in which the
directors cited have representations. The Group carries on
its business independently and its businesses neither compete
nor are likely to compete with the businesses of the
abovementioned companies.
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() BEARAEFSIE

(i) RIBFEE
B R

(iii) IAREBLCATAMATRE 2 FE L
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s R ZHEABEE =

EERBFERB z2ES

TIBARRESRE TR AR S ER
SEEXBHFAEARAUEFAEERAEESRS
ZEBHRAES

MG EBFCLZESRITHREAR AR
FCL ChinaZz EE - Fr BB A EBFANEE
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BREH BFTE BYRSIREAAE
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REBLLABRIABRLAF ([HR]) 2
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XM B AR BIEAscendas Funds
Management (S) Limited (JA E{E AR FT A0
FBHERSMEBR AR EMAYAscendas
Real Estate Investment Trustf) &I A &)
FH)2EE - BRERENE R T TN
W e EREEZBIZE HEER
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Leung Ka Hing, Harry, the Executive Director of the Company
appointed with effect from 1 October 2010, had entered into
a service contract with the Company with no specific term
and the service contract will continue until determined by either
party giving not less than three months’ notice in writing to
other party at any time.

Save as disclosed above, no directors being proposed for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a
service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

UPDATE ON DIRECTOR’S INFORMATION UNDER RULE
13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES

Mr. Lim Ee Seng, a non-executive director and the Chairman of
the Company, resigned as a director of Hektar Asset Management
Sdn. Bhd., a company listed in Malaysia, on 5 May 2010.

Ms. Chong Siak Ching, a non-executive director of the Company,
has been appointed as an independent non-executive director
of Singapore Press Holdings Limited, a company listed in
Singapore, with effect from 22 October 2010.

Mr. Kwong Che Keung, Gordon, an independent non-executive
director of the Company, retired as an independent non-executive
director of Tianjin Development Holdings Limited and China
Qilfield Services Limited on 26 May 2010 and 28 May 2010,
respectively. Both companies are listed in Hong Kong.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 30 September 2010, the five largest suppliers
and the largest supplier of the Group accounted for approximately
13% and 6% of the total value of the Group’s purchases
respectively.

The aggregate revenue attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers was approximately 6% of the Group’s revenue.

At no time during the year did the directors, their associates
or any shareholders of the Company (which to the knowledge
of the directors own more than 5% of the Company’s issued
share capital) have any beneficial interests in these suppliers
or customers referred to above.
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E-ZFRA-t+ARNBRZZE-TFHAC
TNABRERZERZERER AR NP EH
ARGBIDBRRABZBILIFAITES - W
BARHREELT -

TEEFRHBER

BHE_Z-ZFNA=THILFE  A5E
ZAARHERREAREE D AIEAREE
BHRER13%K%6% °

AEBRAAREPAERIRANREE B WA
HEZ26% °

RERTAERE  BERARBDNES KEZ
BEARERARREBEEMAEEARR
A5 %A E B EITIRAR Z BR) I it e
AEFPHEREMNERER -



RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

Details of the Group’s retirement benefits scheme are set out
in note 8 to the financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in
which the Company was incorporated, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The emoluments of the Directors are determined by the Board,
as authorised by the shareholders at the annual general meeting,
with reference to directors’ duties, responsibilities and
performance and the results of the Group.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 30 September 2010, the Company and its subsidiaries
had 178 (2009: 202) employees. Salaries of employees are
maintained at competitive levels while bonuses may be granted
on a discretionary basis with reference to the performance of
the Group as well as the individual’s performance. Other employee
benefits include mandatory provident fund, insurance and medical
cover, subsidised educational and training programmes as
well as a share option scheme.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules
throughout the year and up to the date of this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Details of the Corporate Governance Report are set out on
pages 27 to 43 of this report.

Directors’ Report
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Directors’ Report
EFEEWmE

AUDITORS B EEm

A resolution for the re-appointment of Emnst & Young as auditors AR B EREEREEFASIRSRESR
of the Company until the conclusion of the next annual general B2 %7k & 5+ Al B 15 T A& A A & AZ EAD
meeting is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general EBEZ TN ERERBEFASERAILE -
meeting.

On behalf of the Board REEFS

im Ee Seng MR B £
Chairman TE

Hong Kong, 5 November 2010 HE —ZE-FTF+—HAA

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2%fitE (P B ) BR AR



Zlf ERNST & YOUNG
%k

To the shareholders of Frasers Property (China) Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the financial statements of Frasers Property
(China) Limited set out on pages 69 to 172, which comprise
the consolidated and company statements of financial position
as at 30 September 2010, and the consolidated income
statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
and the true and fair presentation of these financial statements
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing, implementing
and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation
and the true and fair presentation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies;
and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely to
you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

Independent Auditors’ Report
Y&\ 17 BUR
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Independent Auditors’ Report
Y& N 1% BXED R

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement
of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In
making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal
control relevant to the entity’s preparation and true and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation
of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group
as at 30 September 2010 and of the Group’s profit and cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared
in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants

18th Floor, Two International Finance Centre
8 Finance Street, Central

Hong Kong

5 November 2010

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2%tz (&) BRAF]
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Consolidated Income Statement
A W s R

Year ended 30 September 2010 HE—_ZT—ZTFNA=-THILFE

2010 2009
—E-=F —EThF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 BET T BT T
Revenue PN 5 1,339,765 124,796
Cost of sales SHER AR (984,634) (1,990)
Gross profit EF 355,131 122,806
Direct operating expenses HELERAX (86,392) (99,359)
Other income Hal A 5 25,398 25,590
Changes in fair values "EMEZ 99,240 (14,826)
of investment properties NREEE
Gain on disposal of an HEAHEE — 1,412
available-for-sale TR E
financial investment 2 Wiz
Provision written back, net RO - F5E 6 69,516 —
Administrative expenses TEFE (28,993) (25,894)
Finance costs %8 7 (43,848) (24,442)
Profit/(loss) before tax BrRELADEF, (E518) 8 390,052 (14,713)
Tax (charge)/credit FIE () e 9 (142,755) 11,743
Profit/(loss) for the year REZmH, (E18) 247,297 (2,970)
Attributable to: AT AR
Owners of the parent SRBHEA A 11 194,044 3,169
Non-controlling interests FEVERR AR R b 53,253 (6,139)
247,297 (2,970)
Earnings per share attributable [SY/NERST] 12
to ordinary equity holders =B ARG
of the parent BREAR
- basic (HK cents) — E AR GBI 2.84 0.05
- diluted (HK cents) — 55 OB 2.83 0.05
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

re & W am

Year ended 30 September 2010 BE-_Z—ZFANA=THILFE

2010 2009
—E-BF _—_TTAF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Profit/(loss) for the year REEZRF, (E18) 247,297 (2,970)
Other comprehensive income REFEHMEEEKA
for the year
Exchange differences arising REBINEB 2 2,040 8,198
on translating foreign operations ME =58
Other comprehensive income REZEHM2EKA - 2,040 8,198
for the year, net of tax EHERTIA
Total comprehensive income AFEEE2HEWALE 249,337 5,228
for the year
Total comprehensive income/ A TATEEZEIRA
(loss) attributable to: (E18) 1278
Owners of the parent SRBHEA A 196,239 10,308
Non-controlling interests FEFE S I SR A i 53,098 (5,080)
249,337 5,228

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2%t (P B ) AR AR



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e AR R

30 September 2010 R-_ZE—ZFF L A=+H

2010 2009
—E-=F —EThF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 BET T BT T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% - BB R&iE 13 2,090 3,115
Investment properties "EYE 14 1,149,680 1,047,561
Prepayment for acquisition WS T A2 15 442,181 442,142
of land use rights AN
Prepayments, deposits FENFIE - mek 21 1,814 1,855
and other receivables H U BR K
Available-for-sale financial investment Al HE S EIRE 19 8,822 8,822
Deferred tax assets EEBTRE E 29 — 15,278
Total non-current assets FRENEEHEEE 1,604,587 1,518,773
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Properties held for sale FHEWE 16 149,436 35,173
Properties under development BRPYHE 17 1,565,607 2,550,357
Trade receivables U E ZERFK 20 4,692 4,775
Prepayments, deposits TANFIE - ReRk 21 12,119 80,681
and other receivables H e R K
Due from the immediate JEW B B IR 28 63,995 66,213
holding company DA ZFIA
Restricted cash ZREIHEES 22 399 45,574
Cash and cash equivalents BHekBReZFMEIER 22 767,617 812,316
Total current assets MEVEEATE 2,563,865 3,595,089
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade payables JENTE 5 BRK 25 3,583 7,947
Advanced receipts, accruals TEWFE © FERTIRERIE R 26 296,664 1,267,403
and other payables H A ERTARX
Interest-bearing bank borrowings M S RITER 27 867,577 478,532
Due to the immediate JENEEZER AR 28 81,634 91,291
holding company 2 IR
Due to a fellow subsidiary ERRIRWEBARZFHIE 28 4 54
Tax payable AR IR 57,230 2,463
Total current liabilities REEERHE 1,306,692 1,847,690
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 1,257,173 1,747,399
TOTAL ASSETS LESS BREERRBDAER 2,861,760 3,266,172

CURRENT LIABILITIES
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

re AR

30 September 2010 R-_ZE—ZFHA=+H

2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETNF
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
B 3E BT T BT T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBERE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings M B ERITER 27 342,777 1,026,593
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFRIBEEE 29 162,295 122,253
Total non-current liabilities FRBEBEHETE 505,072 1,148,846
NET ASSETS EEFRE 2,356,688 2,117,326
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to BAREE A
owners of the parent LR
Issued capital BT AR 23 684,702 684,337
Reserves &t 24 1,317,023 1,118,953
2,001,725 1,803,290
Non-controlling interests IR IR R ER 354,963 314,036
Total equity R 2,356,688 2,117,326

Mr. Lim Ee Seng
MAE B £
Chairman

FE

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2z (FE ) GRA

AJ

Mr. Leung Ka Hing, Harry

REXBERE

Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

HITEFRITHAEE



Statement of Financial Position
B 1% AR R 2R

30 September 2010 R-_ZE—ZFF L A=+H

2010 2009
—E-=F —ETNEF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5T BET T BT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Interests in subsidiaries AL NI T 18 — —
Total non-current assets EREEEHATE — —
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Due from subsidiaries N NG g e 18 1,765,036 1,470,075
Prepayments, deposits FENFOE -~ e 21 279 693
and other receivables R E b UL BR TR
Cash and cash equivalents BekBReZEMEIER 22 19,618 328,351
Total current assets MEVEESTE 1,784,933 1,799,119
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings M S ERITER 27 500,000 —
Accruals and other payables FEFTIRARIA 26 2,773 2,045
N E At T BR K
Due to subsidiaries B AR 2508 18 34,015 34,008
Total current liabilities BB EREE 536,788 36,053
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFE 1,248,145 1,763,066
TOTAL ASSETS LESS BMEERRBERE 1,248,145 1,763,066

CURRENT LIABILITIES
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Statement of Financial Position

R
30 September 2010 R-_ZE—ZFHA=+H
2010 2009
—E-Z5F —FTNF
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
B 5 BT T R IT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBERE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings M B ERITER 27 — 499,102
Total non-current liabilities FRBEBEHETE — 499,102
NET ASSETS BEEFE 1,248,145 1,263,964
EQUITY R
Issued capital BT AR 23 684,702 684,337
Reserves &t 24 563,443 579,627
Total equity R 1,248,145 1,263,964

Mr. Lim Ee Seng
gk T4
Chairman

FE

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2z (FE ) GRA

AJ

Mr. Leung Ka Hing, Harry
RRELEE
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

HITEFRITRARE



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

GARBFBHR

Year ended 30 September 2010 HE-_ZE—ZTFNA=+THILFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

SATEENEL
Share Capital ~ Exchange  Share-based Non-
Issued ~ premium  Contriouted  redemption  fluctuation compensation Other ~ Retained controling Total
capital  account SUPUS  reServes  reserves  IeSErVeS  [eserves profits interests equity
BEf it BA BARE  ENER  RbH f RE Total R s
kE RER B e e it i R st BEER oz
HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HK$'000
BT Bt AT #BEtn #Tr BT BbTr Mt BETn Mt BbTn
At 1 October 2009 RZFENETA-A 684,337 41,816 642,378 196 193,304 8,610 4171 228478 1,803,290 314,036 2,117,326
Total comprehensive income  FAZARALE - - - - 2,195 - — 194,044 196,239 53,008 249,337
for the year
Issue of new shares on RTfFRRER % 365 128 - - - - - - 493 - 493
exercise of share ikl (H3E23()
options (Note 23(a))
Share-based compensation  FRIAEIS 2B (HfzEs) - - - - - 1,703 - - 1,703 - 1,703
expenses (Note 8)
Dividends paid to a EREI - - - - - - - - - (2171)  (1217)
non-controlling shareholder
At 30 September 2010 RZS-ZENA=1R 684,702  41,944*  642,378* 196*  195,499*  10,313*  4171*  422,522* 2,001,725 354,963 2,356,688
At 1 October 2008 RZFEN\ETA-A 684337 41816 642,378 196 186,165 6,871 — 233365 1795118 283967 2,079,085
Total comprehensive income/  FAZEURA/ - - - - 7,139 - - 3169 10308  (5,080) 5228
(loss) for the year (BB g%
Share-based compensation  FRIAEIS 2B (HfzEs) - - - = = 1,739 = = 1,739 = 1,739
expenses (Note 8)
Capital njection to ABARTE - - - - = = = = — 51614 51614
a subsidiary
Appropriation to BIEZEMER - - - - - — 4T AT = = =
other reserves
Acquisition of WEsEERRR - - - - - - —  [3875)  (3875) (16,465) (20,340)
non-controlling interests R
At 30 September 2009 RZZENENA=TA 684,337 41816*  642,378" 196 193304*  8610"  4171*  228478* 1803200 314,036 2,117,326

# Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations, this portion of the
profits of a wholly-owned foreign enterprise had been transferred
to reserve funds (i.e., other reserves), which are restricted as to
use.

These reserve accounts comprised the consolidated reserves of
HK$1,317,023,000 (2009: HK$1,118,953,000) in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

RERBERRER  SINEBELE D4
NEHEREERGIER ZHEEES EIEMRK
) o

ZEREREBREEUBMRRART 256
& EE1,317,023,000C (ZZEZL4F : B
#1,118,953,0007T) °
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

,\\, 3 E;Eu v //|L£ i%

Year ended 30 September 2010 HZE_—Z—

ZEENA=THEFE

2010 2009
—ZF —ETNF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
PiEE BT T BT
CASH FLOWS FROM REXBHERE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit/(loss) before tax BRAADET (E18) 390,052 (14,713)
Adjustments for: R TIEIE
Finance costs Bi5E R 7 43,848 24,442
Interest income M EWA 5 (13,564) (15,600)
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - HE 8 589 —
plant and equipment Bl Gp |
Depreciation e 8 1,056 1,625
Amortisation of land use rights T Hb(E AR 2 B 8 14,520 16,053
Gain on disposal of an HENHHESRE 8 = (1,412)
available-for-sale financial investment A& 2 W
Provision written back, net B OE - 58 6 (69,516) —
Changes in fair values of WEMFEZ ARE 8 (99,240) 14,826
investment properties e
Share-based compensation expenses EHEE 2> 8 1,703 1,739
269,448 26,960
(Increase)/decrease in properties held for sale FHEWE > (3EHn0) # (115,075) 2,091
Decrease/(increase) in properties BRAYEZRD (G N) 979,404 (284,389)
under development
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables, EUE SR - BN FIE 140,310 (58,424)
prepayments, deposits ?ﬁ%&ﬁ@ﬁ%”&ﬁﬁmz
and other receivables wL (g an)
Decrease/(increase) in restricted cash SRHIIRE 2R, (Em) 45,175 (45,240)
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables, FERT B SR - TEWGRIE (974,958) 898,256
advanced receipts, FERTIRARTE M EL A pE
accruals and other payables AR O ) /38 hn
Cash generated from operations KEEREE RS 344,304 539,254
Overseas taxes paid B8N BIE (34,137) (30,824)
Net cash from operating activities REEBREECRESRE 310,167 508,430
CASH FLOWS FROM REEKZ2HERE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of items of property, AV - BE NEE (974) (949)
plant and equipment ZIBH
Additions to investment properties B ZIE N (2,519) (3,567)
Additions to prepayment for s T b Rt 2 = (20,610)
acquisition of land use rights TR FRIB 238 0N
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, HEWZE - MEKLZH AR 121 —
plant and equipment and land use right +Hb{F R RE 2 PR TE
Proceed from disposal of an HENHHESH — 7,377
available-for-sale financial investment & 2 BT ERIA
Acquisition of non-controlling interests W IR AR AR R A = (20,340)
Capital injection to a subsidiary Mkt BAEEE — 51,614
Interest received Bl ZF B 13,281 16,742
Net cash from investing activities REELBEECRERE 9,909 30,267

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2%t (P B ) AR AR



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
meEReEREXR

Year ended 30 September 2010 HE-_ZE—ZTFNA=+THILFE
2010 2009
—E-ZF —TTNF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Lz BT T BT
CASH FLOWS FROM REXBRERE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Interest and other bank charges paid SRS REMIRITEA (52,855) (101,441)
Issue of shares on exercise of share options  1T{E FRAAE M 31T 2 AX (D 493 —
Repayment from immediate holding company K B BZEKR AR 28R 2,218 5,230
Net repayment from a fellow subsidiary RERRMBARZERFRE (50) (220,053)
Dividend paid to a BT FEIE AR AR B 2 A% B, (12,171) —
non-controlling shareholder
Decrease in amount due to WA N EEZER AR 258 (9,657) —
immediate holding company
New bank borrowings FTIZIRITE R 349,256 1,223,330
Repayment of bank borrowings BiBIRITER (644,195) (1,229,555)
Net cash used in financing activities MEEKEACRSFEE (366,961) (322,489)
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN RekFALEEER (BD) (46,885) 216,208
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS /BB
Cash and cash equivalents FYzREe MR EEER 812,316 596,096
at beginning of year
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net — ANESTEREH) 2 2 » jF58 2,186 12
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRZESRESEEEE 22 767,617 812,316
AT END OF YEAR
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND B&RkEE&ZE
CASH EQUIVALENTS H B &R DT
Cash and bank balances H e MIRITA R 19,367 28,869
Non-pledged time deposits with BEREAREEHE TR 748,250 783,447
original maturity of less than =18 Rz EHE I
three months when acquired TEHFR
22 767,617 812,316
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B 7% 3 2= MY 5

30 September 2010 —ZE—ZTFNA=1+H

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

Frasers Property (China) Limited is a limited liability company
incorporated in Bermuda. The registered office of the Company
is located at Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM12,
Bermuda.

During the year, the principal activity of the Company is investment
holding while the Group is involved in property development,
investment and management of residential, commercial and
business park projects.

The immediate holding company of the Company is FCL (China)
Pte. Ltd., a company incorporated in Singapore. In the opinion
of the directors, the ultimate holding company of the Company
is Fraser and Neave, Limited, which is incorporated and listed
in Singapore.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
(which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
and Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for investment
properties which have been measured at fair value. These
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$").

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 30 September
2010. Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar
accounting policies that may exist. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date
on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be
consolidated until the date that such control ceases. All significant
income, expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting
from intercompany transactions and intercompany balances
within the Group are eliminated on consolidation in full.

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2%tz (&) BRAF]
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the interests of outside
shareholders not held by the Group in the results and net
assets of the Company’s subsidiaries. An acquisition of non-
controlling interests is accounted for using the entity concept
method whereby the difference between the consideration
and the book value of the share of the net assets acquired is
recognised as an equity transaction.

22 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs
for the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

HKFRS 1 and Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time
HKAS 27 Adoption of HKFRSs and
Amendments HKAS 27 Consolidated and

Separate Financial Statements — Cost
of an Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly
Controlled Entity or Associate
First-time Adoption of Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards
Amendments to HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment — VVesting Conditions
and Cancellations
Business Combinations

HKFRS 1 (Revised)

HKFRS 2
Amendments

HKFRS 3 (Revised)

HKFRS 7 Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial
Amendments Instruments: Disclosures —
Improving Disclosures about
Financial Instruments
HKFRS 8 Operating Segments
HKFRS 8 Amendment to HKFRS 8 Operating
Amendment* Segments — Disclosure of information

about segment assets (early adopted)

HKAS 1 (Revised)  Presentation of Financial Statements

HKAS 18
Amendment*

Amendment to Appendix to

HKAS 18 Revenue — Determining
whether an entity is acting as a principal
or as an agent

HKAS 23 (Revised) Borrowing Costs

HKAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and Separate

Financial Statements

B1 75 5 < I =t

30 September 2010 —ZE—ZFTFNA=1+H
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30 September 2010 —ZE—ZTFNA=1+H

22 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

HKAS 32 and
HKAS 1
Amendments

HKAS 39
Amendment

HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 and

HKAS 39
Amendments

HK(FRIC)-Int 15

HK(FRIC)-Int 17

HK(FRIC)-Int 18

Improvements to
HKFRSs
(October 2008)

Improvements to
HKFRSs
(May 2009)

Amendments to HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation
and HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements — Puttable Financial
Instruments and Obligations
Arising on Liquidation
Amendment to HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments. Recognition and
Measurement — Eligible Hedged ltems
Amendment to HK(IFRIC)-
Int 9 Reassessment of Embedded
Derivatives and HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement — Embedded Derivatives
Agreements for the Construction
of Real Estate

Distributions of Non-cash
Assets to Owners

Transfer of Assets from Customers
(adopted from 1 July 2009)

Amendments to a number of HKFRSs

Amendments to HKAS 38,
HKFRS 2, HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 and
HK(IFRIC)-Int 16

* Included in Improvements to HKFRSs 2009 (as issued in May 2009)

The adoption of these new and revised HKFRSs has had no
significant financial effect on these financial statements and
there have been no significant changes to the accounting policies
applied in these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in
these financial statements.

HKFRS 1
Amendments

HKFRS 1
Amendment

HKFRS 2
Amendments

HKFRS 9
HKAS 24 (Revised)

HKAS 32
Amendment

HK(IFRIC)-Int 14
Amendments

HK(FRIC)-Int 19

HK Interpretation 4
(Revised in
December 2009)

Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards — Additional
Exemptions for First-time Adopters’

Amendment to HKFRS 1 - First-time
Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards — Limited
Exemptions from Comparative HKFRS
7 Disclosures for First-time Adopters ®

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment — Group Cash-settled
Share-based Payment Transactions '

Financial Instruments °

Related Party Disclosures *

Amendment to HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation —
Classification of Rights Issues ?

Amendments to HK(IFRIC)-Int 14
Prepayments of a Minimum
Funding Requirement *

Extinguishing Financial Liabilities
with Equity Instruments 3

Leases — Determination of the
Length of Lease Term in respect of
Hong Kong Land Leases '
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30 September 2010 —ZE—ZTFNA=1+H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Apart from the above, the HKICPA has issued Improvements
to HKFRSs 2009 and Improvements to HKFRSs 2010 which
set out amendments to a number of HKFRSs primarily with a
view to removing inconsistencies and clarifying wording. Under
the Improvements to HKFRSs 2009, the amendments to HKFRS
5, HKFRS 8, HKAS 1, HKAS 7, HKAS 17, HKAS 36 and HKAS
39 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2010 although there are separate transitional provisions
for each standard or interpretation. Under the Improvements
to HKFRSs 2010, the amendments to HKFRS 3 and HKAS
27 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
July 2010 while the amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7, HKAS
1, HKAS 34 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 13 are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2011 although there are separate
transitional provisions for each standard or interpretation.

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 February 2010
& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the
impact of these new and revised HKFRSs upon initial application.
So far, the Group considers that these new and revised HKFRSs
are unlikely to have a significant impact on the Group’s results
of operations and financial position.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity whose financial and operating policies
the Company controls, directly or indirectly, so as to obtain
benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s income
statement to the extent of dividends received and receivable.
The Company’s interests in subsidiaries are stated at cost
less any impairment losses.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than properties
held for sale, deferred tax assets, available-for-sale financial
investments and investment properties), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the
higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use
and its fair value less costs to sell, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or
groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the
income statement in the period in which it arises in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired
asset.
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30 September 2010 —ZE—ZTFNA=1+H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other
than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of
that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to the income statement in the period in which it
arises.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party, directly or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries, (i) controls, is controlled by, or is under
common control with, the Group; (ii) has an interest in
the Group that gives it significant influence over the Group;
or (i) has joint control over the Group;

(b) the party is an associate;
(c) the party is a jointly-controlled entity;

(d) the party is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or its parent;

(e) the party is a close member of the family of any individual
referred to in (a) or (d);

(f) the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled
or significantly influenced by or for which significant voting
power in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly,
any individual referred to in (d) or (e); or

(9) the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of the employees of the Group, or of any entity that is a
related party of the Group.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than properties held
for development, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use. Expenditure incurred
after items of property, plant and equipment have been put
into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally
charged to the income statement in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant
parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be
replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual
assets with specific useful lives and depreciation.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings in
mainland China
Leasehold improvements
Office equipment,
furniture and fixtures
Motor vehicles

Over the remaining term of lease
or 5%, whichever is higher

20%

19.2% to 33.33%

12% to 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately.

Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial
year end.
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30 September 2010 —ZE—ZTFNA=1+H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when
no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal.
Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the
income statement in the year the asset is derecognised is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents buildings under construction,
which are stated at cost less any impairment losses, and are
not depreciated. Cost comprises direct costs of construction
and capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds
during the period of construction. Construction in progress
is reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant
and equipment or investment properties when completed and
ready for use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including
the leasehold interest under an operating lease for property
which would otherwise meet the definition of an investment
property) held to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation,
rather than for use in the production or supply of goods or
services or for administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary
course of business. Such properties are measured initially at
cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects
market conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the income statement
in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in the income statement in the year
of the retirement or disposal.

When the Group completes the construction or development
of a self-constructed investment property, any difference between
the fair value of the property at the completion date and its
previous carrying amount is recognised in the income statement.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership
of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating
leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the
Group under operating leases are included in non-current assets,
and rentals receivable under the operating leases are credited
to the income statement on the straight-line basis over the
lease terms. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable
under the operating leases are charged to the income statement
on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially
stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-
line basis over the lease terms. When the lease payments
cannot be allocated reliably between the land and buildings
elements, the entire lease payments are included in the cost
of the land and buildings as a finance lease in property, plant
and equipment.

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at cost less any
impairment losses. Cost of properties under development
comprises cost of acquisition, land cost, construction costs,
development costs, capitalised borrowing costs and other
direct costs attributable to the development. The land cost is
recognised on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.
Impairment is assessed by the directors based on prevailing
market prices, on an individual property basis.

Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is determined by apportionment of
total development cost, including capitalised borrowing cost,
attributable to the unsold units. Net realisable value is determined
on the basis of anticipated sales proceeds, or management
estimated based on the prevailing market conditions, less all
estimated costs to completion and selling expenses, on an
individual property basis.
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30 September 2010 —ZE—ZTFNA=1+H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets within the scope of HKAS 39 are classified
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and receivables and available-for-sale financial assets, as
appropriate. The Group determines the classification of its
financial assets at initially recognition. When financial assets
are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus,
in the case of investments not at fair value through profit or
loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

The Group’s financial assets include cash and cash equivalents,
restricted cash, trade receivables, deposits and other receivables,
an amount due from the immediate holding company, and
available-for-sale financial investments.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. After initial measurement, such assets are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate
method less any allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is
calculated taking into account any discount or premium on
acquisition and includes fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in the income statement. The loss
arising from impairment is recognised in the income statement.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative financial
assets in listed and unlisted equity securities. Equity investments
classified as available for sale are those which are neither
classified as held for trading nor designated at fair value through
profit or loss.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investments
are subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised gains
or losses recognised as other comprehensive income in the
available-for-sale investment valuation reserve until the investment
is derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain or loss is
recognised in the income statement, or until the investment
is determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative
gain or loss is recognised in the income statement as “impairment
losses on available-for-sale financial investments” and removed
from the available-for-sale investment valuation reserve. Interest
and dividends earned are reported as interest income and
dividend income, respectively and are recognised in the income
statement as other income in accordance with the policies
set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity securities cannot be
reliably measured because (a) the variability in the range of
reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that investment
or (b) the probabilities of the various estimates within the range
cannot be reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair
value, such securities are stated at cost less any impairment
losses.
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30 September 2010 —ZE—ZTFNA=1+H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

The Group evaluates its available-for-sale financial investments
whether the ability and intention to sell them in the near term
are still appropriate. When the Group is unable to trade these
financial assets due to inactive markets and management’s
intent to do so significantly changes in the foreseeable future,
the Group may elect to reclassify these financial assets in
rare circumstances. Reclassification to loans and receivables
is permitted when the financial assets meet the definition of
loans and receivables and the Group has the intent and ability
to hold these assets for the foreseeable future or to maturity.
The reclassification to the held-to-maturity category is permitted
only when the entity has the ability and intent to hold until the
maturity date of the financial asset.

For a financial asset reclassified out of the available-for-sale
category, any previous gain or loss on that asset that has
been recognised in equity is amortised to profit or loss over
the remaining life of the investment using the effective interest
rate. Any difference between the new amortised cost and the
expected cash flows is also amortised over the remaining life
of the asset using the effective interest rate. If the asset is
subsequently determined to be impaired, then the amount
recorded in equity is reclassified to the income statement.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group
of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of
financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there
is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more
events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the
asset (an incurred “loss event”) and that loss event has an
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.
Evidence of impairment may include indications that a debtor
or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty,
default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such
as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate
with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first
assesses individually whether objective evidence of impairment
exists for financial assets that are individually significant, or
collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant.
If the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment
exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether
significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial
assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively
assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually
assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss
is, or continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective
assessment of impairment.
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30 September 2010 —ZE—ZTFNA=1+H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value
of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses
that have not yet been incurred). The present value of the
estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate
computed at initial recognition). If a loan has a variable interest
rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is
the current effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use
of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised
in the income statement. Interest income continues to be accrued
on the reduced carrying amount and is accrued using the
rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the
purpose of measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables
together with any associated allowance are written off when
there is no realistic prospect of future recovery.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment
loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring
after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the
allowance account. If a future write-off is later recovered, the
recovery is credited to the income statement.

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried
at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured,
the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of
return for a similar financial asset. Impairment losses on these
assets are not reversed.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group assesses
at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective
evidence that an investment or a group of investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising
the difference between its cost (net of any principal payment
and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment
loss previously recognised in the income statement, is removed
from other comprehensive income and recognised in the income
statement.

In the case of equity investments classified as available for
sale, objective evidence would include a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value of an investment below its cost. The
determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged” requires
judgement. “Significant” is evaluated against the original cost
of the investment and “prolonged” against the period in which
the fair value has been below its original cost. Where there is
evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss — measured as
the difference between the acquisition cost and the current
fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously
recognised in the income statement — is removed from other
comprehensive income and recognised in the income statement.
Impairment losses on equity instruments classified as available
for sale are not reversed through the income statement. Increases
in their fair value after impairment are recognised directly in
other comprehensive income.
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30 September 2010 —ZE—ZTFNA=1+H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised
when:

e therights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the assets or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either
(a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control
of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the Group’s
continuing involvement in the asset. In that case, the Group
also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset
and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects
the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount
of consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities within the scope of HKAS 39 are classified
as loans and borrowings. The Group determines the classification
of its financial liabilities at the initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and
in the case of loans and borrowings, plus directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade payables, advanced
receipts, accruals and other payables, interest-bearing bank
borrowings and amounts due to the immediate holding company
and a fellow subsidiary.

Subsequent measurement

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would
be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains
and losses are recognised in the income statement when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate method amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance costs in the income statement.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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30 September 2010 —ZE—ZTFNA=1+H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms
of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the
income statement.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if,
and only if, there is currently enforceable legal right to offset
the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a new basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash,
which are not restricted as to use.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can
be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting
period of the future expenditures expected to be required to
settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted present
value amount arising from the passage of time is included in
finance costs in the income statement.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods
are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from
or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in which
the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
for financial reporting purposes.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

e where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is
not a business combination and, at the time of transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss; and

e in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with interests in subsidiaries, where the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, carryforward of unused tax credits and unused
tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

e where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

e inrespect of deductible temporary differences associated
with interests in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset
to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to
the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be
measured reliably, on the following bases:

(@) revenue from the sale of properties is recognised when
the significant risk and rewards of the properties are passed
to the purchasers. When properties under development
for sale are pre-sold prior to completion, revenue is
recognised upon the signing of sales and purchase
agreement, the issue of the relevant building occupation
permit by the relevant government authorities or upon
delivery, whichever is the later, and is taken to the point
of time when the risks and rewards of the ownership of
the property have passed to the buyers. Deposits and
instalments received on properties sold prior to this stage
are recorded as sales deposits received and included in
current liabilities;
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

(b) operating lease rental income is recognised on a time
proportion basis over the lease terms;

(c) property management fee income is recognised when
the services are rendered; and

(d) interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of
the financial assets.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency.
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
and items included in the financial statements of each entity
are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates ruling
at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional
currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting
period. All differences are taken to the income statement.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
determined.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are
currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of
the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities
are translated into the presentation currency of the Company
at the exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting period
and their income statements are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.
The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserves. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the income statement.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates
of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas
subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange
rates for the year.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure
on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the
period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of
interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection
with the borrowing of funds.

Employee benefits

(a) Retirement benefit costs

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for all eligible employees. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’ salaries,
allowances and other benefits and are charged to the
income statement as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in
an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed
into the MPF Scheme, except for the Group’s employer
voluntary contributions, which are refunded to the Group
when the employee leaves employment prior to the
contributions vesting fully, in accordance with the rules
of the MPF Scheme.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Retirement benefit costs (continued)

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate
in mainland China are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the local municipal government.
These subsidiaries are required to contribute 18% to 28%
of its payroll costs to the central pension scheme. These
contributions are charged to the income statement as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
central pension scheme.

Employee leave pay and compensation
entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
payment are recognised when they accrue to employees.
A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual
leave and long service payment as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting
period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of taking leave.

Share-based payment transactions

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Employees (including directors) of the Group
receive remuneration in the form of share-based payment
transactions, whereby employees render services as
consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees
for grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference
to the fair value at the date at which they are granted.
The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a
binomial model, further details of which are given in note
23(b) to the financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B 7% 3 2= MY 5
30 September 2010 —ZE—ZFTFNA=1+H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 EES:HEHME &)

POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued) EEREA (&)

(c) Share-based payment transactions (continued) (c) URGRERZHE (&)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together
with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period
in which the performance and/or service conditions are
fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-
settled transactions at the end of each reporting period
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting
period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The
charge or credit to the income statement for a period
represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately
vest, except for equity-settled transactions where vesting
is conditional upon a market or non-vesting condition,
which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or
not the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided
that all other performance and/or service conditions are
satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified, if the original terms of the awards
are met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any
modification that increases the total fair value of the share-
based payment transaction, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification.
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30 September 2010 —ZE—ZTFNA=1+H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

(c) Share-based payment transactions (continued)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting
conditions within the control of either the Group or the
employees are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated
as a replacement award on the date that it is granted,
the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were
a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph. All cancellations of equity-settled
transaction awards are treated equally.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings
per share.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities, at the end of the reporting period. However, uncertainty
about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes
that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the financial statements:
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Notes to the Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements (continued)

Provision written back/(provision) for land premium
rebate receivable

At 30 September 2010, a land premium rebate receivable of
RMB77 million, which was provided for in prior years, in
connection with the disposal of interest in the development
site in Beijing, a substantial amount of RMB62 million
(approximately HK$70 million) was received and the write-
back of the land premium rebate receivable was made
accordingly. The Group is still attempting to recover the remaining
amount of RMB15 million (equivalent to HK$17 million). This
issue will take time to resolve as it requires the involvement
of certain government agencies to coordinate. Accordingly,
the remaining provision has not been reversed during the year.

Impairment of assets

In determining whether an asset is impaired or the event previously
causing the impairment no longer exists, the Group has to
exercise judgement in the area of asset impairment, particularly
in assessing: (1) whether an event has occurred that may
affect the asset value or such event affecting the asset value
has not been in existence; (2) whether the carrying value of
an asset can be supported by the net present value of future
cash flows which are estimated based upon the continued
use of the asset or derecognition; and (3) the appropriate
key assumptions to be applied in preparing cash flow projections
including whether these cash flow projections are discounted
using an appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions selected
by management to determine the level of impairment, including
the discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in the cash
flow projections, could materially affect the net present value
used in the impairment test.
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30 September 2010 —ZE—ZTFNA=1+H

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements (continued)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of reporting period between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for
financial reporting purposes. Deferred tax assets are recognised
for unused tax losses carried forward to the extent that it is
probable (i.e., more likely than not) that future taxable profits
will be available against which the unused tax losses can be
utilised, based on all available evidence. Recognition primarily
involves judgement regarding the future performance of the
particular legal entity or tax group in which the deferred tax
asset has been recognised. A variety of other factors are also
evaluated in considering whether there is convincing evidence
that it is probable that some portion or all of the deferred tax
assets will ultimately be realised, such as the existence of
taxable temporary differences, tax planning strategies and
the periods in which estimated tax losses can be utilised.
The carrying amounts of deferred tax assets and related financial
models and budgets are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period and to the extent that there is insufficient convincing
evidence that sufficient taxable profits will be available within
the utilisation periods to allow utilisation of the carried forward
tax losses, and that the asset balance will be reduced and
charged to the income statement.

Land appreciation tax

Under the Provisional Regulations on land appreciation tax
(“LAT”) implemented upon the issuance of the Provisional
Regulations of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) on
27 January 1995, all gains arising from the transfer of real
estate properties in the mainland China effective from 1 January
1994 are subject to LAT at progressive rates ranging from
30% to 60% on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds
of sales of properties less deductible expenditures including
amortisation of land use rights, borrowing costs and all property
development expenditures.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements (continued)

Land appreciation tax (continued)

The subsidiaries of the Group engaging in property development
business in the mainland China are subject to land appreciation
taxes. However, the implementation of these taxes varies amongst
various mainland China cities and the Group has not finalised
its land appreciation tax returns with various tax authorities.
Accordingly, significant judgement is required in determining
the amount of land appreciation and its related taxes. The
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. The Group recognises these liabilities based
on management’s best estimates. When the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the provisions of land
appreciation taxes in the period in which such determination
is made.

Operating lease commitments — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on
its investment property portfolio. The Group has determined,
based on evaluation of the terms and conditions of the
arrangements, that it retains all the significant risks and rewards
of ownership of these properties which are leased out on operating
leases.

Unlisted equity investments

The Group’s unlisted equity investments have been stated at
cost less impairment because the range of reasonable fair
value estimates is so significant that management is of the
opinion that their fair values cannot be measured reliably.
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30 September 2010 —ZE—ZTFNA=1+H

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements (continued)

Litigation related to a wholly-owned subsidiary

As detailed in an announcement released on 13 May 2009, a
writ dated 16 April 2009 was served by China Resources Land
(“CRL”) against a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, in
respect of alleged failure to fulfill certain obligations under
the land development construction compensation agreement
entered on 15 December 2006 (“the Agreement”). The Group’s
PRC legal counsels have submitted the necessary documents
and evidence to the relevant authorities and taken the necessary
actions to defend against the said allegations. According to
the court-appointed assessor’s report, the land value has
increased and basing on advice of the Group’s PRC legal
counsel, the case has been requested to transfer to the Beijing
Intermediate Court at end of September 2010.

Management, after seeking advice from the legal counsel, is
of the opinion that the subsidiary has a valid defence against
the allegation and, accordingly, considered not necessary to
provide for the claim arising from the litigation, nor disclosed
as contingent liability under current situation.

In connection with the Agreement, on 12 July 2010, this subsidiary
filed a counter-claim against CRL for its obligation to pay a
lump sum amount of RMB35 million, representing 5% of sales
proceeds pursuant to the Agreement. As at to-date, no hearing
date has been fixed by the court.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial years, are discussed below.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

The best evidence of fair value is current prices in an active
market for similar lease terms and other contracts. In the absence
of such information, management has determined the amounts
within a range of reasonable fair value estimates. In making
its estimation, management considered information from (i)
current prices in an active market for properties of different
nature, conditions or locations by reference to available market
information; (i) recent prices of similar properties in less active
markets, with adjustments to reflect any changes in economic
conditions since the date of transactions that occurred at those
prices; and (iii) discounted cash flow projections, based on
reliable estimates of future cash flows, derived from the terms
of any existing lease and other contracts, and (where possible)
from external evidence such as current market rates for similar
properties in the same location and condition, and using discount
rates that reflect current market assessments of the uncertainty
in the amount and timing of cash flows.

The Group’s investment properties were revalued on 30
September 2010 by an independent, professionally qualified
valuer, DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Limited on an open market,
existing use basis.

The principal assumptions for the Group’s estimation of the
fair value included those related to current market rents for
similar properties in the same location and condition, appropriate
discount rates, expected future market rents and future
maintenance costs. Particulars of the investment properties
held by the Group are set out in note 14 to the financial statements.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Current taxes and deferred taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions.
Significant estimation and judgement were required in determining
the amount of the provision for tax and the timing of payment
of the related taxes. There were transactions and calculations
for which the ultimate tax determination was uncertain during
the ordinary course of business. Where the final tax outcomes
of these matters are different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact on the income
tax provisions in the periods in which such determination is
made.

Provision

A provision is recognised when a present obligation has arisen
as a result of a past event and it is probable that a future
outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation. Significant estimation is required in determining
the amount of certain obligations. Where the final outcomes
of these obligations are different from the amounts that were
initially recognised, adjustments will be made according to
the latest information available.

Estimation of total budgeted costs and costs to
completion for properties under development

Total budgeted costs for properties under development
comprised (i) prepaid land lease payments; (ii) building costs;
and (i) any other direct costs attributable to the development
of the properties. In estimating the total budgeted costs for
properties under development, management made reference
to information such as (i) current offers from contractors and
suppliers; (i) recent offers agreed with contractors and suppliers;
and (iii) professional estimation on construction and material
costs.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

4. Operating Segment Information

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on their products and services and has three
reportable operating segments as follows:

(@) property development segment - development, investment
and management of properties;

(b) business park segment - development, investment and
management of business parks; and

(c) corporate segment - the Group’s corporate management
services to the residential, commercial and business park
projects.

Management monitors the results of its operating segments
separately for the purpose of making decisions about resources
allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance
is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/(loss), which
is a measure of adjusted profit/(loss) before tax. The adjusted
profit/(loss) before tax is measured consistently with the Group’s
profit/(loss) before tax except that interest income and finance
costs are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets and certain cash
and cash equivalents as these assets are managed on a group
basis.

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank borrowings,
tax payable, deferred tax liabilities and amounts due to the
immediate holding company and a fellow subsidiary as these
liabilities are managed on a group basis.

During the current and prior years, there were no intersegment
transactions.

B1 75 5 < I =t

30 September 2010 —ZE—ZF LA =1H

4. BEHIER

RAFEER  ANEERHEERRIRBEER
DEEBEN ME=E]EHRLEES N
T

(a) MEBEII - WEER KRERE
B

b) BEELSHM-—BEXEER KREME
2R

(c) BEEMNA-—AKEREE BEMN
EEEEEBRENEEEERS

EREERUERELENEEE - ER
BIRBCE A MEHABIEIRR o fHA D RER
B DIRAIZWA W&, (B518) 5
BT ERHAKRHB 2SR, (B18) - stat
EBRBATEHEGEN, (BR) K BAEE
ZERBANEN, (B1E) — 2 HERBWA
MEERRTHEERA -

AREETRFEEHBEEERETRER
ReSEER  BRERSEEDREBR
EEE -

DHEBETRENBRITER - EAHE -
EEFHEEENRENERZERARZHKIEA
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30 September 2010

—E-ZTFNA=1+H

4. Operating Segment Information (continued) 4. BETWEFR )
Property Business

development park Corporate Total
Year ended HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
30 September 2010 MERR BXE LXEH &5t
BE-_ZT-—-ZTFNA=1THLEE BETT BT B¥Tr BY¥Tr
Segment revenue: DEBULA :
Sales to external customers $HE FINAE P 1,202,199 137,566 — 1,339,765
Segment results: DERHELE - 243,220 206,062 (28,946) 420,336
Reconciliation #R
Interest income A BUA 13,564
Finance costs BB ER (43,848)
Profit before tax B A Bl ) 390,052
Segment assets: DEEE - 2,581,576 1,223,486 10,156 3,815,218
Reconciliation #R
Other unallocated assets B ROBEEE 353,234
Total assets BEE 4,168,452
Segment liabilities: DEEME 241,252 43,444 15,551 300,247
Reconciliation ¥R
Other unallocated liabilities ~ Hit kD EEE 1,511,517
Total liabilities RN 1,811,764
Other segment information: HAth5ZREH :
Changes in fair values of KEMHEZ — (99,240) — (99,240)

investment properties NREEE
Provision written back, net  BEIE{E - F58 (69,516) —_ —_ (69,516)
Depreciation e 610 352 94 1,056
Amortisation of land TP A 14,520 — = 14,520
use rights 31

Capital expenditure BEARRER 609 2,851 33 3,493*

* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and

equipment and investment properties.

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2%tz (&) BRAF]
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Notes to the Financial Statements

+| 23
B 7% 3 2= MY 5
30 September 2010 —ZE—ZF LA =1H
4. Operating Segment Information (continued) 4. BEDWER (@)
Property Business
development park Corporate Total
Year ended HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
30 September 2009 Y ER mERE GtXEA a5t
BE_ZEZNFNALA=THLEE BETTT BT BAEFT AT
Segment revenue: DEBULA :
Sales to external customers HE FINREF 7,417 117,379 — 124,796
Segment results: DEBEELE ¢ (56,879) 76,516 (25,508) (5,871)
Reconciliation AR
Interest income A B A 15,600
Finance costs HEE A (24,442)
Loss before tax BrEi R ETE (14,713)
Segment assets: DHEE : 3,651,743 1,105,727 10,600 4,768,070
Reconciliation AR
Other unallocated assets EARpEEEE 345,792
Total assets REE 5,113,862
Segment liabilities: DTEEE 1,223,455 46,196 5,699 1,275,350
Reconciliation HER
Other unallocated liabilities ~ EfADEBE 1,721,186
Total liabilities meE 2,996,536
Other segment information: Hft5IHER :
Changes in fair values of KEMHEZ — 14,826 — 14,826
investment properties NREEE
Gain on disposal of HEAHEE — — (1,412) (1,412)
an available-for-sale SRIEE
financial investment 2 Wz
Depreciation e 1,100 329 196 1,625
Amortisation of land THhfE A 16,053 — — 16,053
use rights 2
Capital expenditure BARME 666 3,881 15 4,562*

* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and  *

equipment and investment properties.

EAMEOENE  BERRBARRENE
ZH -
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30 September 2010 —ZE—ZTFNA=1+H

WAREMEA

WANRARBZ EXE  HFEAXRBLE
MEZHEWRA - BREREMEZD B R
s HEWABBREMXEEERA -

5. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME o.

Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents sales
of properties, gross rental income received and receivable
from investment properties and property management fees

114

received and receivable during the year.

An analysis of revenue and other income recognised is as
follows:

ERRBAREMBAZDHIT

2010 2009
—E-FF —EFTNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
REVENUE PN

Sales of properties HEYH 1,198,301 3,697
Gross rental income HeWALRE 95,216 88,737
Property management fee income YIEEEBIA 46,248 32,362
1,339,765 124,796

OTHER INCOME Hitglr A
Interest income FEWA 13,564 15,600
Utility revenue NRAFEBERABRA 7,855 5,774
Others HAth 3,979 4,216
25,398 25,590

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2%t (P B ) AR AR
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30 September 2010 —ZE—ZFTFNA=1+H

2009
—ETNF
HK$’000
BT I

6. PROVISION WRITTEN BACK, NET 6. REORE FE
2010
—E-FF
Notes HK$’000
B 5 BETT
Provision written back/(made) #mE, (B
for doubtful debts: REREHE -
Trade receivables FEWE 5 BR X 20(b) (12)
Other receivables H b pe U BR X 21(a) 69,528

69,516

Note: Substantially represented the provision written back upon the  FizE @ EZ AWK EEW i HES 2 ERMIESL

receipt of land premium rebate receivable. S CIE: 310
7. FINANCE COSTS 7. HBER
2010 2009
—E-=F —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
BT T BT
Interest on bank borrowings RAFAEIEER 50,512 92,010
wholly repayable within five years ZIRITERFE
Other finance costs B % E A 2,198 1,146
Total borrowing costs incurred EAZERKAERE 52,710 93,156
Less: Interest capitalised to B BEERPYE (8,862) (68,714)
properties under 2B
development (Note 17) FLE (FsE17)
43,848 24,442
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30 September 2010 —ZE—ZTFNAF=+H

8. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 8. BRBANGEF (BR)
The Group’s profit/(loss) before tax was arrived at after charging/ ZAN&EBEBRF AR A (B18) &£k Gt A)
(crediting): IAT&IE :
2010 2009
—E-EF Z—ZZTTNF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
B 5 B¥T T BEET T
Depreciation e 13 1,260 1,912
Less: Amounts capitalised to W BIERERYE (204) (287)
properties under development 2 B8R
1,056 1,625
Gross rental income e WA B 5 (95,216) (88,737)
Less: Qutgoing expenses B X (a) 24,619 18,639
Net rental income e AFE (b) (70,597) (70,098)
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE BEK 589 —
plant and equipment w2 BB
Changes in fair values of REYMEZ 14 (99,240) 14,826
investment properties NA1EEZF
Gain on disposal of an HEHEE 19 — (1,412)
available-for-sale TEIRE
financial investment Z Wz
Amortisation of land use rights 1 {5 P 2 SH 17 14,520 16,053
Minimum lease payments under THREF &K 4,146 3,874
operating leases in respect ERE 2R
of land and buildings
Auditors’ remuneration ZH R B & 1,667 1,516
Employee benefit expenses (including EE®@H z AL (BE
directors’ remuneration (Note 10)): EE5ME (:E10)):
Wages and salaries T & X & 29,292 26,873
Share-based compensation &N 23(b) 1,703 1,739
expenses ZHAX
Pension scheme contributions RIRETEI 2 R 726 735
Less: Forfeited contributions B BRI R (13) (—)
__Net pension scheme contributions __ RET#IZMFUF®E ALK T 735
(c) 31,708 29,347
Provision written back, net BEEE - 58 (69,516) —
Foreign exchange differences, net SNEM RS - FER (1,809) 60

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2%t (P B ) AR AR



Notes to the Financial Statements

8. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX (continued)

Notes:

(@) The outgoing expenses for the year were included in “direct operating
expenses” on the face of the consolidated income statement.

(b) Rental income on investment properties was included in net rental
income.

(¢) Included in the balance HK$20,494,000 (2009: HK$18,689,000)
was charged to administrative expenses and HK$11,214,000 (2009:
HK$10,658,000) was charged to direct operating expenses.

9. TAX

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as
the Group had no assessable profits arising in Hong Kong
during the year (2009: Nil). Taxation on mainland China profits
was calculated on the estimated assessable profits for the
year at the rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdiction in which
the Group operates.

The provision of LAT was estimated according to the requirements
set forth in the relevant PRC laws and regulations. LAT has
been provided at ranges of progressive rates of the appreciation
value, with certain allowable deductions. During the current
year, LAT was amounted to HK$38,261,000 which substantially
came from the Shanghai project. For the prior year, tax credit
mostly represented the write-back of the over-provided LAT
of HK$12,101,000 after the settlement was made during that
year.

The deferred tax for the year ended 30 September 2010 arose
mainly from fair value gains for investment properties of
HK$24,810,000 (2009: deferred tax effect arising from fair
value losses of investment properties of HK$3,706,000).

At the end of the reporting period, deferred tax liability of
HK$11,253,000 (2009: HK$2,668,000) regarding withholding
income tax on the undistributed earnings (future dividend) of
PRC subsidiaries has been provided for.

30 September 2010

B 7% 3 3% MY 5
—E-ZEFNA=+AH

8. BRBiIANEAR  (BR) @)
GEE

(a) NFARXEF ARGEEKRERZ [EEKE
FsZ] °

(o) BREMEZHEESRASHABRSBAFEA -

(c) FTALLA 2 B%20,494,000T (ZEZ A,
F : B ¥18,689,0007T) 1T R X A K B I
11,214,0007C (ZZZ LF : #%10,658,000
TL)REELERTA -

9. HIE

N A BERBENEHEER (CEEA
F B RREAMENHEDRANFE
fETERBOE A - WA RE R L XK A
AR ZBETRERAE -

T IR E TR B 53R B B R BUE DI MR R AT
2 REEL A - LHIBERIRIEEE
BABRERE 2BEELEE  EPBEET
ERCHENR - RAFER > THIEER
THREAEH38,261,0007T © TEK B HEE
B-MRE—FE KA RBERTIRZF
RERABR T HIZER CBRRELEE
12,101,0007T °

HE_T-"ZTEAA=THIFEZEER
HIZORREREMFEZARBREZE
IEFETE A8 124,810,000 (ZEZT A EF ¢
REVMEARBEBEBZELERBELERBE
3,706,0007T) °

R ETERS  BEETPEMRBEARRD IR
AF R E) 2 BHAEHR 2BELEHER
EARE®11,253,000c (T NGF : B
2,668,0007T) * B HEME -
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30 September 2010 —ZE—ZTFNAF=+H

9. TAX (continued)

The amount of tax charge/(credit) to the consolidated income — FA4R

statement represented:

Wes Kb (ER) 2HEMT -

2010 2009

—E-2F —ZEThF

HK$’000 HK$’000

BE T BT T

Current - Hong Kong BIE — & & — —
Current - mainland China B EA — rp B (A

Charge for the year FAMBR 49,681 6,528

Under/(over)-provision in prior years  BEFE TR, (HBEE B E 419 (6,599)

LAT in mainland China B i 2 B (E R 38,261 (12,101)

Deferred (Note 29) i S P 75 29) 54,394 429

142,755 (11,743)

A reconciliation of the tax expense/(credit) applicable to profit/
(loss) before tax at the statutory rate for the jurisdictions in
which the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are
domiciled to the tax expense/(credit) at the effective tax rate,

and a reconciliation of the applicable rates (i.e. the statutory BEHREZ HEREEHINOT -

tax rates) to the effective tax rate, is as follows:

BARB RENED M B LB FAEELER
RERBADERN, (B18) ZEEREAHE 2B
EXH(ER)  BEREEREAEZHE
X (R R) ARERRE (BLEER ) &

2010 2009
—ZE-FF —EFENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T % BETIT %
Profit/(loss) before tax BBATRF (B8) 390,052 (14,713)
Tax at Hong Kong profits tax AEAFGEHBE16.5% 64,359 16.5 (2,428) (16.5)
rate at 16.5% (2009: 16.5%) (ZETNhF : 16.5%kRTE
Effect of different taxation rate B A & B 34,302 8.8 647 4.4
of specific province or local FIRFEED TR
authority in mainland China MR8
Income not subject to tax HARG WA (33,708) (8.6) (6,860) (46.6)
Expenses not deductible for tax A% 2 X 1 16,313 4.1 16,558 112.5
Utilisation of previously HREBEAERZ (3,969) (1.0) (6,638) (45.1)
unrecognised tax losses HMIEEE
Tax losses for which no deferred & B HRIELEMEH 15,525 4.0 3,010 20.5
income tax asset recognised BEZHIEBRE
LAT in mainland China B A2 £ IR E A 38,261 9.8 (12,101) (82.3)
Others HAh 11,672 3.0 (3,931) (26.7)
Tax charge/(credit) at the REBRMEFEZ 142,755 36.6 (11,743) (79.8)
effective rate HMEBEX L,/ (KE)

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2%tz (&) BRAF]



10. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S

EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ and senior management’s emoluments

Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 30 September 2010,
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules and section 161 of

Notes to the Financial Statements

B1 75 5 < I =t

30 September 2010 —ZE—ZTF N A =+H

10. EERSREBAEZHE

(a) EEREREEAEZHE

BE_ZZTFNA=TRHILFEREEFZ
< 5 RIE EHRRREE R BEDIF 161

the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows: BT
Salaries, Employer’s
allowances, contribution
benefits ~ Share-based to pension
in kind compensation  Discretionary scheme
Fees && 2% expense bonuses B &5t Total
Name of director EEp? fie RENNE ROMEEX REEL  2BIfH At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AETR BRI BRI BETR BRI BRI
Executive director HEE
Mr. Ang Ah Lay ! EEELE - 5,527° 276 1,036 116 6,955
Non-executive directors FUTES
Mr. Lim Ee Seng wheELE 230 - - - - 230
Mr. Chia Khong Shoong MEEEE 125 - - - - 125
Ms. Chong Siak Ching REFRL 125 - 197 - - 322
Mr. Hui Choon Kit STERLE 215 - - - - 215
Mr. Hwang Soo Chin aREEE 125 - - - - 125
Mr. Chia Nam Toon (alternate to HEkEE - - - - - -
Ms. Chong Siak Ching) (FEERLzEfED)
Independent BIFYTES
non-executive directors
Mr. Chong Kok Kong REKLE 215 - 195 - - 40
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung, J.P. HRMEE (KT8 215 - 197 - - 42
Mr. Kwong Che Keung, Gordon HE Yt 275 - 197 - - 472
Mr. Alan Howard Smith, J.P. Alan Howard Smith’ & (X ¥4 1) 275 - 197 - - 472
1 Resigned as Executive director on 1 October 2010 g R-E—ZTF+A—HETHRTES
2 Including the compensation fee for loss of office of HK$1,173,000 2 B IEBERME(ES4E%1,173,0007T
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30 September 2010 —ZE—ZTFNAF=+H

10. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 10. EENEREEAEZEHE &)
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a) Directors’ and senior management’s emoluments (a) EENSREBAEZME (&)
(continued)

Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 30 September 2009, HZE —_ZZNFHLA=ZFTHIFEZESFZ
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules and section 161 of B4 T31E1E F TR A R EH 2 REH E161

the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows: BRI
Salaries, Employer's
allowances, contribution
benefits  Share-based to pension
inkind compensation  Discretionary scheme
Fees  E& - 2E expense bonuses  RMREFrE Total
Name of director EE S B REWMNE ROMERX WERL  ZEIER Bt

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT A%t R%Tr  E%Tn BET BETR

Executive director YIES
M. Ang AN Lay HTEEE - 2,607 296 553 115 3661
Non-executive directors F4ES
Mr. Lim Ee Seng Wiekxs 230 — — — — 230
Mr. Chia Khong Shoong ! AL 15 - - - — 15
Ms. Chong Siak Ching REBRL 125 — 208 — — 333
Mr. Goh Yong Chian, Patrick 2 RERLE 189 — — — — 189
Mr. Hui Choon Kit ! STEELE 26 - - - — 26
Mr. Hwang Soo Chin ERELE 125 - — - — 195
Mr. Tang Kok Kai, Christopher 2 BEAEEL 110 - - - - 110
Mr. Chia Nam Toon (alternate to HBREE - - - - - -
Ms. Chong Siak Ching) (REERL7EMED)
Independent BUFHTEES
non-executive directors
Mr. Chong Kok Kong REXLE 215 - 191 - — 406
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung, J.P. FRMEE (X T4 215 - 208 — — 423
Mr. Kwong Che Keung, Gordon BEaks 275 — 208 — — 483
Mr. Alan Howard Smith, J.P. Alan Howard Smith% % (X ¥4#£) 275 - 208 - - 483
' Appointed as Non-executive director on 18 August 2009 U RZERNFNATN\BEZARERNTES
2 Resigned as Non-executive director on 18 August 2009 2 RIZZEZAFNRTN\BBEFENTES

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or AFERBEFENRN  EEHMERBITAL
agreed to waive any remuneration during the current and prior HFES R ERZBIME -
years.
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30 September 2010

10. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b) Five highest paid employees

The five highest paid employees in the Group for the year
included one (2009: one) director whose emoluments are reflected
in the analysis presented above. The emoluments payable to
the remaining four (2009: four) non-director, highest paid
employees for the year are as follows:

—E-FTFNA=1+H

10. EERSREBAEZHE @)

(b) EEBESHFMAL

RAER  FEEBANEEERFMALTEIE
—R(CEENEF: —REF HMeEH

R EX M« % (=

TENE : ME)

SEFWEESGEER) 2 A imT -

2010 2009

—E-=F —ZETNF

HK$’000 HK$’000

B¥T T BT T

Salaries, allowances, e 2R 4,571 4,999
and benefits in kind BV =

Share-based compensation expenses A% Bl & 2 B 5% 394 338

Employer’s contributions to RIRETEI 2 126 160
pension schemes EEH

5,091 5,497

The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose

e MEES GFES) JIANTHEER 2

remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows: AEEE -

Number of employees
EBE A

2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETNF
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z 2% #1,000,0007T 1 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 75 #1,000,001 7T 2 #1,500,0007T 1 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 7% 1,500,001 7T 2 7% #2,000,0007T 2 2
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30 September 2010 —ZF —

FENAA=TA

11. PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE
PARENT

The consolidated profit attributable to owners of the parent
for the year ended 30 September 2010, included a loss of
HK$18,015,000 (2009: HK$13,880,000), which has been dealt
with in the financial statements of the Company (note 24).

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

(a) Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the
profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent,
and the weighted average of 6,844,523,996 (2009:
6,843,371,580) ordinary shares in issue during the year.

(b) Diluted earnings per share

The calculation of diluted earnings per share amount is based
on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders
of the parent. The weighted average number of ordinary shares
used in the calculation is the number of ordinary shares in
issue during the year, as used in the basic earnings per share
calculation, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares
assumed to have been issued at no consideration on the deemed
exercise or conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares
into ordinary shares.

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2%t (P B ) AR AR
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30 September 2010 —ZE—ZTF N A =+H

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 12. BARIEEREZEEAELEER

ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT B2F &)
(continued)
(b) Diluted earnings per share (continued) (b) BREERR (&)

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are SBREANEEEREF ZAEHER -
based on:

2010 2009
—E-ZF —EENF
HK$’000 HK$’'000

BB T BET T

Earnings 2
Profit attributable to ordinary equity B AR iBRER 194,044 3,169
holders of the parent, used in the A ARG RTN

basic earnings per share calculation (Rt EESREKEF))

Number of shares

g
2010 2009
—E-FF —EThF
Shares vl
Weighted average number of ordinary R F A E 317 E @K 6,844,523,996  6,843,371,580
shares in issue during the year used  Z JIAEFHE(B AHE
in the basic earnings per share BRERRZF)
calculation
Effect of dilution - weighted average = BEE&x 2 —
number of ordinary shares: BRI
Share options R HE 8,834,286 39,749,633

6,853,358,282 6,883,121,213
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30 September 2010

—E-FEFNA=1+H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13. 1% - BERRE

Group &
Motor Office Furiture  Leasehold  Construction
vehicles  equipment  and fixtures improvements in progress Total
RE  BAZRE  GHEREE BANELEE ERIR aE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AETR AETR AYTR BRI BRI BRI
Year ended 30 September 2010: HBE-E-EEAA=THLEE:
At 30 September 2009 and R-ZEAEAR=TAR
at 1 October 2009 ZERNETA-
Cost A 2,732 7,021 4,155 1,781 1,242 16,931
Accumulated depreciation 2ENE (2,468) (5,361) (3,005) (1,740) (1,242) (13,816)
and impairment K&
Net carrying amount FEE 264 1,660 1,150 41 - 3,115
At 1 October 2009, net of R-FBAETA-B- 264 1,660 1,150 # - 3,115
accumulated depreciation NRERNE
and impairment RHE
Additions ®R 163 474 337 - - 974
Disposals e (96) (118) (496) - - (7110)
Exchange realignment F3E LS - (22) 0! - - (29)
Depreciation (Note 8) & (bite) (206) (641) (372) (41) - (1,260)
At 30 September 2010, net of RZZ-ZEAA=TH 125 1,353 612 - - 2,090
accumulated depreciation and NRZRAERAE
impairment
At 30 September 2010 RZB-ZERA=1H
Cost A 2,226 6,703 3,792 1,781 - 14,502
Accumulated depreciation and Z2RNE (2,101) (5,350) (3,180) (1,781) - (12,412)
impairment RiE
Net carrying amount REFE 125 1,353 612 - - 2,090
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 13. % - BERKE (&)

Group KEE
Motor Office Furniture Leasehold ~ Construction
vehicles equipment and fixtures  improvements  in progress Total
AE BOERE  KEREE RONERE ERIR g

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI %I R%Tn  E¥Tn AT RETx

Year ended 30 September 2009: EZ-EZAEAR=THLEE:

At 30 September 2008 and RZBENEAA=ZTAR
at 1 October 2008 “EEN\ETA-A
Cost B 2,722 6,668 3,672 1,781 1,242 16,085
Accumulated depreciation 2ENE (2,240) (4,848) (2,040) (1,652) (1,242) (12,022)
and impairment K&
Net carrying amount REFE 482 1820 1632 129 - 4,063
At 1 October 2008, net of RZEENE+R-R" 482 1,820 1,632 129 — 4,063
accumulated depreciation NREERE
and impairment RHE
Additions B5 — 521 468 - — 995
Disposals e - (46) — — — (46)
Exchange realignment B RE 2 7 6 — — 15
Depreciation (Note 8) & (hite) (220) (648) (956) (88) — (1912)
At 30 September 2009, net of RZEENENA=TR 264 1,660 1,150 4 — 3,115
accumulated depreciation and NR2EHERAE
impairment
At 30 September 2009 RZBEAENAZTA
Cost A 2,132 7,021 4,155 1,781 1,242 16,931
Accumulated depreciation and 2ENE (2,468) (5,361) (3,005) (1,740) (1,242) (13,816)
impairment R
Net carrying amount REFE 264 1,660 1,150 H - 3,115
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30 September 2010 TFNA=+H

— =
— =

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 14. REY
Group REE
2010 2009
—E-2F —TTNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Net carrying amount at the beginning R EFEM Z 1,047,561 1,054,454
of the financial year BREFE
Additions R 2,519 3,567
Exchange realignment EEL Bk 360 4,366
Changes in fair values NREZEH 99,240 (14,826)
Net carrying amount at 30 September MM A =+ B Z R FE 1,149,680 1,047,561

The Group’s investment properties were revalued on 30
September 2010 by an independent, professionally qualified
valuer, DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Limited, at HK$1,149,680,000
on an open market, existing use basis. The investment properties
are leased to third parties under operating leases, further summary
details of which are included in note 32(b)(ii) to the financial
statements.

The Group’s investment properties are situated outside Hong
Kong and are held under the medium lease terms (over 10 to
50 years).

At 30 September 2010, no investment property of the Group
was pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to
the Group. At 30 September 2009, investment properties of
the Group with values of HK$143,698,000 were pledged to
secure general banking facilities granted to the Group (notes
27(a)(i) and 31).

At the end of reporting period, the application for property
title deeds of certain investment properties situated in mainland
China held under medium term leases with a carrying amount
of HK$707,672,000 (2009: HK$646,238,000) was still in progress.

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2%tz (&) BRAF]

B EXESBRAEMBERITERATRN
—E-ZEFNA=+THRBEAAMSIKREAT
FREEBASE 2R EMEMEBERBE
1,149,680,0007T ° IHEWHBRELEHL
METE=7 HE—SPHBEIHEHRY
53R 3R MY 3E32(b) (i) ©

REBZIEEMHEMNBBIFEIN -
HAFHE (B10&E509F) A -

W AR B

R_E—ZFNA=Z1+H AEEZKEY
EBETARE  LESRAASEEL 2R
e - R-_ZTETAFNA=1TH ££E
2B A 143,698,000 2 F A
o AESRASERHZBITHE (KT
27(a)(i) & 31) °

RRE AR ARPERAANE TRE
MENERERBDEETT - ZEVES
FEHE - mMEREFEAEK707,672,000
T (ZETNF : H¥646,238,0007T) °
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15. PREPAYMENT FOR ACQUISITION OF LAND USE
RIGHTS

At 30 September 2010, the Group secured a prime commercial
development site located at Shenyang’s Qingniandajie at a
public land auction and entered into a binding auction confirmation
letter with the Shenyang Land Reserve Centre on 2 July 2008
with the deposit paid on acquisition of land use right of
RMB386,000,000 (equivalent to HK$421,569,000) with the
additional payment for land resettlement of RMB18,000,000
(equivalent to HK$20,612,000). It is unsecured and does not
bear any interest.

16. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

At 30 September 2010, the properties held for sale of the
Group were situated in Hong Kong and the mainland China
and stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

30 September 2010

B 7% 3 3% MY 5
—E-ZEFNA=+AH

15. WIB Lt EREZRNARE

R_E—ZFNLA=Z1+H AEERAHAL
HIRES FESURNBEREFAEZEEH
XEERAM YR _ZEENFLA_HERE
B HEER SR ORI ELNRNIAER
R ENWBLEREZTEHOAR
#386,000,0007T (#8510 #%421,569,000
L) REBLMEBHREZEITBNREBEBAEAR
#18,000,000 T (FHZE R % 20,612,000
TL) o ZETEMN AT EE IR KK F S
El'\] o

16. FHEWE
RZZE—ZTFNA=1TH rEEFEHF

EZVRNNBRBNPEAM - FIRKAR
AR FEMEP ZIREER -

17. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 17. BRPYE
Group AEE
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Land use rights (Note) T FAAE (M9E) 917,087 1,032,635
Development costs A 38 5 A 648,520 1,517,722
1,565,607 2,550,357
Note: The Group’s interests in land use rights represented prepaid Bt sE @ ANEBR b F AE 2 EFERAEEHED

operating lease payments. All lands are situated outside Hong
Kong and held under leases of over 50 years.

ZME o FTE TGN EEEI B
#I9RBE0EF o
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30 September 2010 —ZE—ZTFNAF=+H

17. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT (continued) 17. BRAPYE (&)

Group (continued) REE (&)

The movements of properties under development are as follows: ZEE PR 2 E &0 -
2010 2009
—E-2F —ZEThF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BE T BT T
Net carrying amount at the beginning R EEFE ¥ 2,550,357 2,205,630

of the financial year <2 BREFE

Additions N 129,495 53,0150
Transfer to properties held for sales  EEZEFHEYE (129,697) —
Transfer to cost of sales EHEEHERA (970,198) —
Amortisation of land use rights (Note 8) = b & 34 2 # 5 (7L 8) (14,520) (16,053)
Exchange realignment ME 3, 58 B 170 7,427
Net carrying amount at 30 September MM A=+ 8 Z R FE 1,565,607 2,550,357

Additions to properties under development included interest
expense of HK$8,862,000 (2009: HK$68,714,000) (note 7)
that was incurred and capitalised during the year.

BRPYEZEABIEFAEENEERL
ZHBERYAE1S8 862,000 (ZEE A,
& : #H168,714,0007T) (FHzE7)

128

18. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

18. RMB AR 2 &=

2010 2009

—E-=F —ZEZTNF

HK$’000 HK$’000

BET T BT T

Unlisted shares, at cost JEETIRD » A — —
Due from subsidiaries UK B A Bl 2 RIB 3,897,495 3,602,534
3,897,495 3,602,534

Less: Provision for impairment losses &l : J{E & 18 2 B (2,132,459) (2,132,459)
1,765,036 1,470,075

Due to subsidiaries FETBIB AR Z I8 (34,015) (34,008)
1,731,021 1,436,067

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2%t (P B ) AR AR
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18. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

The amounts due from and to subsidiaries included in the
Company’s current assets and current liabilities of
HK$1,765,036,000 (2009: HK$1,470,075,000) and
HK$34,015,000 (2009: HK$34,008,000) respectively, are
unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

30 September 2010

B 7% 3 3% MY 5
—E-ZEFNA=+AH

18. R B R 2w (&)

SIANEARBIRBEERRBBECER R
B BARZREDNABEK
1,765,036,000c (ZE2EZNF : B
1,470,075,0007T) &% #34,015,0007T (=
TENF ¢ #E¥34,008,0007T) © Y AEIK

;MR R EE

/H:,q o

TEMBARIZEMFHEBOT :

Nominal value
of issued and
fully paid up
Place of ordinary capital/
incorporation/ registered
registration share capital Percentage of equity
and operations ERTR interest attributable
Name of subsidiaries s/ BRLERA/ to the Company Principal activities
WEATER BRREELY dMEREfE ARREERERA L ELE S
2010 2009
“2-%F C—EENf
% %
Directly held by the Company:
ERHANARE
Vision Century Secretaries Limited Hong Kong HK$2 100 100 Secretarial and nominee services
BAMHEERAA A BB WERKE AR
Indirectly held by the Company:
BRAZLGRE
Beijing Gang Lu Real Estate PRC/mainland US$22,500,000 100 100 Property development
Development Co., Ltd. (i) (i) China 22,500,000% T in mainland China
IRBREHEREERAG () (i) wE/REA RAERMNEERE
Beijing Vision Century Property PRC/mainland US$150,000 100 100 Property management
Management Co., Ltd. (i) (i) China 150,000% T in mainland China
TREFELNEERERAT () (i hE/RE R RRE R EEE
Limbo Enterprises Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100 100 Property holding
ZBRAES (E MEER
Shanghai Zhong Jun Real Estate PRC/mainland RMB300,000,000 54.85 52.04 Property development
Development Co., Ltd. (i (i) China ARE in mainland China
HEMERBEREARLA (i) v hE/HE R 300,000,000 7% RS EER
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30 September 2010 —ZE—ZTFNAF=+H

18. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

18. RIfB Rz ()

Nominal value
of issued and
fully paid up
Place of ordinary capital/
incorporation/ registered
registration share capital Percentage of equity
and operations BETR interest attributable
Name of subsidiaries EmAL/ BRLERA/ to the Company Principal activities
HEARER ERREXLE dMEARZEfE RAARERER DL IERE
2010 2009
Z2-%F _ZThE
% %
Indirectly held by the Company:
BEAXAARE
Shenyang Frasers Real Estate PRC/mainland US$59,988,000 100 100 Property development
Development Co., Ltd. (i) (i) China 59,988,000% 7T in mainland China
EREBRHERZARRAA () (i) hE /B KBRS NERR
Vision Century Administration Limited Hong Kong HK$500,000 100 100 Management consultancy services
A 7% 8500,0007 ERERRE
Vision Century Property Hong Kong HK$2 100 100 Property management
Management Limited B AT mEER
BHNZERARAA
Vision Century Real Estate Development PRC/mainland US$10,000,000 100 100 Property development
(Dalian) Co., Ltd. (i) (i) China 10,000,000% 7T in mainland China
BREHERE (KE)ARAR () (i) e/ hER ROERBELE
Vision Property Management (Dalian) PRC/mainland US$65,000 100 100 Property management
Co., Ltd. (i (i) China 65,000% T in mainland China
AAEEE(KE)BRAA (i) (i) R/ mERY RPERLNEEE
Vision Huaqing (Beijing) Development PRC/mainland RMB130,000,000 60 60 Business park development and
Co. Ltd. (i (i) China ARE investment in mainland China
AFER(LR)EX hE/PERD 130,000,0007% ROBAEEEEER
ERARAE ) i k&
Vision (Shenzhen) Business Park PRC/mainland  RMB124,000,000 100 100  Business park development and
Co., Ltd. (i (i China ARE investment in mainland China
AFH R RE hE/hERN 124,000,0007C RPEABEREER
BRAR (i) (i k&g

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2%t (P B ) AR AR
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18. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Notes:

(i)

(i)

(iii
(iv)

Not audited by Ernst & Young Hong Kong or other member firm of
the Ernst & Young global network

Wholly foreign-owned enterprise
Sino-foreign equity joint venture enterprise

As detailed in the Shareholding Adjustment Agreement and the
Subscription Agreement dated 28 November 2008, RMB100,000,000
(approximately HK$113,000,000) had been injected in relation to
the capital contribution arrangement of this subsidiary. The business
license reflecting the increased registered capital was obtained
on 10 May 2010. At the end of the reporting period, the Group
owned a 54.85% interest in this subsidiary after the completion of
acquisition of 3.33% interests from non-controlling shareholders
on 6 July 2010.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. Details of other subsidiaries had not been included
as, in the opinion of the directors, they did not have any material
impact on financial statements.

30 September 2010

B 7% 3 3% MY 5
—E-ZEFNA=+AH

18. RMIB DB 2 fEm ()
Y3 -

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

FFREF B L KGN FH AR LK G FHED
=PRI B TR

SNEIBE DR
FHIEEREDRE

BIBEZNBARZTERHE  EEXABARKE
100,000,0007T (497 #113,000,0007T) * =15
BYERBHEA—ZEENFE+—A=-F+N\BZ
RiEAE DR LRERE R —FHA
+HERERBEZMNFMER 2 & EHA
F o RIEHTLAER  AEER T —TF+
B7NB IR IR EE B IR AR R 25 2 3.33%
% AAEEREZME A HEB54.85%
ZHER o

EERR ERIRTHAKRERAFEE
REERFEIBNAKREEEFEZES
DZARPMBRAR - EERR - BEHT
HupBRRZFFE - VAR KR EHE AR
HUBRRUBERNEAZE -
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30 September 2010 —ZE—ZTFNAF=+H

19. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL INVESTMENT

19. AfHESRIRE

Group Company
N | VYN
2010 2009 2010 2009
—B-%F —TTNF ZF-FF —TTNF
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BETR AT T BETT BETT
Carrying amount at the REBFEENZ 8,822 14,787 — 5,965
beginning of the financial year FREE
Disposal & — (5,965) — (5,965)
8,822 8,822 — —
Less: Current portion & : BNEREL 5 — = — —
Non-current portion FEBNEAEL 8,822 8,822 — —
Available-for-sale financial investment represents the following: Al HE SRR EBE TS HE :
Group Company
rEE P N/N|
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-BF —ITTNF ZZT-Bf —TITNF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
BETT AETT BETT BETT
Unlisted equity investment FLTERRE 8,822 8,822 — —

During the prior year, an available-for-sale financial investment
with a net book value of HK$5,965,000 was disposed of at a
consideration of US$950,000 (equivalent to HK$7,377,000).
Accordingly, a gain on disposal of an available-for-sale financial
investment of HK$1,412,000 (note 8) was credited to the
consolidated income statement for that year.

At 30 September 2010, the Group’s unlisted equity investment
with a carrying amount of HK$8,822,000 (2009: HK$8,822,000)
were stated at cost less impairment.

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2%t (P B ) AR AR

RE—FE - BREFEAES5,965,0007T
2 A E S riR B AR E 950,000 7T (48
ERA%7,377,000T) HE - HEAHEE
TR E 2 Wk AER1,412,0007T (H5E8)
Bt AZFEZEARERA ©

R_E—ZEFNA=1+H A£EKREES
B#8,822, 000t (ZEZNF : K
8,822,0007T) 2 IE L M=K & B IR A0
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B1 75 5 < I =t

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES

30 September 2010

—E-FTFNA=1+H

20. EWWE Z R

Group
rEE
2010 2009
—E-=F —EENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Trade receivables B E SER K 4,704 4,775
Impairment BE (12) —
4,692 4,775

Trade receivables represent consideration in respect of sold
properties and rental receivables. Consideration in respect
of sold properties is payable by the purchasers pursuant to
the terms of the sale and purchase agreements. Rental receivables
are billed in advance and are payable by tenants upon receipts
of billings within an average credit terms of one month.

Under normal circumstances, the Group does not grant credit
terms to its customers. The Group seeks to maintain strict
control over its outstanding receivables and to minimise credit
risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by management.
In view of the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s
trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified customers,
there is no significant concentration of credit risk. Trade
receivables are non-interest-bearing and unsecured.

BB ZRAIEEEYME 2R EREYAE
T DEVMERZRERREEHE ZGKA
B XA - RS TESRE - HERWK
ARERSN  FHEEHRR—@EA -

EEFBRT  AEBTEREERPREE
EH - REBYRKD 2 KRR RS B S
EHREEREEERR - BEFKIARTER
BEHEEFEHTE R ER LARARKE
Bz RKEZERSRAREARES - 8K
SEVEBEETZEERR - BUE SR
RAIEMT B R 2 5R0R -
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30 September 2010 —ZE—ZTFNAF=+H

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

20. ERE Z BRI (&)

(@) An aged analysis of the trade receivables as at the end (a) RIEEHATAR - B E 5 EIL T H
of the reporting period, based on payment due date and AR BEE  RERITET -
net of provision, is as follows:
Group
rEH
2010 2009
—E-TF —ZTTNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Within 1 month —EAR 4,692 4,723
1 to 2 months —ZEZME A — —
2 to 3 months W ZE =& A —_ —
Over 3 months =@AMNKE — 52
4,692 4,775
(b) The movements in provision for impairment of trade b) ERESEFREREE 2 Z SN
receivables are as follows: ™~
Group
rEH
2010 2009
—E-2F —TTNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
At the beginning of the financial year 7 8 B4 & 1) — —
Impairment losses recognised (note 6) © HE R (B &2 12 =
At 30 September RAA=+8 12 —
(b) Included in the above provision for impairment of trade  (b) _EilifEWRE SERF R ER BB IEREE

receivables is a provision for individually impaired trade
receivables of HK$12,000 (2009: Nil) with a carrying amount
before provision of HK$12,000 (2009: Nil). The individually
impaired trade receivables relate to customers that were
experiencing delinguency in interest or principal payments.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over these balances.

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2%t (P B ) AR AR

RIREEAEK12,000 (ZET H
FE) 2 @R EWE S ERRELRE
BEABE12,000 (ZEZTAEF -
;)  c ZEEPERAEZEKE SR
RAREBRBERFNEXERENTRZE
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20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

(c) An aged analysis of the trade receivables that are not
considered to be impaired is as follows:

B1 75 5 < I =t

30 September 2010 —ZE—ZTF N A =+H

20. EWWE B R (42)

(c) THRABREZEKESERZERED
War :

Group

rEH
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETRT  OBETR

Neither past due nor impaired b 4% %60 HA oXORL(E — —
Less than 1 month past due B0 H D — @ A 4,692 4,723
2 to 3 months past due AR E =@ A — —
More than 3 months past due BHA=EA N E — 52

4,692 4,775

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a
number of independent customers that have a good track
record with the Group. Based on past experience, the directors
of the Company are of the opinion that no provision for impairment
is necessary in respect of these balances as there has not
been a significant change in credit quality and the balances
are still considered fully recoverable. The Group does not hold
any collateral or other credit enhancements over these balances.

BHEXRRECEKEZRIEEREES
RIFFBRBCZEZRBIUTFPEH - REBE

FE%  ARERERTEEAED - ML
BRI A YR A F R BURE - HUR B R

FHBFELRERE - AEBYENZFE
HREATAERRHEMEEERZTA -
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30 September 2010 —ZE—ZTFNAF=+H

21. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 21. AffFI1E - RE R HEIWERR

RECEIVABLES
Group Company
AEE AT
2010 2009 2010 2009
22 —TTNF ZE-BF —TThF
HK$’000 HK$'000  HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT AETT BT EETR
Other receivables H fth LU AR K 25,008 105,590 — —
Less: Impairment allowances & : BB & E (18,585) (89,044) — —
Other receivables, net AR FE 6,423 16646 T
Deposits %& 1,345 1,335 = —
Prepayments BRI 4,514 4,529 189 211
Prepaid taxes BRHE 157 58,903 — —
Others HAh 1,494 1,223 90 482
18933 82836 219 693
Non-current portion BRNHRIEZ (1,814) (1,855) — —
on prepayments FERNERES
Current portion included BARE - &e 12,119 80,681 279 693
in prepayments, deposits N E i LS AR 3K
and other receivables Z BNEIE
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21. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

(@)

None of the deposits is either past due or impaired. The
provision for impairment relates to other receivables. The

B 7% ok MY 5
30 September 2010 —ZE—ZTF N A =+H
21. ARRIE - RERHMEWERR (&)

BReXRBHITARE - REREBRER
U BRIA B B - H b RURIA ZR(E

(a)

movements in provision for impairment of other receivables BECZHOT
are as follows:
Group
rEE
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT T
At the beginning of the financial year R BB & [E 4] 89,044 88,652
Impairment losses recognised (note 6) & &2 B E (K 3%6) 71 —
Impairment losses reversed (note 6) & % @5 B & 1E(F 356) (69,599) —
Exchange realignment ME 5, 53 B (931) 392
At 30 September RAA=+H 18,585 89,044

The above is a full provision for impairment of a receivable.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancement over this balance.

(b) The aged analysis of the other receivables after provision
that are not considered to be impaired is as follows:

A ERBWIRRZ 28K - AEEYER
ZRAFAEAERREMEEER 2T
£ o

(b) A5 B E H A R Rk
BES 2 BREEAITIT

Group

rEH
2010 2009
—E-=F —TEENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT T
Less than 1 month past due BELR—EAR 5,529 4,395
2 to 3 months past due MmEB_EZ=@ARK 709 217
More than 3 months past due BE=E AN 185 11,934
6,423 16,546

The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancement over these balances. None of the above assets
is either past due or impaired. The financial assets included
in the above balances relate to receivables for which there
was no recent history of default.

AEEY ERZEBHT A TAEAREE
fRAMER AR - LB EREBE IR E
BIE - A Ll & mEE Y ML
EH R AR EUL AR X
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30 September 2010 —ZE—ZFNA=+H
22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 22 ReRkRE&EEEER
Group Company
N | VNN
2010 2009 2010 2009
—B-%F —TTNF ZF-FF —TTNF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BETR AT T BETT BETT
Cash and bank balances e RIRTTER 19,367 29,672 678 376
Structured deposits REBIEER 327,946 382,591 — —
Short term bank deposits R ERIRTTIE X 420,703 445,627 18,940 327,975
768,016 857,890 19,618 328,351
Less: Restricted cash o XRERE (399) (45,574) — —
767,617 812,316 19,618 328,351
(a) Full principal amounts of structured deposits will be received  (a) EBUTFRZ E2EASE NI B UK

on the maturity date. Interest income earned is subject
to US$ London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) in
accordance with the terms of the contracts entered into
with certain banks.

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are
made for varying periods of between one day and six
months depending on the immediate cash requirements
of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short
term time deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited
with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash
equivalents of Group denominated in RMB amounted to
HK$408,866,000 (2009: HK$502,132,000). The RMB is
not freely convertible into other currencies; however, under
mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted
to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2%tz (&) BRAF]

(c)

HR o M B ATIRIEERE TRITRIMLZ

BRAGR  BETHRBABITRFKEER
§+/%\ ©

RITEBIRIRITE A F 3R X 2 F 8 R
RF R - RHMERAGFERZFRHTE
H—RXEXNEATE X BFAKERES
BARBREFEME - WIRHEREH
EHFRM KR - RITEHRANIH
BENELBEBRIEZEBITFER -

RIERTLER - NEBUARKIIR
CHeRASEEEHBESEAEE
408,866,000c (ZEZT N F : B
502,132,000 7t) - AR® I T 8EE M
R BEMER - AW - BEPER
HAINEE BIZHIFEE - S ERMNEE
BHRTE  AEERBEFTETIVESE
BHIRTT - BARBLIBRKAEME
M o
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30 September 2010 —ZE—ZF LA =1H

23. ISSUED CAPITAL 23. EBITRA
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$’000

BET T BETIT

Authorised: EERA

10,000,000,000 10,000,000,000 A& 1,000,000 1,000,000
(2009: 10,000,000,000) ordinary (ZEZENF -
shares of HK10 cents each 10,000,000,000 %)

FAREME 10 Bl EBAX

Issued and fully paid: SERITRAR :

6,847,015,580 6,847,015,5680 % 684,702 684,337
(2009: 6,843,371,580) (ZZETNEF:
ordinary shares 6,843,371,580 fi%)
of HK10 cents each BiREE 10 Bl 2 ik

During the year, the movement in share capital was as follows: A TRFRZEAEE)

The subscription rights attaching to 3,644,000 share options  H{A3,644,00017 ;2 X #E Al 2 1~ [A) R X #E =1
were exercised at the subscription prices of different share 2| > RE B ISR EM 0. 165477 ~ &I
option schemes of HK$0.1547, HK$0.1343, HK$0.1670 and  0.13437C * &% 0.16707C & & ¥0.10007T
HK$0.1000 per share, resulting in the issue of 3,644,000 shares — 77{# H 2 BE#E - [ Ik 32773,644,0000% & %
of HK$0.10 each for a total cash consideration, before expenses, EEERE0 10T 2% mD @ HEHE S RE (k

SIS0 (e (1) 50 B B BISEAT) A7 #5493,0007T (MH3E
(a)) °
(@) Authorised and issued capital (a) ZFEREBITRAE

A summary of the transactions during the year with reference M TR2Z Ll AR R B BITRAEEH 2 F
to the above movement in the Company’s issued share capital WX S E :

is as follows:
Share
Number of Issued premium
shares in issue capital account
ERT ERT R Total
Ro#A N aER st
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$’000
BETT BETT BETT
At 1 October 2008 and RZZZ\F+A—H 6,843,371,580 684,337 41,816 726,153
1 October 2009 RZZENFTRA—H
Share options exercised BT RRE 3,644,000 365 128 493
At 30 September 2010 RZE-TENA=TH 6,847,015,580 684,702 41,944 726,646
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30 September 2010 —ZE—ZTFNA=1+H

23. ISSUED CAPITAL (Continued)

(b) Share option scheme

The share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) became
effective on 20 May 2003 and, unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that date. The
maximum number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted must not exceed 10% of the issued share capital
of the Company as at the date of adoption of the Share Option
Scheme. The offer of a grant may be accepted upon payment
of a nominal consideration of HK$1 per acceptance. The exercise
period of the share options granted is determinable by the Board,
and commences on a specified date and ends on a date which
is not later than 10 years from the date of grant of the share
options. The exercise price will be determined by the Board,
but shall not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of
the Company’s shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on the date of grant, which must be a trading day;
(i) the average closing prices of the Company’s shares as stated
in the daily quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five
trading days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii)
the nominal value of the Company’s share.

Movements in the number of share options outstanding and
their related weighted average exercise prices are as follows:

23. BERITRAKN (&)

(b) FRARFERTE

RS ([RIEAE D R _FF _Eﬁ
AZ+BRERER B%?E%ﬁuﬁﬁjz{yu

RRETEEEZARTEABR Eﬁﬁtﬂ
R HBERME R LRI SHBAAD
E/\\%%Pﬂ AT EE EE?E?TTHX$Z10%
BUAX ANEEMEZERAINRBEARE
WK JT o T“ﬁzu EZITHFHBRESS
EE - mET ARG ZQJJ:EZEVT SRR
RERREEBRTTERL - RBIREZTT
FEREEZET - |’§EZ{ET&7F SER T
XIE\EFZ n%' |)?“ﬁwuﬂxT*ESEi (/Z‘ZE\
BRZB)XRAROHREEABERINE
FRoaa) (M8 FT]) W 2 A3RERY 2 W
& ||55%§F*Txﬁl5|ﬁﬂﬁl AER S HARAFNK
MR FE TR 2 BRERMS ZFEHKT

B (i) ARRIRMD ZHEE °

e AR TT (2 58 B 2 B8 B M 150 %5 2 #E1F8 A ~F
BITEEZEHWT :

2010 2009
—2-%% ZETNE
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise price exercise price
per share Number of per share Number of
HK$ share HK$ share
SRmME options BRME options
THOEE AREHE  THOEE  RREHE
(B¥ ) (BT
At the beginning REBEED 0.1788 84,026,154 0.1988 67,064,481
of the financial year
Granted i 0.1550 17,800,000 0.1000 17,050,000
Exercised 118 0.1351 (3,644,000) — —
Lapsed ENe 0.1580 (1,972) 0.1580 (88,327)
At 30 September RRA=1H 0.1761 98,180,182 0.1788 84,026,154
At the end of the reporting period, out of the 98,180,182 (2009: R ¥R& Hi%E RS - #£98,180,182(0 (ZEE N,

84,026,154) outstanding options, 65,185,182 (2009: 52,396,154)
were exercisable.

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2%tz (&) BRAF]

% : 84,026,15410) i R1T{E 2 RAHET
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30 September 2010 —ZE—ZF LA =1H

23. ISSUED CAPITAL (Continued) 23. BETRAKN (&)
(b) Share option scheme (Continued) (b) RBRHEE &)

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options ¥R HA 52 455 (4 R 1716 2 RAAE 2 1T {E(E
outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: N EIEAH 0T :

2010 2009
—2-%F% “TTNE
Exercise Exercise

Exercise period price Number of price Number of
(Notes) HK$ share HK$ share
Date of grant 11{F TEE options 1EE options
Rt B (i3] BEr RREHE BT RREHE
31/12/2003 31/12/2004 - 30/12/2013 0.1580 9,875,359 0.1580 9,877,331
31/12/2004 31/12/2005 - 30/12/2014 0.1547 10,828,103 0.1547 11,474,439
30/12/2005 30/12/2006 - 29/12/2015 0.1343 13,125,983 0.1343 13,773,647
13/11/2006 13/11/2007 - 12/11/2016 0.1670 14,250,737 0.1670 15,300,737
09/11/2007 09/11/2008 - 08/11/2017 0.3370 16,550,000 0.3370 16,550,000
14/11/2008 14/11/2009 - 13/11/2018 0.1000 15,750,000 0.1000 17,050,000
13/11/2009 13/11/2010 - 12/11/2019 0.1550 17,800,000 — —
98,180,182 84,026,154

Notes: BosE -

Percentage of shares
over which a share
option is exercisable

Vesting schedule for share options R=-BE=F+=-A=+—H s Rz BRAAHME
granted on 31 December 2003 REZRREZEBREX ATEEREZE DL
%

Before the first anniversary B A Bz —BF Al Nil
of the date of grant i

On or after the first but before the B A Bz — B F sk 2 B BRRA SR 25
second anniversary of the date of grant

On or after the second but before the BB MBS 2 BB =EFA 25
third anniversary of the date of grant

On or after the third but before the B BBz =B F sk 2 B BMAFR 25
fourth anniversary of the date of grant

On or after the fourth anniversary Es-qunl =Rz i Sy 25

of the date of grant
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—
—=

23. ISSUED CAPITAL (Continued)

(b) Share option scheme (Continued)

23. BERITRAKN (&)

(b) wuHX%;‘riJ (g)

Percentage of shares
over which a share
option is exercisable

Vesting schedule for share options R-BZE=F+-"H=+—H P & 2 B4k
granted after 31 December 2003 ERHCAREZEBRER ATERREZBDL
%

Before the first anniversary B BHz—BFR Nil
of the date of grant i

On or after the first but before the B A Bz —BF s 2 B BRRAER 40
second anniversary of the date of grant

On or after the second but before the BBz MBS BB =EFA 30
third anniversary of the date of grant

On or after the third anniversary b unl =P oy S A 30
of the date of grant

In relation to the share options, if the eligible participant, during FLRIXEM S @ WA BIRRXEE R Ll (T

any of the periods specified above, exercises that share options
for such number of shares which, in aggregate, represents
less than the number of shares for which the eligible participant
may exercise in respect of such period, the balance of the
shares comprised that the eligible participant could have
exercised (but did not exercise) in that period shall be carried
forward and added to the number of shares which the eligible
participant may exercise in the next succeeding period or periods.

The valuation for share options was based on the binomial
model, the inputs to that model, including the volatility of the
Company’s share price of 75% per annum, expected dividend
yield of nil, rate of leaving services of 4.7% per annum and
the requirements of HKFRS2 where grantees will exercise their
options if the share price becomes higher than the exercise
price of 225% or above. Share-based compensation expenses
are charged to the consolidated income statement of
HK$1,703,000 (2009: HK$1,739,000) (note 8).

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2%tz (&) BRAF]

%E%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ&&ik{%ﬁzﬂh%m
HORNBERSREEZ R AITTERRAE
%ﬁ&Zh@%H'MAﬁh/m%mﬁﬁ
[ AT AT (B R AT 2 2 ek wR A I 2 i 173 B
BEEBRMBEERMAARERSEENT—E
PR BRI Al T R R AT R 2 B B E
o

R TIRE — BRI EITEE - TR
BEEESMBRELENE2R HRTE - B
AEMABRERARRERBEFR75%
FHREKREZEXAT BHBEREF
4.7% * RIAREZR L ERITEE225% Bl &
BRAGTEERERE RN BB
1,703, oooﬂjﬁ?jmi : B #1,739,000
70) BB RS M m R A (F1EE8) °



Notes to the Financial Statements

B 75 i 2= MY 7
30 September 2010 —ZE—ZF LA =1H
24. RESERVES 24. %%
Group KEE

AEEZHEERIERAFER E—FE
ZEPFIINMBRRETSAZGRAERE
K e

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 75 of
the financial statements.

RIFTPEBAARERIER  EHvEiz
KL ERAUARARR ZESETEREZ
& AEERPEKZSERZIEEE G
BN EREARVBE ZHEE
& (AEA )

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations for companies
of the PRC, the local Memorandum and Articles of Association
and the Company’s board resolutions, a portion of the profits
of the Group’s wholly-owned foreign enterprise which is
established or registered in the PRC had been transferred to
reserve funds (i.e., other reserves) which are restricted as to

use.
Company biN/NE|
Capital ~ Share-based
Share redemption compensation
premium  Contributed reserves reserve  Accumulated
account surplus X R losses Total
R aER BARR ERfE kA 2EFE ag
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ik R BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
At 1 October 2009 R-BEnETA-H 41,816 642,378 196 8,610 (113,373) 579,627
Issue of new shares on TEAREMRT 128 - - - - 128
exercise of share options ki3
Share-based compensation ~ Bfi#& 2 - - - 1,703 - 1,703
expenses (Note 8) B (i 8)
Loss for the year (Note 1) EE&# (K3 11) - - - - (18,015) (18,015)
At 30 September 2010 RZ2-BENAZ1H 41,944 642,378 196 10,313 (131,388) 563,443
At 1 October 2008 “2Z\F+A-H 41,816 642,378 196 6,871 (99,493) 591,768
Share-based compensation Riie - - - 1739 - 1,739
expenses (Note 8) % (it 8)
Loss for the year (Note 11) ERER R ) - — - - (13,880) (13,880}
At 30 September 2009 RZEENENAZTH 41816 642,378 196 8,610 (113,378) 579,627
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30 September 2010 —ZE—ZTFNA=1+H

24. RESERVES (Continued)

Company (Continued)

The Company’s contributed surplus represents the excess
of the fair value of the shares pursuant to the announcement
dated 15 November 2005. Under the amendments to the bye-
laws, the Company may make distributions to its members
out of the contributed surplus in certain circumstances when
the directors consider it appropriate to do so.

25. TRADE PAYABLES

An aged analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

24. f#¥E (&)

RNF (%)

REEHS_TTRAF T A TABZA
o RRBZBABBRERORABZEL
T - RBARMAAZERT - NAR] A ERE
WEEERRERBEZETHERAT AR
HREPBERBEO R TEAABRE

25. Y E 5 R

RBERTEE  BNESRI AR
HIR%) 2R AT AT ¢

Group

#EE
2010 2009
—E-=ZF —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT T

Within 3 months =EAA 1,170 784
3 months to 12 months ==+_—{@A 234 575
Over 1 year —FLAE 2,179 6,588

3,583 7,947

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled
within an average term of one month.

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2%t (P B ) AR AR

ENE SRR RIEMEABERFHE—ER
NEE -



26. ADVANCED RECEIPTS, ACCRUALS AND OTHER

Notes to the Financial Statements

B1 75 5 < I =t

30 September 2010 —ZE—ZFTFNA=1+H

26. FWFIR BT RIRER EAEAIRM

PAYABLES
Group Company
rEH b /N

2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-2F —TTHhE ZE-BF —TTNF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT BET T BETT
Sales deposit receipts HEZRSTIE 19,972 995,183 — —
Advanced rental receipts WA S IR 418 398 — —
Deferred income EIEWA 29,945 33,961 — —
Rental deposits received Bl sEE 32,308 30,709 — —
Accrued expenses fEstIRER 197,217 202,298 2,435 1,700
Other payables HoAth FE T BR R 16,804 4,854 338 345
296,664 1,267,403 2,773 2,045

Sales deposit receipts were received in connection with the

Shanghai Shanshui Four Seasons project.

Other payables are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and have

no fixed terms of repayment term.

HERESKIATIRE LB ILKEEFHRIA R 4

& AT

H e RR R DEE N - AN S MEREE R

TR o
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B 7% 3 2= MY 5
30 September 2010 —ZE—ZTFNA=1+H
27. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 27. fEERITER
Group REE
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate  Maturity 2010 rate Maturity 2009
ERFE AHA —B-FF ERAE IR —TENE
% HK$’000 % HK$'000
BT BB
Current Vi)
Secured (Note a) HiEA (Fizta) 4.86  2010-11 246,196 5.31-5.94  2009-10 67,555
Unsecured EIR 0.88-5.83  2010-11 621,381 3.51-6.34  2009-10 410,977
867,577 478,532
Non-current £k |
Secured (Note a) BHER (Fiita) - - - 594  2010-13 81,868
Unsecured EIR 1.75-5.83  2011-12 342,777 0.78-5.94  2010-12 944,725
342,777 1,026,593
1,210,354 1,505,125
Company AT
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate  Maturity 2010 rate Maturity 2009
BBA=x A —E-FBF EBRAE IR —TEAF
% HK$’000 % HK$'000
BT BB
Current HE
Unsecured B 0.88-0.89 2010 500,000 — — —
Non-current E1 3]
Unsecured B - - —  0.72-0.79 2010 499,102
500,000 499,102

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2%t (P B ) AR AR
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B1 75 5 < I =t

30 September 2010 —ZF—F

27. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 27. fIB8ETE &)
(Continued)

Interest-bearing bank borrowings repayable are analysed as

FAA=+H

EEEMERITER 2 AMMT :

follows:
Group Company
rEH AT
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-2f —ITThNF ZE-BF —TTNF
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
BT T BT T BT T BETT
Within one year or on demand ~ —F AR EE KK EERE 867,577 478,532 500,000 —
In the second year B 342,777 833,442 — 499,102
In the third to fifth years, FEZERFA — 193,151 — —
inclusive (BREEMSE)
1,210,354 1,505,125 500,000 499,102
Note: Mo aE

(@) Certain of the Group’s bank loans are secured by:

(1)

(if)

certain Group’s investment properties situated outside Hong
Kong in the prior year, which had an aggregate carrying value
as at 30 September 2009 of approximately HK$143,698,000
(notes 14 and 31); and

cash deposits of a fellow subsidiary of HK$246,196,000 (2009:
HK$42,365,000) (note 33 (b)).

(a)

AREE 2 E TRITERA AT SHEE IR

(i)

(ii)

AEERNE—FEUNRBRRIZETER
BYE  ER-_ZETENFARA=THEZE
IREEA 143,698,000t (Mt sE14%

31+ K&

BEAWNBARZEREZ:EA AL
246,196,000 L (ZZEZ NF + B

42,365,0007T) (FI5E33(b)) °
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27. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS
(Continued)

The carrying amounts of bank borrowings are denominated
in the following currencies:

27. HEHBITER &)

RITERZEEERATERSE

Group Company
A%H EIN
2010 2009 2010 2009

—E-2F —TTNEF ZE-ZF —TITNF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT AT T BETT BT

Hong Kong dollar B 500,000 499,102 500,000 499,102
Renminbi AR 430,557 724,507 — —
United States dollar ETT 279,797 281,516 — —

1,210,354 1,505,125 500,000 499,102

All interest-bearing bank borrowings of the Group and the
Company are at floating rates. At the end of the reporting
period, the carrying amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s
current and non-current interest-bearing bank borrowings
approximated to their fair values.

The Group has the following undrawn borrowing facilities:

REBERARRZFBNBRITERINIRF

B)FREE c RIEHTER AEERK

REIRB RIEREM BIRITERZ REER
HAREEE -

AEBZ RERRITREBRENT :

2010 2009
—E-=F —EFENF
HK$’000 HK$’000

BET T BT T

Floating rate F BRI R
- available within one year —RN—FRZH

100,000 100,000

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2%t (P B ) AR AR



Notes to the Financial Statements

28. DUE FROM/(TO) THE IMMEDIATE HOLDING
COMPANY AND DUE TO A FELLOW SUBSIDIARY

Since FCL (China) Pte. Ltd. (“FCL China”) acquired an additional
equity interest directly in the Company in May 2007, it became
the immediate holding company of the Company. At 30
September 2010, the Group had outstanding receivables from
and payables to its immediate holding company of
HK$63,995,000 and HK$81,634,000 (2009: HK$66,213,000
and HK$91,291,000) respectively. The receivables and payables
are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of receipt
or repayment. The carrying amounts of these current accounts
approximate to their fair values. The outstanding receivables
represented the estimated tax liabilities to be incurred by Supreme
Asia Investments Limited (“SAI”) in relation to its business
activities prior to the Group’s completion of the acquisition
of interest in SAIl in September 2005, which should be
compensated to the Company when SAl paid any tax that is
limited to the amount of HK$71,443,000. A reimbursement
of an indemnified amounts of approximately HK$2,218,000
(2009: HK$5,230,000) was paid by FCL China (note 33(a)(i))
during the year. The payables comprised a debt owing by
SAl to FCL China existing at the completion of acquisition of
interest in SAl in September 2005.

At the end of the reporting period, the amount due to a fellow
subsidiary is unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed terms
of repayment. The carrying amount of the balance approximates
to its fair value.

B1 75 5 < I =t

30 September 2010 —ZE—ZFTFNA=1+H

28. B, () EREZERDRZRE
KRB E R E QR ZKE

MAFCL (China) Pte. Ltd. ([FCL Chinal)
N_EEL+FRHAEEEEARNQR) 2 RE -
ZARBERIK ABARAR ZEEERAT - B
—ET-TFNLA=Z1H AEERKZERN
HEEERRAAZREINABEEK
63,995,0007T & /&% 81,634,0007T (- &=
hE : BE¥66,213,000T B
91,291,0007T) ° % 5 /& WGRIE K FE 5K I8
HAEER - T E R EEFEWESKEERD
PR o fLARRE CIREEBREARBRS °
ZERMW 2 B GIETI#E Supreme Asia
Investments Limited ([SAI]) St ASEER =
TERFNATHRBEBSAIERATE L ER
EET A TAEEZGETIEARE - ESAIE
XNEARIE  FEHETAAT - MHE
SRR RAERET1,443,0007T © FFIR » FCL
ChinafEE# 8 RIE XA %2,218,0007T (=
TTNFE : BE¥5,230,0005m) (M
33(a)(i) - ZERNHBRIENR_ZZTAF
NARKKESAIZEZFESAIZRFCL
China 2 f&7% °

RN BT Bs - BN A KB AR 2 SR

AEEE NS R EEEERHR o &
RZEEEEALERE
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30 September 2010 —ZE—ZTFNA=1+H

29. DEFERRED TAX 29. IEER 18
Deferred tax liabilities EEFHIBEBEE

The movements of deferred tax liabilities during the year are EEREEERERNZ EBHMT -
as follows:

Group
KEE
Revaluation of ~ Withholding
Tax losses properties taxes Total
RIEEE EfM¥ SEilk wE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BETR BETRT BETT BETRT
At 1 October 2009 RZZZENF+A—-H (26,029) 145,614 2,668 122,253
Deferred tax charged to the REERANGRZEL 17,439 11,212 11,253 39,904
income statement (Note 9) B (ME9)
Exchange realignment B A% 3 24 111 138
At 30 September 2010 R-E-ZEFAB=1H (8,587) 156,850 14,032 162,295
At 1 October 2008 RZZEZN\F+HA—H (25,385) 148,336 — 122,951
Deferred tax (credited)/charged to ~ WUEER GTA) /M (6,939) (3,706) 2,668 (7,977)
the income statement (Note 9) ZIEFERIE (F15E9)
Transfer from profits tax liabilities ~ EEEFEHAE 6,448 958 — 7,406
Exchange realignment B % AR (153) 26 — (127)
At 30 September 2009 RZZTNFNAA=TH (26,029) 145,614 2,668 122,253

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2%t (P B ) AR AR
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29. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

Deferred tax assets

The movements of deferred tax assets during the year are as
follows:

B1 75 5 < I =t

30 September 2010 —ZE—ZF LA =1H

29. EEERLIE (&)

FEHRBEE
BEEMBEENRFAZEEHMT ¢

Group
N

Impairment

allowance on

receivables and

others

JE W BR 7k ]
Tax losses Hth B R E Total
HEER ZBERE ok
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
BETT BETT BETT
At 1 October 2009 R-ZZBNE+A—H — 15,278 15,278
Deferred tax charged to the R R A A ZEE - (14,490) (14,490)

income statement (Note 9) BiE (e 9)
Exchange realignment EiRE — (788) (788)
At 30 September 2010 R-ZB-ZFAA=1H — — —
At 1 October 2008 RZZZ\F+H-H 8,433 15,192 23,625
Deferred tax charged to the RIER AT A (8,406) — (8,4006)
income statement (Note 9) ZERHE (i 9)

Exchange realignment RS (27) 86 59
At 30 September 2009 RZZTNFENA=TH — 15,278 15,278

The Group has unrecognised tax losses of HK$1,153,736,000
(2009: HK$1,121,401,000) arising in Hong Kong that are available
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the
companies in which the losses arose, and tax losses arising
in mainland China of HK$17,267,000 (2009: HK$6,602,000)
which will expire within five years. Deferred tax assets have
not been recognised in respect of these losses as they have
arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some
time and it is not considered probable that taxable profits will
be available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

REBREBEBMELENARERNIEBBE RS
#1,153,736,000c (ZEZTNF : BE
1,121,401,0007T) * ] ERR AR ER S EAE
BENAFBENERFGEHN - REPB A
EEZMIBEEREK17,267,000L (= F
THE : B%6,602,0007T) SR AFER D
H o RNEERIBEE RN EBZRHNIE
RNENEE - BRB TR RESEEERY
wEAABIHZ ERMIEEE - AR EBE
HREECEEREEE °
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29. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors
from the foreign investment enterprises established in mainland
China. The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and
applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding
tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between mainland
China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the
Group, the applicable rates are 5% and 10%. The Group is
therefore liable to withholding taxes on dividends distributed
by those subsidiaries established in mainland China in respect
of earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment
of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

The Company had no deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities as at 30 September 2010 (2009: Nil).

30. CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

(@) At 30 September 2010, the Company issued guarantees
to the extent of HK$183,216,000 (2009: HK$183,200,000)
of which HK$85,883,000 (2009: HK$171,750,000) was
utilised in respect of bank borrowings granted to its
subsidiaries.

Management anticipates that no material liabilities will arise
from the above bank and other guarantees which arose
in the ordinary course of business.

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2%t (P B ) AR AR
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Notes to the Financial Statements

30. CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (Continued)

(b) As detailed in the announcements released on 9 June
2010 and 12 July 2010, the Group’s wholly-owned
subsidiary, Vision (Shenzhen) Business Park Co., Ltd.
(“VSBP”), and the relevant Shenzhen authorities entered
into a framework agreement on 9 June 2010 (“Agreement”)
in relation to the project located in the south zone of Shenzhen
Hi-tech Industrial Park in Nanshan district, Shenzhen, the
PRC.

VSBP will retain a land area of approximately 51,000 sm
in the new Phase 3 site which has a developable Gross
Floor Area (“GFA”) of not more than 240,000 sm and
surrender the remaining land area of approximately 203,000
sm of the original Phase 3 site to the relevant Shenzhen
authorities without compensation. The site to be repossessed
will have a maximum of 240,000 sm GFA, with about
208,800 sm as industrial land for business park use (to
be held by VSBP); and about 31,200 sm as commercial
land for non-business park use and will be developed for
sales (to be held by a new company) subject to payment
of certain land premium at prevailing market rate.

All the costs and expenses in relation to the original Phase
3, with an original GFA of about 408,000 sm, were fully
impaired and charged to the income statements in the
financial year ended 31 December 2003 of HK$424 million
as it was clear then that its construction could not be
completed by the stipulated deadline of 31 December
2005. Currently, the impairment has not been reversed
as the recoverability did not meet certainty criteria.

According to the Management’s estimation, it is probable
that the amount to be credited upon the certainty of
recoverability arises, amounted to around HK$217 million.
At the end of the reporting period, no asset was recognised
in respect of it.

31. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At 30 September 2010, no bank borrowing was secured by
assets of the Group. At 30 September 2009, the Group’s
bank borrowings were secured by certain investment properties
with a carrying value of HK$143,698,000 (notes 14 and 27(a)(i)).

B1 75 5 < I =t
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30. RAREEREE ©®)
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30 September 2010 —ZE—ZTFNA=1+H

32. COMMITMENTS

(@) Capital commitments

Capital expenditure not yet incurred in respect of properties
under development at the end of the reporting period is as
follows:

32. AiE

(a) BEARFEE

RNBERTER  BRERTOEEIDRE
HEZERRASIT

Group & EF
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Authorised but not contracted for EREERED 6,300,520 4,808,772
6,300,520 4,808,772

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had no capital
commitments (2009: Nil).

(b) Operating lease commitments

(i)  As lessee

The Group leases certain of its properties under operating
lease arrangements. Leases for the properties are negotiated
for terms ranging from one to three years.

At 30 September 2010, the Group had total future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases falling
due as follows:

R¥mE M AR - AR AL EE A (=
ZETNF B -

(b) HERNEE

(i) tEREF

AEERBEEHOLE  WAETHME -
MERRER R —E=FHLF -

R-ZE-—TFNA=TH AEEREAH
BHEEROMAR AR N 2 RIEBES
AT -

Group KEE
2010 2009
—E-=F —EFENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
B¥T T BT T
Within one year —FNK 3,643 2,014
In the second to fifth years, inclusive S _ZFRFA (BEEEMF) 4,910 —
8,553 2,014

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had no operating
lease arrangement as lessee (2009: Nil).
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32. COMMITMENTS (Continued)
(b) Operating lease commitments (Continued)

(i)  As lessor

Notes to the Financial Statements
B 1% s R B 5T
30 September 2010 —ZE—ZF LA =1H
32. &AIE (&)
(b) #REFHLORIE (&)

(i) tEREEE

The Group leases its investment properties (note 14) under AEBERBELLHAOZTH > AHETZERE

operating lease arrangements, with leases negotiated for terms
ranging from one to six years. The terms of the leases generally
also require the tenants to pay security deposits and provide

W (ME14)  BRERA—FEAFHL
F - BOGR—REBKBEP EHANFRES
EREARFERMSREMELESH

for periodic rent adjustments according to the then prevailing 28 o

market conditions.

At 30 September 2010, the Group had total future minimum
rental receivables under non-cancellable operating leases with

its tenants falling due as follows:

R-ZE—ZFFNA=1+H AEEREBEHE
RIS 2 NAREAE 2 A R K FE WA
ESFIBLT ¢

Group AEE
2010 2009

—E-=F —ZETNF

HK$’000 HK$’000

BET T BT T

Within one year —FN 103,638 131,332
In the second to fifth years, inclusive S _ZFHFRN (BIEEERF) 87,672 148,248
After five years hF% 1,211 2,378
192,521 281,958

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had no operating A ¥

lease arrangement as lessor (2009: Nil).

FHTER - NATWEERSHEART
VREROBRE (CETNF - E) -
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30 September 2010 —ZE—ZTFNA=1+H

33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The ultimate holding company of the Group is Fraser and

Neave, Limited (“F&N”), a company incorporated in Singapore.

The following is a summary of significant related party transactions
carried out in the normal course of the Group’s business during
the year.

(a) Related party transactions

BVHFEEALIRS

AEEZHZEER AR AFraser and
Neave, Limited ([F&N]) * J3—K A #F hNE
MK Z AT e

TXARFREAEEBERBBRETET
ZERNBEANLIRSZHME -

(a) BEALRS

2010 2009

—E2-2F _ZETNF

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

B & BET T BEET T

(Income)/expenses
CONVE -

Compensation income HERA () (4,119) (530)
Penalty interest income S2HA (ii) (564) (738)
Property management services fees  MEEEREE (iii) (137) (136)
Property management fees VMEERE (iv) 568 555
Corporate management services fees 1¥%EIEREE (v) 6,372 7,607
Consultancy fee SR = (vi) 573 —
Internal audit fees NEEZE (vii) 183 211
2,876 6,969

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2%t (P B ) AR AR



Notes to the Financial Statements

33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(a) Related party transactions (Continued)

(i)

On 14 July 2005, FCL China, the immediate holding company
of the Company, Power Source Holdings Limited (“Power
Source”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
and the Company entered into a sale and purchase
agreement (“Principal Agreement”) in relation to the
acquisition of 54.78% interest in the shares of and debt
owing by Supreme Asia Investments Limited (“SAI”). Pursuant
to the disclosure letter dated 14 July 2005 enclosed to
the Principal Agreement, a sum of approximately RMB111.95
million would be payable by Shanghai Zhong Jun Real
Estate Development Co., Ltd. (“Zhong Jun”), an indirect
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, for the
increase in the GFA of the Songjiang property from 628,246
sm to 837,291 sm. The total payment including the land
premium and consultancy fee for the increase in the GFA
of the Songjiang property eventually increased to RMB179.69
million. Due to RMB67.74 million in excess of the estimated
payment of RMB111.95 million that was a breach of warranty
under the Principal Agreement, the Company received a
compensation of RMB37.11 million (being the difference
of RMB67.74 million at 54.78%) which was recorded as
deferred income in the statement of financial position.

During the year, a compensation income of HK$4,119,000
(2009: HK$530,000) was released from the deferred income.

In addition, subject to certain limitations as stated in the
Principal Agreement, FCL China undertook to Power Source
to indemnify and keep indemnified Power Source from
and against any tax liabilities incurred by the SAlI Group
in relation to the business activities of the SAI Group prior
to completion of the sale and purchase of the Sale Shares
and the Debt (as defined in the Principal Agreement) (“Tax
Warranty”). The Tax Warranty was compensation to Power
Source by FCL China for the additional profits tax expenses
incurred in the Group due to the higher land cost of Shanghai
Songjiang booked in the Group at fair value against the
lower land cost booked in SAI Group at historical cost.

During the year, an indemnified amount of HK$2,218,000
(2009: HK$5,230,000) was paid by FCL China (note 28).

30 September 2010

33. B}

B 7% 3 3% MY 5
—E-EFNA=TH

AERSZ &)

Rk

(a) BEALXRE (8)

(i)

RZZEZTRAFELA+EA  ARREE
IHX AIFCL China 2R AR 2B K B
A AlPower Source Holdings Limited
([Power Sourcel )5 E &z ([42
WaEl) AA BB E Supreme Asia
Investments Limited ([SAI]) i&% 2
54.78% Em N HAR 2EK - BER
EENARAE ST RAF LA TUA
Z%}i‘z%uﬁ RARzHEFEZENB

AR LB ®EEHERZEGR AR ([
B AEAMNMIYE L RIEAHEER
628,246 7 KL i1 E£837,291F ;K
i e B EE#) AR % 111,950,0007T °
BR #3 VT ) 35 48 A TR [ A 3 N PR AT 2 3K
HRE (BEMENEME) KRB MNE
AR #179,690,0007T © thihsrzkIE A
KR¥111,950,000cZ B AR
67,740,0007T - AMEREH RS N2
- AR RIEWEAR®37,110,000
T fEEe (Bl=% ARKG67,740,000

TLZ254.78%) * RMBIMARCABIE
FEUA o
FA - RETWABRBERERASE

4,119,000 c (ZEZENF : B

530,0007T) °
AN - BB EAE B TR TR
fR > FCL China%i# * R K EEHE
D RER (E&ERBWR) AT LB
SAIE B 7 #7575 /&5 &M Power Sourceff
B8 - Wik %X FE 7 Power Source
EESAISBEEACERAMRBERE ([H
HIRFE]) - BERALEER AR B
EEMNTIEHAARS @ MSAIEEE
FE b A ARNFD 8k 2 T HI K ANERE - #UFR B
1R AFCL China[mPower Sourceft &

%lﬁimﬁﬁﬂ SHEAZEL 2B
A FCL Chinal i {E FE &A1

2,218,000t (ZEZTNF : Bk

5,230,0007T) (Bfs¥28)
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30 September 2010

33.

—E-ZTFNA=1+H

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(a) Related party transactions (Continued)

(it

(i)

On 14 December 2006, FCL China, Power Source and
the Company entered into a Supplemental Deed to the
Principal Agreement whereby the parties agreed to impose
an interest obligation on FCL China when SAI delays the
transfer of the remaining 5% interest in Zhong Jun within
a prescribed period (“Transfer”). Pursuant to the
Supplemental Deed, FCL China would pay interest to Power
Source until the Transfer has taken place pursuant to
the Principal Agreement.

In relation to the Supplemental Deed dated 14 December
2006 to the Principal Agreement, FCL China acknowledged
and confirmed in letters of agreement dated 29 October
2007, 19 September 2008 and 29 October 2009 respectively
that FCL China would continue to pay interest to Power
Source until the Transfer has completed. The Transfer
took place on 5 July 2010 and no interest was charged
to FCL China since then.

Power Source is an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company. FCL China is a substantial shareholder of
the Company and is therefore a connected person of the
Company under the Listing Rules. The entering into the
Supplemental Deed and the payment of interest to Power
Source constituted a continuing connected transaction
of the Company.

During the year, a penalty interest of approximately
HK$564,000 (2009: HK$738,000) was charged to FCL
China.

On 2 September 2009, Vision Huaging (Beijing) Development
Co., Ltd. (“Vision Huaqging”) and Beijing Huaqging Yong
Sheng Restaurant Management Company Limited (“Huaging
Yong Sheng”) entered into a Staff Canteen Management
Service Agreement whereby Huaging Yong Sheng would
operate the staff canteen in Sohu.com Internet Plaza (“SIP”)
during the period from 1 October 2009 to 30 September
2010 and would pay a monthly management fee of
RMB10,000 to Vision Huaqing.

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2%tz (&) BRAF]

(ii)

(iii)

R_ZEZXF+_A+MWMAHE *FCL
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33.

(a)
(i)

(v)

Notes to the Financial Statements

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Related party transactions (Continued)
(Continued)

Vision Huaging is 60% owned by the Company. Huaging
Yong Sheng is a wholly owned subsidiary of Tsinghua
Science Park Co., Ltd. (“TSP”), which is a 40% substantial
shareholder of Vision Huaging. Accordingly, Huaqging Yong
Sheng is a connected person of the Company under the
Listing Rules. The entering into the Staff Canteen
Management Service Agreement constituted a continuing
connected transaction of the Company.

During the year, a fee of RMB120,000 (approximately
HK$137,000) (2009: RMB120,000 (approximately
HK$136,000)) was charged to Huaging Yong Sheng.

On 11 September 2009, Vision Huaging and THSP Property
Management Corp. (“THSP”) entered into a Property
Management Contract whereby Vision Huaging appointed
THSP as the property manager to provide property
management services for SIP during the period from 1
October 2009 to 30 September 2010 at a fee which was
calculated as to 8% of the total monthly gross management
fee received from the tenants of the SIP.

Vision Huaging is 60% owned by the Company. THSP is
80% beneficially owned by TSP, which is a 40% substantial
shareholder of Vision Huaging. Accordingly, THSP is a
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules.
The entering into the Property Management Contract
constituted a continuing connected transaction of the
Company.

During the year, a fee of RMB497,000 (approximately
HK$568,000) (2009: RMB490,000 (approximately
HK$555,000)) was charged to Vision Huaging.

30 September 2010

B 7% 3 3% MY 5
—“E-TFNA=1+H

3B BEAEALXRE &)

(a)
(iii)

(iv)

BAEALRS &)
(&)
BT EBHARAREBO0% L © EF

KEBBEERTESI0%ES 2 TERK
RECGRIERR D AR AR ([RGh]) 24

BEmEA o Fit - RBELWARA - FB

KERKRRRZFEANT - FIMBTER
EEEREHEBRARR 2 —BRHE

FR - EBKEEINMZERAARE
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30 September 2010

—E-ZTFNA=1+H

33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(a) Related party transactions (Continued)

(v)

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2%tz

On 3 November 2009, Zhong Jun and Shanghai Frasers
Management Consultancy Co. Ltd. (“SFMC”) entered into
a Corporate Management Services Agreement to, inter
alia, extend the period for the corporate management
services provided by SFMC to Zhong Jun under the
Corporate Management Services Agreement dated 2
October 2008 for 12 months from 1 October 2009 to 30
September 2010 for a total corporate management services
fee of RMB5,580,000 (equivalent to HK$6,696,000) (2009:
RMB6,720,000 (equivalent to HK$8,064,000)).

Zhong Jun is a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company. SFMC is 100% beneficially owned by F&N which
is a substantial shareholder of the Company. Accordingly,
SFMC is a connected person of the Company under the
Listing Rules. The entering into the Corporate Management
Services Agreement constituted a continuing connected
transaction of the Company.

Accordingly, the directors set the annual cap for the
consideration pursuant to the Corporate Management
Services Agreement at about HK$6,696,000 for the
Company’s financial year ended 30 September 2010.

During the year, a fee for corporate management services
of RMB5,580,000 (approximately HK$6,372,000) (2009:
RMBB6,720,000 (approximately HK$7,607,000)) was charged
to Zhong Jun.

(FE) BRAR

(a) BEALREZ (&)
W)%:2$ﬂ¢+ A=H  fhEkHE LB
ERMERFAGRAR ([ LEEM]) AT
VEEERBHE - AT ERERLE

ERMREBEEHA-STENFT+A-AZ
TEEBRREHBREAPRIERIOEE
EREEH+=—M@A (H=F% 7h¢+
A—BZE-_ZE—ZFNA=+H) -
XERRGEHLEE A ARKS,580, ooo
7T (FAE /B %6,696,0007T) (ZZEZTh
F: ANR¥6,720,0007T (HHEREK
8,064,0007T) ) °

HEARARZIEZEMNBAR - £
EMAARRERRRFANEEEaH
B EHiut - REBELTRA LBEMAS
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At EFEREARRFRBE-_ZT—F
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REHBEXNER2FE LRO/EE

6,696,0007T °
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(@)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Related party transactions (Continued)

On 9 September 2010, Vision (Shenzhen) Business Park
Co. Ltd. (“VSBP”) and JURONG Consultants Pte Ltd (“JC”)
entered into a consultancy agreement (“Consultancy
Agreement”) whereby VSBP appointed JC as a consultant
to provide consultancy services for Vision (Shenzhen)
Business Park phase 3 development, 5 ha within Shenzhen
Hi-tech Industrial Park, Nanshan District, Shenzhen, the
PRC for the period from the Commencement Date (as
defined in the Consultancy Agreement) to the Completion
Date (as defined in the Consultancy Agreement) at a
consultancy fee at SG$160,000.

VSBP is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.
JC is 100% beneficially owned by Ascendas Pte Ltd, which
is a substantial shareholder of the Company. Accordingly,
JC is a connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules. The entering into the Consultancy Agreement
constituted a connected transaction of the Company.

During the year, a fee of SG$104,000 (approximately
HK$573,000) (2009: Nil) was charged to VSBP.

During the year, F&N provided internal audit services to
the Company. The services rendered were charged by
F&N on a cost basis.

F&N is a substantial shareholder of the Company and is
therefore a connected person of the Company under the
Listing Rules. Accordingly, the services rendered by F&N
constituted a continuing connected transaction of the
Company.

During the year, a total of internal audit fee of HK$183,000
(2009: HK$211,000) was charged to the Company.

(vi) M=

B1 75 5 < I =t
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(a) BEALRZ (&)

—ZFEANANE RN EA
BEREERAR (ERIEH]) A
JURONG Consultants Pte Ltd([#
B ET B ((BEEHE]) o B
b RV R AR ARER - R8T
A (ERRLERBZ ExTRHB(GE
ZRBEM B LHER - s R
ALUEBERIESFTENTEEXERAN Z5ALE
YN BFBRGRIEEE =R REIEE 2
HEMRSE H BEMEB AN NEE
160,000 JT °

RYEFH DA RBREEZEMNB AR -
HWEHARRZEBRRERLABTR
AEZEESHEA  Fit > RIFELEHR
Al - MEBAARB ZBEAL - FILE
RiEEKARE - HEERS -

FRCOFRINEFTE BB AN
104,0007T ( #)78%573,0007T) (ZEE
NEF ) o

(vii) £ A > F&NT[RIZA 2 712 A 38 2| % R

%5 o FANIZR A E WA R E RS 2
g -

FANBARARETERE - Eitt - 1Rig L
MRS ARBZBEEANTLT - Bt
FRNFTIZ (2 RSB AN A Rl 2 — I8
BRERS -

FR - ARREIMNZABEZERR
%6 A B 183,000 (ZEZ NF - B
211,0007T) °

Annual Report 09/10

161



Notes to the Financial Statements
B 7% 3 2= MY 5

30 September 2010 —ZE—ZTFNA=1+H

33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) BP.BEALRES &)

) EEEAT CHMR S

AEBEZRAMBARUERSFERE TR
%Z%?fﬁﬂ%?ﬂ’ﬁ%ﬁ B IIRNEL

(b) Other transactions with a related party

A fellow subsidiary of the Group has guaranteed certain bank
loans made to the Group by cash deposits as further detailed

in note 27(a)(ii) to the financial statements. 2= M5k 27(a)(ii)
(c) Outstanding balances with related parties (c) BEALTRHKREENRE
2010 2009
—E-FF —EENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Due from the immediate e B IR A R 2 5IE 63,995 66,213
holding company
Due to the immediate N EEZERAR ZKIE (81,634) (91,291)
holding company
Due to a fellow subsidiary FEASH R R B A R) 2 53R (4) (54)

FREEA - TR AR

The balances with related companies listed above are unsecured,  _F it B8 A 7 45
EENH - ZEBCERBEREARE

interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment. The carrying ~ If #&
amounts of these balances approximate to their fair values. 8%

(d) Compensation of key management personnel of ) REBETEEIEAE 2N
the Group

2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT T
Short term employee benefits HHEEEF 14,153 11,541
Post-employment benefits BB 248 241 84
Share-based compensation expenses MO EE 2 F X 1,703 1,739
16,097 13,364

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in note HBRBEZMME 2E —FPHBRARYBEHREN

10 to the financial statements. 10 °
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34. BEHE D 2EMIT A

SHRI R T ARNRERTHER ZREEL

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: | :

Group RE
Financial assets ETREE
2010 2009
“E-BF “EThE
Available- Available-
Loans for-sale Loans for-sale
and financial and financial
receivables  investment receivables  investment
Xk UftHE Total Rk fHE Total
EWES  SRRE @ ERER  cRRE @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
A%Tr  B¥Tn  B¥Tn BT BBt A%Tx
Available-for-sale financial ~ FEHELRRE - 8,822 8,822 — 8,822 8,822
investment
Trade receivables RUEFER 4,692 = 4,692 4,775 — 4775
Financial assets included in -~ JIARZUE - &% 7,917 - 7,917 17,769 — 17,769
prepayments, deposits REMELER
and other receivables REWEER
Due from the immediate FEMERER 63,995 - 63,995 66,213 = 66,213
holding company NIk
Restricted cash XRHRE 399 - 399 45,574 — 45,574
Cash and cash equivalents ~ Be kB2 %EEE 767,617 - 767,617 812,316 = 812,316
844,620 8,822 853,442 946,647 8,822 955,469
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B 75 5 < I =

30 September 2010

—E-ZTFNA=1+H

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

4. BERE D 2EMITA (&)

(continued)
Group KEH
Financial liabilities ETREE
2010 2009
—E-=F —ETNF
Financial Financial
liabilities at liabilities at
amortised amortised
cost cost
1% 1 85 g X!
A E KA E
ZeEma s =N
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Trade payables FETE SRR 3,583 7,947
Financial liabilities included in HIATEMGRIR - FERTHR 49,112 35,563
advanced receipts, accruals ARIE R E A FE T
and other payables RERRERBERN
Due to the immediate holding BN BEERAR] 81,634 91,291
company Z I8
Due to a fellow subsidiary FER R ZMIB ARl 5K 4 54
Interest-bearing bank borrowings B EIRITER 1,210,354 1,505,125
1,344,687 1,639,980
Company ¥/
Financial assets ERMEE
2010 2009
—E-=2F —ETNF
Loans and Loans and
receivables receivables
BRR EX R
& U BR =X JrE U BR 3R
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Financial assets included in FIATBNIE « & 90 482
prepayments, deposits and N E b fE W BR X
other receivables REMEEN
Due from subsidiaries UL B A B 2 5RIR 1,765,036 1,470,075
Cash and cash equivalents RekBHeFEEE 19,618 328,351
1,784,744 1,798,908

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2%t (P B ) AR AR



Notes to the Financial Statements
B 7% 3 2= MY 5

30 September 2010 —ZE—ZFTFNA=1+H

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 34. RERE22z2€®mIT A (&)

(continued)
Financial liabilities TREE
2010 2009
—E-=F —ETNEF
Financial Financial
liabilities at liabilities at
amortised amortised
cost cost
g X 122 8 5
RAGE ARG &
ZeMmAEs ZERBaE
HK$’000 HK$’000
Financial liabilities included in HI| A FEETER IR AR IE M ELA 338 69
accruals and other payables ERNERRERAEN
Due to subsidiaries AR NG P S 34,015 34,008
Interest-bearing bank borrowings M BERITER 500,000 499,102
534,353 533,179
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B 7% 3 2= MY 5

30 September 2010 ZFNA=FH

—
—=

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise interest
bearing bank borrowings and cash and short term deposits.
The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise
finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various
other financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables
and trade payables, which arise directly from its operations.
It is, and has been throughout the year under review, the
Group’s policy that no trading in financial instruments shall
be undertaken.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The Group’s policies for managing each of these
risks and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group’s bank borrowings with a
floating interest rate. The interest rates and terms of repayment
of the Group’s borrowings are disclosed in note 27 to the
financial statements. The Group’s policy is to obtain the most
favourable interest rates available for its borrowings. Management
monitors interest rate exposure and will consider hedging
significant interest rate exposure should the need arise.

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2%t (P B ) AR AR

3. BEEAREEEERBEK

AEEZTECRITABRREMBRITERA
&fﬁfﬁﬁhﬁﬁﬁm cZESRMIAZIER
MIIRAKREXRBEE - AEEBZEEHAM
TREENAE  MEWESRFLENE
SRS DERREBERK - AEEBRERR
BREREEFEA-—BET@EEEATR
I&-

/J?ini’ilﬁﬁﬂlﬂzizﬂ 2 A3 N R
CHNERFR  EERBRERRBESRER

|:|/\

KEIMAERE%H 2 > EBERAT -
=B
AEEFEY TSN RS BERE B aAE

BFSRITERER] - REBERZMER
EEHRNMBERRMFT27TARE - XEE

ZBRIDBEERFNHEENE - §EE
BEEEMNXRER  HAGTBRKEEHME
INIEL L X



Notes to the Financial Statements
B 7% 3 2= MY 5

30 September 2010 —ZE—ZFTFNA=1+H

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVESAND 35. i EMEEEERKE (&)
POLICIES (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued) FMERE (&)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably NXRZIREMBEMEERTEZ ZIBERT » B
possible change in interest rates at the end of the reporting Iﬁiﬁﬂ?s,ﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁ LAAEEWL'JTM@JQ$E l&$
period, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s A&k AN (BBEIZEERZFE) U
and the Company’s profit before tax (through the impact on R A& B EA N TT}?ﬁﬁnZ@ﬁlr‘ZFg“*ﬁ °
floating rate borrowings) and the Group’s and the Company’s

equity.
Group Company
r&EE VNG|
(Decrease)/
increase
in profit Decrease
Increase/ after tax Increase/ in profit
(decrease) in  and equity (decrease) in after tax
basis points  BR#{ &% F] basis points  and equity
BOH kEHEZ BOH REZEN
R/ (R2) / R/ LRz
(T ) 12 hn (TR) D
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT
2010 -85
Hong Kong dollar B 200 (10,000) 200 (10,000)
Renminbi ARE 200 (10,715) — —
United States dollar X 200 (4,610) - -
Hong Kong dollar B (200) — — —
Renminbi AR (200) 9,945 - -
United States dollar e (200) — — —
2009 “ETNF
Hong Kong dollar K 200 (9,250) 200 (9,250)
Renminbi ARE 200 (6,034) — —
Hong Kong dollar B (200) — — —
Renminbi ARE (200) 6,034 — —
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30 September 2010 —ZE—ZTFNA=1+H

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency risk

As most of the operating income of the Group’s business is
denominated in RMB and assets held and all of the borrowings
of the Group are substantially denominated in RMB, the Group
is exposed to foreign currency risk. During the year, RMB
appreciated against HK$. Management believes such an
appreciation will not have any negative effect on the Group.
Hence, the Group has not adopted any financial instruments
for hedging purposes. However, the Group will constantly assess
the foreign exchange risk it encounters so as to immediately
decide the hedging policy required against the possible foreign
exchange risk that may arise.

On 30 September 2010, assuming that RMB appreciated by
1% against HK$, (2009: 1%) and all other factors remained
unchanged, then change in equity of the Group would have
increased by HK$13,952,000 (2009: HK$28,521,000).

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties except for the sales of properties, for which no credit
is given to the customers. It is the Group’s policy that all customers
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored
on an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts
is not significant.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which
comprise other receivables, available-for-sale financial
investments, an amount due from the immediate holding company
and cash and cash equivalents, arises from default of the
counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying
amounts of these instruments. Per note 30(a), there is no
material liabilities arising from bank and other guarantees which
arose in the ordinary course of the business.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties, there is no requirement for collateral. There are
no significant concentrations of credit risk within the Group as
the Group’s trade receivables are widely dispersed in different
sectors.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure
to credit risk arising from trade receivables, prepayments,
deposits and other receivables are disclosed in notes 20 and
21 to the financial statements.

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2%tz (&) BRAF]

3. iEMREEEEREE (&)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a
recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity
of both its financial instruments and financial assets (e.g., trade
receivables) and projected cash flows from operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity
of funding and flexibility through the use of interest-bearing
bank borrowings. The Group will consistently maintain a prudent
financing policy and ensure that it maintains sufficient cash
and credit lines to meet its liquidity requirements. Through
maintaining a reasonable proportion in its assets and liabilities
structure, the Group is able to meet its ongoing financial needs.
72% (2009: 32%) of the Group’s debts, which mainly comprise
interest-bearing bank borrowings, would mature in less than
one year from 30 September 2010 based on the carrying values
of borrowings reflected in the financial statements.

The maturity profiles of the Group’s and the Company’s financial
liabilities as at the end of the reporting period, based on the
contractual undiscounted payments, are as follows:

B1 75 5 < I =t

30 September 2010 —ZE—ZFTFNA=1+H

3. B EMEEBERRBE (B)

RBEEER

AEEEEREABDERTE TAEEETE
TRRER FRIAZEESRIARS
BMEE PINEKE SR 2 25 B I KK
SR LEFRERE -

AEEZERZAEREANBRITERER
B BEHHEERE Y T - AEEHEF
BHRFBERBERR  URREEZTH
CHeREEHE BEURRABDESS
Ko BRBEFEENBBERBE AL
AEBEEHMTEBEV BT K - REMK
REARBZEFERE BE=-ZE—ZFAN
A=+H®E 172% (ZEZHLE : 32%)
ZAEEBE (FESEWRBRITER #R
ER—FZHEARE -

R s A - KRBT HRBRNRS
B AEBRAATSHA R A ER
mF

Group K&
2010
“3-8%
3to
Less than less than
On 3months 12 months 1to Over
demand SR =Rz 5 years 5 years Total
BREX =f8A T=f8A -ZLE BENE gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ART T ARt ART T ARt BRI BRI
Trade payables ERfE 55 404 766 234 2,179 - 3,583
Financial liabilties included in -~ SIATERZUE - fezr 16,100 514 3,552 28,470 476 49,112
advanced receipts, acoruals  REER (T
and other payables BARERaGEN
Due to the immediate holding BN EZERAT - - - 81,634 - 81,634
company LFE
Due to a fellow subsidiary ERRZHBAR R - - - 4 - 4
Interest-bearing bank borrowings  Hi 83RTE % - 519,954 366,114 350,142 - 1,236,210
16,504 521,234 369,900 462,429 476 1,370,543
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30 September 2010 —ZE—ZTFNA=1+H

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVESAND 35. BiEREEBEERBEE (&)

POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

REBETER (&)

Group by
2009
“EENE
3to
Less than less than
3 months 12 months 110 Over
On demand LA =Rz 5 years 5 years Total
BER =faA +=fEA —31f B )
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT AETT BRI AETT BRI AT
Trade payables ERE 25 589 195 515 6,588 - 7,947
Financial liabilities included in ~ FIATENZUE « B3 1R 3,567 1,133 5,145 25,269 449 35,568
advanced receipts, accruals  BERE M ER
and other payables BN ERaER
Due to the immediate holding R EZBRAT - - - 91,291 - 91,291
company LB
Due to a fellow subsidiary ERZRBAR I - — — 54 - 54
Interest-bearing bank borrowings HEH{TER - 182,874 344533 1,060,753 — 1,588,160
4,156 184,202 350,263 1,183,955 449 1,723,015
Company PN/
2010
= i
3to
Less than less than
On 3 months 12 months 1to
demand DR =fERZ 5 years Total
REX =f8A T=f8A -ZHE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
Financial liabilities included in S NEHRERIA R H At 61 - 217 - 338
accruals and other payables EREFNEREER
Due to subsidiaries ERRBAR TR 34,015 - - - 34,015
Interest-bearing bank borrowings B BRITER - 500,436 - - 500,436
Guarantees given to banks in FETHBARMN 85,883 - - - 85,883
connection with bank borrowings  SR{TERARIT
granted to subsidiaries (Note 30(a))  JRAEAIER (F13F30(a))
119,959 500,436 277 - 620,672
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Notes to the Financial Statements

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

B 1% s R B 5T
30 September 2010 —ZE—ZFTFNA=1+H
3. EMEEEERBE (&)

REESERE (&)

Company b /NI
2009
ZEENF
3to
Less than less than
On 3 months 12 months 110
demand 2N L) 5 years Total
REX =f@A +=f3R —£1F @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT AR AR AR BT
Financial liabilities included in FI NS RERIR R At 69 - - - 69
accruals and other payables ENERREHAER
Due to subsidiaries ERMBAR TR 34,008 - - - 34,008
Interest-bearing bank borrowings M BRTER — 992 3,086 500,334 504,412
Guarantees given to banks in AR THELRAMN 171,750 — — — 171,750
connection with bank borrowings ~ SEATERMIBLT
granted to subsidiaries (Note 30(a)) ~ JRAZEVE(R (H£30(a))
205,827 992 3,086 500,334 710,239
Capital management EXERE

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management are
to safeguard the Group’s ability and the Company’s financial
capabilities to run operations on a going concern basis and
to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business
and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new
shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes for managing capital during the years ended 30
September 2010 and 30 September 2009.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
short and long term interest-bearing bank borrowings divided
by total equity. The Group’s policy is to maintain the gearing
ratio less than 150% and comply with the relevant requirements
of bank loan agreements. The gearing ratios as at the end of
the reporting periods were as follows:

AEEEAEEZTERRENRELREE
RHERKEBRRER 2RI REARAZ M
N ARERREZEARLER - UXFEE
BRABRRFREAEE -

AREEIRE R GBI RRBE AR
REMAENBREMIFLAE « ARET
LB B YRR MRS, - MRETE
ARRBTHIRARS HABE AL o 2
RE-_T-FFAA=TAR-FTAEN
A=+ALEER  EREAZAR BE
SR R -

AEBEAEEAGL R (BVEHE R
BIRTTERGIAERSBEE) B ER - K&
B BEDERFBEEEERI50% - ARk
BTIRITERWZE 2 HAERE - RIEHT
R BELEWT
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30 September 2010 —ZE—ZTFNA=1+H

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVESAND 35. BiEREEBEERBEE (&)
POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued) REBESER (&)
Group rEE
2010 2009
—E-ZF ZETNF
HK$’000 HK$’000

AT BT

Interest-bearing bank borrowings M EIRITER 1,210,354 1,505,125
Total equity B R 2,356,688 2,117,326
Gearing ratio BELEX 51% 71%
36. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 36. #it/EM B IKRE

The financial statements were approved and authorised for BB REAEN —_ZT—ZTF+—FRBE=ES
issue by the Board of Directors on 5 November 2010. eHERKETE -
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Continuing Obligation under Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules
BELELMHRAFEI1Z3REZ2FEET

BANKING FACILITIES WITH COVENANTS RELATINGTO $H{TREZVNEEENERREEET
SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER

In accordance with the requirements under rule 13.21 of the
Listing Rules, the directors of the Company report below details
of loan facilities, which existed during the year ended 30
September 2010 and included conditions relating to specific
performance of the controlling shareholder of the Company:

(@)

The Company was granted the following loan facilities:

(i

(if)

on 16 November 2007, a 3-year term loan facility of
HK$500 million; and

on 13 March 2009, a renewed revolving and short
term loan facility of HK$100 million.

All the loans are to fund the general working capital
requirement of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Shanghai Zhong Jun Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.,
a 54.85% owned subsidiary of the Company, was granted
the following loan facilities:

(i)

(if)

(i)

on 28 March 2008, an extension of 20 months for a
3-year RMB term loan facility of RMB582 million,
matured and fully repaid on 30 November 2009;

on 1 April 2009, a new 2-year term loan facility of
RMB250 million; and

on 17 June 2010, a second extension of 2 years for
a 3-year USD term loan facility of USD36 million, to
mature on 30 June 2012.

All the loans are to finance the capital expenditures of its
development project.

BEEMEZHKHE

BRI ETARRE13.21 FZHRE  ARFE
FERENERARABE_ZT-—ZFNLA=F
BEEE-—BEFEASARRNARBZEBAR
RETHEETHRHEZERREFS -

(a)

ZIN/N

(i)

(ii)

AIERNUNTERRE
R-_ZEZLF+—A+/"H  —8
B ¥500,000,000c 2 =F HHER
BME &

R-ZBEZANF=A+=H "  —HEE
#100,000,000C 2 B HATE IR N0 2
HIEH®E -

A B S AR R A R REKE A
A —REEBESME -

KARIHEBELL.85%EFZ 2B AR +
BHEEHEREERARERIUTE
HEE -

(i)

(iii)

R-ZZEZENF=ZA-+N\H  —1E
AR #582,000,000c 2 = FHE
FRMELEH—_+E@A  2=FF AN
F+—AZ=Z1+HEHIERHKE
=

RZZEZNFIUA—H —BAR
#250,000,000 T 2 M FEIFTE R
mE &

R-ZZTE—ZFTFA+EH  —E
36,000,000t 2 = FHAEITLER
BMEBAEHEME 2T ——F
NAZ=ZTHERE -

EHEFOREERER 2EREMX
fEHRE o
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Continuing Obligation under Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules

RIELTHRAUE1IBEZLHFERRE

(c) Vision (Shenzhen) Business Park Co., Ltd., a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, on 15 April 2009, was granted
a renewed 3-year term loan facility from a revolving credit
line of RMB150 million to finance its property project.

Under the agreements in connection with the above items
a(i), (o)(i), and (b)(ii) loan facilities, the Company undertook to
the lenders that Frasers Centrepoint Limited would remain
as the majority shareholder of the Company throughout the
duration of the facilities, while under the agreements in connection
with the above items (a)(ii), (b)(iii) and (c) loan facilities, the
Company undertook to the lenders that Fraser and Neave,
Limited would remain as the ultimate majority shareholder of
the Company throughout the duration of the facilities. Failure
to perform the undertaking will constitute an event of default.
If the event of default occurs, the outstanding liabilities under
the loan facilities may become immediately due and payable.

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2%fitE (P B ) BR AR

() ARRIz2EWBARFEIEF B HE
FREARAIR —HARE
150,000,000 c 2 fEIREREER_-F
TNFUNAT+HAHER —IBEHR=FH
EXBE  UAEVEBEBEELRE -

RIEBBE EFa() ~ b(i) Rb(i)EE R
& ARAIEMERASEGE - Frasers
Centrepoint Limited i 2 % gt & HAfS 42 &
EBARBIXTERRE MBEBEEBE LLE
(a)(ii) * blii) R (cMEEF W - ARBIERE
X #EE o Fraser and Neave, Limited #
REEMERBEESERRARRKEIER
R BREEBITEBARS @ BHEKELD -
WEBENEGHEE  AZEEREEET
CAEBEAENRNBIHELATIN -



Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

PROPERTY UNDER DEVELOPMENT

Properties Uses

/S itk
Mainland China

FER

Shanghai Shanshui Residential/
Four Seasons, Commercial
Phase 2 to 5, FE/ A%

Plot No.1 situated at
Gu Lang Road and
Plot no.2 situated at
Si Chen Road,
Songjiang District,
Shanghai
HBILKmESR
F2Z2F5H
FETHRIE
R 1 MR
B 2% B2 5% 3t 38

PROPERTY HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT

Properties Uses

/S itk
Mainland China

REIR

Vision (Shenzhen) Residential/
Business Park Phase 3 Commercial
at Shenzhen Hi-Tech FE/BE

Industrial Park,

GaoXin South Ring
Road/Kedi South Road,
Shenzhen

RINEHT AR E
% 34

AT RIHES
MERE/ RHRER
A RMEXER

Shareholding

k&

54.85%

Shareholding

k&

100%

=] Al ddE Sz 2\
TEMEREDFB
1. BRPYX
Brief Description Area
it HE
The property comprises two 723,990 sm
parcels of land which have a (GFA)
total site area of approximately 723,990 F5 K
406,162 sm and 304,939 sm (pEmmEE)
respectively. The proposed
development will comprise
residential apartments and
townhouses.
ZMEBEME LN
BRMERDHINA
406,162 F 77 K &
304,939 F 7K o
EENERER
BREEABRARE -
2. BEEBRERRZYX

Brief Description Area
it HE

Vision (Shenzhen) Business Park —
Phase 3 is awaiting the

construction permit for construction.

The total land area for Phase 3

is about 5.1 ha.

RS AR B E 3 BB RRG
BRIEMIAAE -

FINBREE CETHER

#)/5.1 DA
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Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

TEVEEEFS

3. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Uses

itk

Properties

ES

Mainland China

hE A

(@) Vision (Shenzhen)
Business Park
Phase 1
at High and New
Technological
Industrial Park
South Zone,
Nanshan District,
Shenzhen
AT E
£ 15
YT LR
EHMRNEXERE

Commercial

EES

(o)  Vision (Shenzhen)
Business Park
Phase 2A
at High and New
Technological
Industrial Park
South Zone,
Nanshan District,
Shenzhen
YRR E
FINE
YT LR
EHMRNEXERE

Commercial

SRS

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2% (FE ) AR AR

Term of

Lease  Shareholding
REH g
Medium 100%
i Hj

Medium 100%
i

3.

REY =

Brief Description Area
it HE
Vision (Shenzhen) Business 23,500 sm
Park Phase 1, located on a 2.3 ha. (GFA)
site, comprises two cross-shaped, 23,500
5-storey buildings. Units are TRk
designated for housing I.T. (B2mE
research and development centres i)
and offices, and for ancillary uses.
Phase 1 was completed in

March 2001.

ARYIBET R R R

E1BEM23RE

BIE2E S ERTTE
Kig - BBAIETER

BABERER LR

RTERARERE -
FIHER_TE-F=-RARI-
Vision (Shenzhen) Business Park 45,700 sm
Phase 2A, located on a 2 ha. site, (GFA)
comprises two blocks of office 45,700
space (one 6-storey block and FRK
the other one 7-storey block) and (B2m
an amenity centre. Units are Hi&)

designated for housing I.T.
research and development centres
and offices, and for ancillary uses.
Phase 2A was completed in
January 2006.
RYBERE AR E
FoAHBE 2 DB BIE2IE
BYE (1B6ERMERE
TERNME) R1EEBHHL
REIGRE REARR
HERLRETERARE

it - S2MER T RF
—ARI-



Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

3. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Properties

ES

()

Vision (Shenzhen)
Business Park
Phase 2B(1) & (2)
at High and New
Technological
Industrial Park
South Zone,
Nanshan District,
Shenzhen

A F R E
% 2B(1)R(2) 8
ARYITTE LR
EMRNEXERE

Uses

Rz

Commercial

EES

Term of

Lease  Shareholding
wREH R
Medium 100%
o

v &8 o e =
TEMERAFE
3. REYW=E#)

Brief Description Area
it E&
Vision (Shenzhen) Business Park 88,410 sm
Phase 2B(1) & (2), located on a (GFA)
3.4 ha. site, Phase 2B (1) 88,410
comprises two 9-storey blocks of EARK
office space and Phase 2B (2) (R
comprises one 5-storey block of [y

office space and one 7-storey
carpark building. Units are
designated for housing I.T.
research and development
centres and offices, and for
ancillary uses. Phase 2B(1) & (2)
were completed in August 2007.
ARINBHE R E 2B (1)
R(2) B3 4218 « $2B(1)H
BEMEIBRR R TIER
FBHBEIBERETE
RIBTEREEZAE - KB
HEEREARRHER LR
BTERBEERRE - £28B(1)
ROBER-_ZTZLEN\AKRT
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Particulars of Major Interests in Properties
TEMERRFSE

3. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Term of

Properties Uses Lease  Shareholding
S Jiikes iy R R
(d)  Sohu.com Internet Commercial ~ Medium 60%

Plaza at Tsinghua [SES i Hj

Science Park, No. 1

Zhongguancun

East Road,

Haidian District,

Beijing

BNBEAE

RS B
RE 1R EREE

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2%tz (FFE ) BIRAF]

REWE (@)

Brief Description
it

The development is a 13-storey
building (7 floors sold to Sohu.
com in February 2007) with two
levels of basement car parks
and ancillary facilities. The total
land area is about 9,400 sm.
The building is used as office
and/or research and
development facilities. It was
completed in September 2004,
HEREERE13E

BAE (7EBEFR
“ETHFE-ARETEN -
REMBHEEESERE
Fie o BT ERAA9,400
FhK - ZRERRBIE
BYER/ BRI -
WER-_ZZMEFAART -

Area

H#&

14,820 sm
(GFA of

6 floors)
14,820
Tk

(6 Eigx
BEAHER)



Particulars of Major Interests in Properties
TEMERERF

4. COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

Properties Uses
EY A3
Hong Kong
B8
(@) Various car parking Carpark
lots at Greenery Place FE5
No. 1 Town Park
Road South,
Yuen Long,

New Territories
RBEETLEFEN
MR

LA

INE=ESEH

Mainland China
hE R
(b)  Shanghai Shanshui Residential/
Four Seasons, Phase 1, Commercial
1888 Si Chen Road, FE/BE
Sijing Town,
Songjiang District,
Shanghai
LBk,
£18
Ligm
WIiE
DK==
B 2 ¥ 188855

Shareholding
g

100%

54.85%

4. FHEZETHYE

Brief Description
it

Greenery Place comprises four 11-storey
residential towers with a total of 330
residential units, a clubhouse and a
2-level carpark. The property was
completed in 2001.
RREEOZ4IE N ESEEAE
RS HI0EEEEA -
HEMR2EEES - ZNE
ERZZET—FRI -

Phase 1, Shanghai Shanshui

Four Seasons, consists of 418 residential
units (374 terraces and 44 semi-detached
houses with sizes ranging from 187 to
250 sm) and commercial units. The
pre-sale programmes announced in
August 2008. The property was
completed in December 2009.
ERILKEERE 1 RE418 EFE
B QTAEHERMEFBUASE -
ERENT1872250F 7 K) kg%

B - BEHEERZZZNENA
A BMEERZTENETZA
BT o

NgoAN ok
m 7 18

Area

HE

100,600 sm

100,600
Tk
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Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

TEVEEEFS

4, COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE 4.

(Continued)

Uses

A&

Properties

ES

(c) Various car parking
lots in Scenic Place
at No. 305 Guang
An Men Wai Avenue,
XuanWu District,
Beijing
BREERSEEEL
ERm
ERRE
B2 PSP K E13055%

Carpark
[FE5

(d) Various car parking
lots in The Ninth
ZhongShan at
No. 2 Xinglin Street,
ZhongShan District,
Dalian
PINFR S EEER
Nl
P&

BmET 2 5%

Carpark
FE5

Frasers Property (China) Limited 2%tz (FFE ) BIRAF]

Shareholding
IR

100%

100%

FHEZETEYE @)

Brief Description Area
it H&

Towers 5, 7, 8 of Phase 1 consist of —
788 furnished and non-furnished flats
comprising 1 to 3 bedrooms units with
sizes ranging from 55 to 147 sm. There
is a 1-level basement carpark with 154
saleable carpark lots.

FIHERL L R\BARBERIEE
3F BRI 2 788ER R A R BB
RAZEN - EEEHSE

147F 7K - S H 154 7
HEB 2 IBHERES -

It is a twin-towered development —
comprises a 32-storey east tower and
a 30-storey west tower, altogether
offering 453 high-end residential flats
of 2 to 4 bedroom units. Unit size
ranges from 85 to 284 sm. There is

a restaurant, a comprehensive
clubhouse and a 3-level basement
carpark with 132 saleable carpark lots.
ZMEANERRBEAAE 1B BSR
AER1E30BRAANE  AH1RHE
4632 E4E R M ETEL -

B EEMSSE284F K
WEEEE Gagm URER
132(ER L EEN 7B ERES o






Suite 2806-2810, 28/F., Shell Tower,
Times Square, 1 Matheson Street,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

EHEEEENHE 198 ES
4555 K B 28122806 22810%

Tel BE (852) 2826 2826

Fax 8K (852) 2826 2888

www.fraserschina.com
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